# UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID FACULTAD DE MEDICINA



# **TESIS DOCTORAL**

Neuroimagen molecular preclínica en estimulación cerebral profunda

# Preclinical Molecular Neuroimaging in Deep Brain Stimulation

MEMORIA PARA OPTAR AL GRADO DE DOCTORA

PRESENTADA POR

## Marta Casquero Veiga

DIRECTORES

María Luisa Soto Montenegro Manuel Desco Menéndez

Madrid

© Marta Casquero Veiga, 2021

## UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID

FACULTAD DE MEDICINA

Programa de Doctorado en Investigación Biomédica

Departamento de Farmacología



TESIS DOCTORAL

# Neuroimagen molecular preclínica en estimulación cerebral profunda

MEMORIA PARA OPTAR AL GRADO DE DOCTORA

PRESENTADA POR Marta Casquero Veiga

DIRECTORES María Luisa Soto Montenegro Manuel Desco Menéndez

Madrid, 2020

© Marta Casquero Veiga, 2020

### UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID

FACULTAD DE MEDICINA

Programa de Doctorado en Investigación Biomédica

Departamento de Farmacología



Tesis doctoral

# **Preclinical Molecular Neuroimaging in**

# **Deep Brain Stimulation**

MARTA CASQUERO VEIGA

Madrid, 2020

UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID

## FACULTAD DE MEDICINA

Programa de Doctorado en Investigación Biomédica

Departamento de Farmacología



TESIS DOCTORAL

## Neuroimagen molecular preclínica en estimulación cerebral profunda

MEMORIA PARA OPTAR AL GRADO DE DOCTORA

PRESENTADA POR Marta Casquero Veiga

DIRECTORES María Luisa Soto Montenegro Manuel Desco Menéndez

Madrid, 2020

ii



Los Dres. María Luisa Soto Montenegro, Investigadora Principal del Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón, y Manuel Desco Menéndez, Catedrático de la Universidad Carlos III de Madrid y Jefe de la Unidad de Medicina y Cirugía Experimental del Hospital Gregorio Marañón,

#### CERTIFICAN QUE:

El trabajo de investigación realizado bajo nuestra dirección por Marta Casquero Veiga, objeto de la presente tesis doctoral, y titulado "Neuroimagen molecular preclínica en estimulación cerebral profunda", reúne los requisitos de originalidad, metodológicos y científicos suficientes para optar al grado doctor ante el tribunal que legalmente proceda.

Y para que así conste, a los efectos oportunos, firman el presente certificado en Madrid, a 25 de septiembre de 2020.

Atentamente,

Dra. M<sup>a</sup> Luisa Soto Montenegro

Dr. Manuel Desco Menéndez

En todo estás e ti es todo,

pra min i en min mesma moras,

nin me abandonarás nunca,

sombra que sempre me asombras.



Fragmento de "Negra sombra" en *Follas Novas* (1880) Rosalía de Castro

A tódolos seres, non humanos e humanos, que fixeron posible a escritura destas liñas.

Graciñas.

# Table of contents

List of Abbreviations	xiii
Resumen	xv
Abstract	xix
Outline of the document	xxiii
Ethics statement	xxiv
Funding statement	xxiv

1. INTRO		
1.1. Dee	p brain stimulation	3
1.1.1.	Historical overview	5
1.1.2.	Mechanism of action	
1.1.3.	Therapeutic application in neuropsychiatry	
1.2. Mol	ecular imaging	
1.2.1.	Molecular imaging modalities	
1.2.2.	Positron emission tomography (PET)	
1.3. [ <sup>18</sup> F]	-FDG-PET in Deep Brain Stimulation	
1.3.1.	Clinical studies	
1.3.2.	Preclinical studies	
Referenc	es	

2.	RATIONALE, HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	63
2.1.	. Rationale	64
2.2.	. Hypothesis	
2.3.	. Objectives	67
R	References	

#### 

#### 4. RESPONSE TO DEEP BRAIN STIMULATION IN THREE BRAIN TARGETS WITH IMPLICATIONS IN MENTAL DISORDERS: A PET STUDY IN RATS...... 79

# 6. THE FOOTPRINT OF DEEP BRAIN STIMULATION AFTER TREATMENT: A PET AND NEUROPLASTICITY STUDY IN AN ANIMAL MODEL OF OBESITY.

-	115	
6.1.	Abstract	
6.2.	Introduction	
6.3.	Methods	
6.4.	Results	
6.5.	Discussion	
6.6.	Conclusion	
Ref	ferences	

#### 

1.1.		
7.2.	Introduction	
7.3.	Methods	
7.4.	Results	
7.5.	Discussion	
7.6.	Conclusion	
Ref	ferences	
Supp	lementary material	

8. GEN	NERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	
8.1. G	eneral discussion	169
8.1.1.	Electrode insertional effect	
8.1.2.	Deep brain stimulation effects	
8.1.3.	Limitations and possible future lines of research	
8.1.4.	Concluding remarks	
Referer	nces	
8.2. Co	onclusions	

## **List of Abbreviations**

[<sup>18</sup>F]FDG / FDG: 2-deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose

AA: Amygdala

AD: Anno Domini

**AHiPM / AL:** Amygdalohippocampal Area Posteriomedial / Anterolateral Part

**ALIC:** Anterior Limb of the Internal Capsule

**ANCOVA:** Analysis of Covariance

**ANT:** Anterior Nucleus of the Thalamus

ANOVA: Analysis of Variance

**AP:** Anteroposterior

Arc: Arcuate

ATP: Adenosine Triphosphate

Au: Auditory Cortex

BMI: Body Mass Index

BS / Bstm: Brainstem

Cb: Cerebellum

cc: corpus callosum

CE: Conformité Européenne

Cg: Cingulate

CPu: Caudate Putamen

**CT:** Computerized Tomography

**DBS:** Deep Brain Stimulation

**DM:** Dorsomedial Thalamus

**DpME:** Deep Mesencephalic Nucleus

**DV:** Dorsoventral

ECT: Electroconvulsive Therapy

Ect: Ectorhinal Cortex

Ent: Entorhinal Cortex

**EMA:** European Medicines Agency

FDA: Food and Drug Association

**fMRI:** Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging

**FMT:** Fluorescence Molecular Tomography

FWHM: Full Width at Half Maximum

**GABA:** γ-Aminobutyric acid

**GLUT:** Glucose Transporter

GPe: External Globus Pallidus

GPi: Internal Globus Pallidus

HDE: humanitarian Device Exception

HF-diet: High Fat-diet model

Hi: Hippocampus

HTh / hypoth: Hypothalamus

I: Insular Cortex

IC: Inferior Colliculus

**IP:** Intraperitoneal

**IPG:** Implanted Pulse Generator

Lent: Lateral Enthorinal Cortex

LH: Lateral Hypothalamus

MDD: Major Depressive Disorder

MER: Microelectrode Recordings

MIS: Maternal Immune Stimulation

ML: Mesolateral

mPFC: medial Prefrontal Cortex

MRI: Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MW: Mann Whitney-U tests

NAcc: Nucleus Accumbens

**NOR:** Novel Object Recognition test

NSA: Non-Significant Area

**Ob:** Olfactory bulb

OCD: Obsessive Compulsive Disorder

PAG: Periaqueductal Gray Matter

PI: Preference Index

Pir / Pir C / PC: Piriform Cortex

**PMCo:** Posteromedial Cortical Amygdaloid nucleus

**PRh:** Perirhinal Cortex

PSA: Posterior Subthalamic Area

**PSA-NCAM:** Polysyalylated form of the Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule

PT: Pretectal Nucleus

PtA: Parietal Association Cortex

**RM-ANOVA:** Repeated Measurements ANOVA

RMC: Red Nucleus

RN: Reticular Nucleui

ROI: Region Of Interest

**RS:** Retrosplenial Cortex

**S1 / 2:** Primary / Secondary Somatosensory Cortex

SC: Superior Colliculus

SCC: Subcallosal Cingulate region

SEM: Standard Error of the Mean

SNc: Substantia Nigra pars compacta

SNr: Substantia Nigra pars reticulata

SPM: Statistical Parametric Mapping

**SPECT:** Single Photon Emission Computerized Tomography

**SPIM:** Selective Plane Illumination Microscopy

St / Str: Striatum

STN: Subthalamic nucleus

Syn: Synaptophysin

TeA: Temporal Association Cortex

Tem C: Temporal Cortex

Th: Thalamus

US: Ultrasound Imaging

VC/VS: Ventral Capsule / Ventral Striatum

VCx: Visual Cortex

VGAT: Vesigular GABA Transporter

**VGLUT:** Vesicular Glutamate Transporter

Vim: Ventral Intermediate Nucleus of the Thalamus

VTA: Ventral Tegmental Area

VMH: Ventromedial Hypothalamus

WHO: World Health Organization

#### Resumen

Introducción: La estimulación cerebral profunda (DBS) es una potente terapia de neuroestimualción dedicada al tratamiento paliativo de, en su mayoría, casos avanzados de patologías motoras. Los fructíferos resultados obtenidos dentro del ámbito de la neurología llevaron a explorar la posibilidad de extender la aplicación de la DBS a diferentes patologías psiquiátricas. Así, la DBS emerge como una alternativa a las tradicionales intervenciones neuroquirúrgicas, las cuales consisten en procedimientos de ablación, local o extensa, realizados en regiones cerebrales específicas involucradas en la sintomatología a paliar. En este sentido, aunque la DBS es de hecho una técnica invasiva, se trata de una terapia local, con potencial reversibilidad de los efectos inducidos por la estimulación eléctrica, y que proporciona la posibilidad de ajustar in vivo los parámetros de estimulación de acuerdo a las necesidades del paciente. Sin embargo, a pesar de los enormes esfuerzos y la extensa historia de investigación en el campo de la DBS, los mecanismos de acción específicos de esta terapia todavía se desconocen. Varias teorías han intentado explicar los efectos obtenidos bajo circunstancias patológicas y de estimulación concretas. No obstante, a pesar de la indudable eficacia de la DBS, un amplio número de preguntas sin responder permanecen abiertas en relación a los efectos fisiológicos específicos de la DBS, así como a las consecuencias a largo plazo de la misma. Por este motivo, la aplicación de la DBS en la mayoría de las patologías neuropsiquiátricas que han sido propuestas de poder potencialmente beneficiarse de su tratamiento, permanecen en una etapa de investigación.

**<u>Objetivos:</u>** La principal motivación de esta tesis consiste en evaluar los efectos de la DBS, por medio de técnicas de imagen funcional *in vivo*, en ratas sanas y en dos modelos murinos de obesidad. En concreto, la principal contribución de este trabajo radica en describir las consecuencias de la neuromodulación inducida por la DBS sobre el metabolismo cerebral, utilizando [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET en diferentes niveles: 1°) después de la inserción de los electrodos; 2°) durante la estimulación eléctrica; 3°) después de un protocolo crónico e intermitente de DBS; y 4°) tras un protocolo crónico y continuo de DBS. En este sentido, los objetivos específicos recogidos en esta tesis son:

- Evaluar el efecto insercional del electrodo sobre el metabolismo cerebral, aislado de la modulación producida por un protocolo agudo de estimulación eléctrica, en ratas sanas con electrodos implantados en la corteza prefrontal medial (mPFC).
- Identificar las redes neuronales moduladas por un protocolo agudo de DBS en tres dianas cerebrales diferentes (mPFC, tálamo dorsomedial -DM- y núcleo

accumbens -NAcc-), relacionadas con alteraciones funcionales en diferentes patologías neuropsiquiátricas, en ratas sanas.

 Evaluar dos protocolos de DBS, a corto y largo plazo, haciendo diana en el NAcc y el hipotálamo lateral (LH), sobre el metabolismo cerebral, la ganancia de peso, el comportamiento y la neuroplasticidad, en un modelo animal de obesidad genético (rata Zucker) y uno alimentado bajo una dieta alta en grasa (HF-diet).

<u>Métodos y Resultados</u>: En primer lugar, encontramos que el efecto de la inserción del electrodo en la mPFC de ratas Wistar sanas macho (N=5) reduce específicamente el metabolismo cerebral en áreas corticales. Sin embargo, la DBS resultó en un patrón metabólico más extendido, involucrando a la misma red neuronal que la inserción del electrodo, en la cual la estructura diana juega un papel principal. Las consecuencias simultáneas del electrodo y de la DBS revelaron una combinación de ambos efectos por separado.

Por otro lado, la DBS indujo cambios metabólicos específicos en función con la diana de estimulación en ratas Wistar sanas macho (N=43). Sin embargo, un incremento de la actividad metabólica en la corteza piriforme apareció de forma paralela tras aplicar la DBS en las tres dianas bajo estudio. Además, la mPFC-DBS produjo un incremento de la actividad metabólica en el estriado, las cortezas temporales y la amígdala; una reducción en el cerebelo, el tronco cerebral y la sustancia gris periacueductal. Por otro lado, la NAcc-DBS incrementó la actividad metabólica en el subículum y el bulbo olfatorio, y la redujo en el tronco cerebral, la sustancia gris periacueductal, el septo y el hipotálamo. Finalmente, la DM-DBS incrementó la actividad metabólica en el estriado, el NAcc y el tálamo, y la redujo en las cortezas temporal y cingulada.

En relación al protocolo de estimulación intermitente (1 hora/día) aplicado sobre el NAcc-DBS durante 15 días en la rata Zucker (NAcc-DBS: N=6, NAcc-sham: N=9), encontramos que la estimulación produjo un incremento metabólico en las cortezas cinguladaretroplenial-parietal asociativa, así como una reducción del metabolismo en el NAcc, tálamo y núcleos pretectales. Sin embargo, este protocolo de estimulación sobre el NAcc no redujo ni la ganancia de peso ni la ingesta de comida. Además, los resultados longitudinales a largo plazo de este mismo protocolo de NAcc-DBS en la rata Zucker revelaron que, un mes después de la retirada de la estimulación, los animales NAccsham y NAcc-DBS mostraban un patrón metabólico común de modulación cerebral, probablemente derivado de la presencia de los electrodos. Una respuesta metabólica similar fue obtenida en el análisis longitudinal de las imágenes de PET del grupo de ratas Zucker LH-sham (N=4). Sin embargo, las ratas Zucker LH-DBS (N=6) incluidas en el estudio reflejaron una relativa invariabilidad metabólica entre ambos puntos temporales (es decir, un día y un mes tras el final de la DBS), así como una reducción en los niveles de moléculas de plasticidad sináptica. Así, la estabilidad neural alcanzada tras el tratamiento con LH-DBS persistió un mes después de la retirada de la estimulación.

Finalmente, un protocolo de LH-DBS continuo (24 horas/día) durante 15 días no indujo una reducción en la ganancia de peso, ni en la rata Zucker (Zucker-sham: N=9, Zucker-DBS: N=11), ni en el modelo HF-diet (HF-diet-sham: N=15, HF-diet-DBS: N=7). No obstante, la inserción de los electrodos ralentizó la ganancia de peso en los animales HF-diet no estimulados. Además, la LH-DBS produjo una modulación metabólica a nivel de regiones relacionadas con el aprendizaje, la memoria y la recompensa, pero en diferente medida en función del modelo. Es de destacar el efecto hipermetabólico producido en el hipocampo en las ratas Zucker-DBS, unido con una promoción de los procesos de plasticidad sináptica en esta región. Sin embargo, los efectos fisiológicos observados a nivel hipocampal no se tradujeron en mejorías cognitivas, evaluadas a través del paradigma de reconocimiento de nuevo objeto (NOR), debidas a la LH-DBS. A pesar de ello, sí se observaron mejorías progresivas y a largo en ambos grupos de ratas Zucker operadas.

<u>**Conclusiones:**</u> La principal contribución de esta tesis consiste en la descripción de las consecuencias neuromoduladoras de diferentes estragegias de DBS sobre el metabolismo cerebral, por medio de estudios de PET preclínicos con [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG, en ratas sanas y en dos modelos animales de obesidad. Además, se realiza un énfasis particular en el abordaje de hipótesis que incorporan, de forma secuencial, diferentes aspectos del tratamiento con DBS. En este sentido, las principales conclusiones alcanzadas en esta tesis son:

- El efecto insercional del electrodo sobre el metabolismo cerebral difiere del inducido por un protocolo agudo de DBS de alta frecuencia en la misma diana cerebral, aunque ambos recaen sobre el mismo circuito cerebral en el que la diana de estimulación está integrada.
- 2. La estimulación aguda de alta frecuencia de mPFC, NAcc y DM inducen diferentes patrones de captación de [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG, a pesar de interaccionar con los mismos circuitos cerebrales. En este sentido, la DBS en estas estructuras produce cambios significativos en la captación de [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG en regiones cerebrales asociadas con el circuito de los ganglios basales-tálamo-corteza.

- 3. Un protocolo de NAcc-DBS intermitente aplicado durante 15 días induce cambios en el metabolismo cerebral de la rata Zucker en regiones asociadas con los sistemas cognitivo y de recompensa, cuyo deterioro ha sido descrito en obesidad. Sin embargo, la NAcc-DBS intermitente no reduce ni la ganancia de peso ni la ingesta de comida en este modelo animal.
- 4. La magnitud de la persistencia de la modulación inducida por la DBS sobre el metabolismo cerebral a largo plazo depende de la estructura diana (LH o NAcc), incluso a pesar de pertenecer al mismo circuito neuronal y en la misma patología (i.e. obesidad genética). Por tanto, la estabilidad funcional alcanzada durante LH-DBS determinaría la extensión de la huella de la DBS tras retirar el tratamiento.
- 5. Los mecanismos fisiopatológicos subyacentes a la obesidad, es decir, la genética o el ambiente, condicionan la respuesta terapéutica ante la LH-DBS. En consecuencia, protocolos personalizados adaptados al fondo patológico de cada condición producirían resultados más satisfactorios para el paciente.

#### Abstract

Introduction: Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is a very powerful neurostimulation therapy for the palliative treatment of, mainly, resistant cases of motor disorders. The fruitful results obtained in the neurological scenario led to explore the possibility of extending its application to different psychiatric pathologies. Thus, DBS emerges as a potential alternative to the traditional neurosurgical interventions, which consist of local or major ablative procedures, performed in specific brain regions involved in the symptomatology with the aim to palliate it. In this sense, although it is indeed an invasive technique, it is actually a focal therapy, with potential reversibility of the effects induced by the electric stimulation, and offering the possibility of adjusting the stimulation parameters according to the patient's needs. Nevertheless, despite the huge efforts and extensive research history in the DBS field, the specific mechanism of action of this therapy remains unknown. Several theories have tried to explain the effects obtained under specific pathologies and stimulation circumstances. However, regardless of DBS undoubted efficacy, a wide number of unanswered questions remain open regarding the specific physiological effects and long-term consequences. Therefore, the application of DBS in the majority of the proposed neuropsychiatric pathologies to potentially benefit from this treatment remains at a research level.

**Objectives:** The main aim of this thesis is to evaluate the effects of DBS, by means of *in vivo* functional neuroimaging techniques, in healthy rats and in two models of murine obesity. In particular, the main contribution of this thesis is to describe the neuromodulation consequences of DBS on brain metabolism using [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET at different stages: 1<sup>st</sup>) after the electrodes insertion, 2<sup>nd</sup>) during the electrical stimulation, 3<sup>rd</sup>) after a chronic and intermittent DBS protocol, and 4<sup>th</sup>) after a chronic and continuous DBS protocol. In this regard, the specific objectives of this thesis are:

- 1. To evaluate the electrode insertional effect on brain metabolism, isolated from the modulation induced by an acute protocol of electrical stimulation, in healthy rats with electrodes implanted in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC).
- To identify the neural networks modulated by an acute protocol of DBS in three different brain targets (mPFC, medio dorsal thalamus -MD- and nucleus accumbens -NAcc-), related to functional alterations in different neuropsychiatric pathologies, in healthy rats.
- 3. To evaluate the short-term and long-term consequences of two DBS protocols, targeting the NAcc and the lateral hypothalamus (LH), on brain metabolism, weight

gain, behavior and neuroplasticity, in a genetic (Zucker rat) and a high-fat diet (HFdiet) animal models of obesity.

<u>Methods and Results</u>: First of all, we found that the electrode insertion in the mPFC of healthy male Wistar rats (N=5) proved to specifically reduced the brain metabolism in cortical areas. Nevertheless, DBS resulted in a more widespread metabolic pattern, involving the same neuronal network as the electrode insertion, and in which the target structure plays a key role. The consequences of simultaneous electrode and DBS factors revealed a combination of both separated effects.

Then, DBS induced site-specific metabolic changes in healthy male Wistar rats (N=43), although a common increased metabolic activity in the piriform cortex was found for the three brain targets. mPFC-DBS increased metabolic activity in the striatum, temporal cortices and amygdala, and reduced it in the cerebellum, brainstem and periaqueductal gray matter. NAcc-DBS increased metabolic activity in the subiculum and olfactory bulb, and decreased it in the brainstem, periaqueductal gray matter, septum and hypothalamus. DM-DBS increased metabolic activity in the striatum, NAcc and thalamus and decreased it in the temporal and cingulate cortices.

With regards to an intermittent (1 hour/day) protocol of NAcc-DBS applied during 15 days to the Zucker rat (NAcc-DBS: N=6, NAcc-sham: N=9), we found that NAcc-DBS led to increased metabolism in the cingulate-retrosplenial-parietal association cortices, and decreased metabolism in the NAcc, thalamic and pretectal nuclei. However, NAcc-DBS did not induce a decrease in either weight gain or food intake. Furthermore, longitudinal long-term results of this same NAcc-DBS protocol in the Zucker rat, one month after stimulation withdrawal, revealed that NAcc-sham and NAcc-DBS animals showed a common pattern of brain metabolic modulation, probably derived from the electrodes presence. A similar metabolic response was obtained in the longitudinal analisis of LH-sham (N=4) Zucker rats. However, the LH-DBS (N=6) Zucker rats showed a relative invariability between both time points (i.e. one day and one month after the end of DBS), as well as a reduction of neuroplasticity molecules. Thus, the neural steadiness achieved after LH-DBS persisted one month after stimulation withdrawal.

Finally, a 15-days continuous (24 hours/day) LH-DBS protocol did not reduce weight gain, neither in the Zucker rat (Zucker-sham: N=9, Zucker-DBS: N=11), nor in the HF-diet (HF-diet-sham: N=15, HF-diet-DBS: N=7) animal model. However, the insertion of the electrodes slowed down the weight gain in non-stimulated HF-diet animals. Also, LH-

DBS modulated brain metabolism in memory, learning and reward-related regions, but to a different extent in each model. Notably, the hypermetabolism produced in the hippocampus of stimulated Zucker rats, along with the enhanced synaptic plasticity processes in this region, did not translate into cognitive improvements in the novel object recognition (NOR) paradigm due to LH-DBS. However, progressive long-term memory and attentional benefits were obtained in both Zucker operated groups.

**Conclusions:** The main contribution of this thesis is to describe the neuromodulation consequences of different DBS approaches on brain metabolism, by means of preclinical PET studies with [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG, in healthy rats and in two animal models of obesity. Furthermore, special emphasis is placed on addressing hypotheses which sequentially incorporate different aspects of the DBS treatment. Therefore, the main specific conclusions reached in this thesis are:

- The electrode insertion effect on brain metabolism differs from that induced by acute high-frequency stimulation in the same brain target, although both are based on the same neural circuit in which the DBS target is integrated.
- Acute high-frequency stimulation of mPFC, NAcc and DM induces different patterns of [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG uptake, despite interacting with the same brain circuitries. In this sense, DBS applied to these structures produces significant changes in [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG uptake in brain regions associated with the basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical circuitry.
- 3. A 15-days intermittent NAcc-DBS protocol induces changes in the brain metabolism of regions associated with cognitive and reward systems in the Zucker rat, whose impairment has been described in obesity. However, intermittent iNAcc-DBS does not induce a decrease in either weight gain or food intake in this animal model.
- 4. The magnitude of the long-term persistence of the DBS brain metabolic modulation depends on the brain target (LH or NAcc), even despite belonging to the same neural circuit and in the same disease (i.e. genetic obesity). Therefore, the functional steadiness reached during LH-DBS would determine the extent of the DBS footprint after removing the treatment.
- The physiopathology mechanisms underlying obesity, namely genetics or environment, condition the therapeutic response to LH-DBS. Accordingly, personalized protocols adapted to each condition background would produce more successful results.

## **Outline of the document**

This PhD thesis is based on five research works which have been carried out in the Laboratorio de Imagen Médica of the Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón, leading the document organized in eight chapters. Chapter 1 contains an introduction to the concepts of deep brain stimulation (DBS) and molecular neuroimaging, as well as an overview of the state of the art in the field of neuroimaging in DBS. Chapter 2 poses the motivation and objectives of the present PhD thesis. **Chapter 3** explores the brain metabolic consequences of the two main neuromodulatory elements in DBS, namely the electrodes insertion and the electric stimulation, in healthy rats by means of voxel-wise analyses of [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG PET images. After separately evaluating both effects, Chapter 4 describes the effects on brain metabolism of acute highfrequency DBS in three brain targets with relevance in neuropsychiatric disorders in healthy rats, following a voxel-based approach. Going one step further, Chapter 5 reports the brain metabolic effects of applying one daily hour of bilateral high-frequency DBS in the NAcc, during 15 days, in a genetic animal model of obesity. Then, Chapter 6 presents a longitudinal study of brain metabolic changes which persist one month after finishing the same DBS protocol explained in Chapter 5. This time, both NAcc and lateral hypothalamus (LH) were assessed as DBS targets in the same genetic obesity model, and long-term neuroplasticity changes in the hippocampus and the entorhinal cortex were evaluated. Finally, Chapter 7 presents the results of applying a continuous (i.e. 24 hours/day) DBS protocol in the LH during 15 days, in a genetic and a diet-induced models of obesity, reporting short and long-term brain metabolic changes as outcomes. This study also includes memory and learning behavioral tests, as well as an assessment of hippocampal neuroplastic long-term changes induced by LH-DBS. Chapter 8 gathers the general discussion and conclusions of the thesis.

## **Ethics statement**

All the experimental animal procedures conducted within this PhD thesis were performed according to the European Communities Council Directive 2010/63/EU and approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation of Hospital General Universitario Gregorio Marañón (Comité de Ética de Experimentación Animal, CEEA; number ES280790000087).

## **Funding statement**

The research gathered in this PhD thesis is framed into a larger international research line focused in studying the DBS effects on animal models of psychiatric diseases. In fact, these research works were partially performed under the EraNet Neuro framework (DBS\_F20rat), two research projects from the "Ayudas a la investigación de Ignacio H. de Larramendi" program (2013 and 2015 calls) from Fundación Mapfre and one research project from Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación (PI14/00860).

The author of this thesis has been funded by a grant from the Fundación para la Investigación Biomédica del Hospital Gregorio Marañón (FIBHGM), a grant from the program of "Ayudas CIBERSAM para el inicio de tesis doctorales en Salud Mental 2016" of the Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), a contract from the "Programa Intramural de Impulso a la Investigación Pre-Doctorales en Formación 2017" of the Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón (IISGM), through the FIBHGM, and a contract from the "Convocatoria de Becas Predoctoral en Neurociencia 2017" of the Fundación Tatiana Pérez de Guzmán el Bueno (FTPGB).

# 1. Introduction

### 1.1. Deep brain stimulation

The term *Neurostimulation* is defined as the chronic therapeutic stimulation of the central nervous system or special nerves with an implanted stimulating device (Gildenberg, 2009). It covers a variety of different techniques focused on the modulation of the neural system activity in order to overcome a functional impairment. These techniques can be classified according to three main features: 1) the invasiveness degree (internal or external application), 2) the nature of the applied stimulation (electric or magnetic), and 3) the place of application (central – i.e. the brain – or peripheric – i.e. the nerves). Thus, among the several neurostimulation techniques currently available, deep brain stimulation (DBS) appears to be as one of the most widespread neural modulatory approaches in the clinical practice. As its name suggests, DBS is an invasive neurosurgical technique that consists of placing electrodes targeting precise brain regions involved in the physiopathology of the patient, and whose activity is sought to be modulated by means of a continuous electric current. To this end, electrical pulses are delivered through the electrodes, which are connected to an external implantable pulses generator (IPG), similar to a pacemaker, usually placed in the infra-clavicular space. A remote programming device is used to set the stimulation parameters (i.e. intensity, amplitude, frequency and electrode contacts activation and polarity) (Volkmann et al., 2002). It is important to note that DBS is reserved for the intervention of treatmentresistant patients as a palliative approach, in an attempt to alleviate their symptoms and thus improve their quality of life.

A whole overview of the surgical procedure for DBS implantation can be reviewed in (Kasoff & Gross, 2016). Shortly, DBS systems are usually implanted in a two-steps surgical intervention, first placing the DBS lead and electrodes in the brain, and second implanting the IPG and the extension cable which connects the IPG to the lead. These two interventions can be performed during the same surgical procedure or after a period (several weeks) of recovery. Depending on the surgery planification and the brain target of interest, different medical imaging modalities are acquired from each patient at several time points of the procedure (e.g. before the surgery for planification, during the surgery in order to ensure the correct electrodes placement and discard postoperative complications such as hemorrhage). The imaging techniques usually applied are magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computerized tomography (CT), in order to localize the specific coordinates of the brain target in the patient's own anatomy. Also,

specific MRI sequences or CT modalities (e.g. diffusion-tensor imaging, ventriculography or gadolinium-contrast images) are obtained in order to avoid blood vessels or white matter tracts across the electrode trajectories. At this point, all the gathered information is incorporated to a planning workstation which allows to co-register the patient's anatomic information to well-established brain atlas, such as the Tailarach-Tourneau or the Schaltenbrand-Wahren atlases (Schaltenbrand & Wahren, 1977; Talairach et al., 1988). Both provide the specific coordinates of the brain target of interest after deforming the 3D atlases grids to the patient's head.

Also relevant is the kind of stereotactic frame selected for implanting the DBS electrodes. In this sense, two main groups of devices can be distinguished:

- Classic frames: These stereotactic apparatus contain the imaging fiducials in the own instrument holder platform. Therefore, the interventions which involved this kind of gadgets need to acquire the planification images before installing the stereotactic frame on the patient's head.
- 2. "Frameless" systems: Their instrument holders are separated from the imaging fiducials. These kind of approaches require optical cameras or tactile systems in order to localize the optical fiducials attached to the patient's head, and virtualize the placement information to register it to the virtual surgical planification.



Figure 1 - DBS configuration elements. A) Arc-centered stereotactic frame with 3 N-localizers. B) X-Ray imaging of a patient implanted with DBS electrodes. C) Schematic view of the DBS system in the patient. All the images are represented under a Creative Commons License.

Besides imaging acquisitions, microelectrode recordings (MER) are usually performed during surgery, before electrode implantation, in order to confirm the precise location of the cannula which will drive the electrode insertion. Also, focal stimulation of the targeted region can be applied to confirm the location instead, and observe in real time the acute effects of the stimulation on the patients symptoms (particularly in movement disorders). In any case, either intraoperative MER-, stimulation- or imaging-guided surgeries provide similar success rates, and the methodology of choice depends on the hospital and surgeon availability and experience.

Normally, patients arrive at the hospital the same morning of the day of the operation. After 3-5 hours (unilateral) / 6-8 hours (bilateral) of surgical procedure, and provided that there are no complications, they are considered outpatients the same evening of the surgery. Furthermore, postoperative care is routine and, after healing of the skin wounds, there is no impediment which prevents the patients to return to their normal activities, which usually occurs in a 4-weeks period since the DBS surgery. In general, it is within this period that the stimulator is programmed and all the contacts implanted are tested, but maintaining active those which better target the brain structure of interest and provide the best therapeutic outcomes.

Finally, as every therapeutic procedure, DBS can lead to certain complications which occur in very rare occasions (Sugiyama, 2015). The first difficulties are the most health-threatening, and directly derive from the surgical procedure (e.g. intracranial hemorrhage, insertional edema, lead misplacement). They appeared in the 1.2-7.8% of the operated patients, depending on the surgical conditions and risk factors presented by the patient (Kasoff & Gross, 2016). Also, side effects of the stimulation (e.g. paresthesias, dysartria, psychiatric symptoms) may occur. They can be normally reversible by discontinuing the stimulation and adjusting the DBS programming. Lastly, hardware-related adverse events (e.g. infection of the IPG pocket, skin erosion, lead migration or fracture) are usually solved with antibiotic medication and system removal, when needed. In general, DBS presents good safety, reliability and tolerability profiles, with easy-to-manage side effects, which led to extent its application for the treatment of a wide spectrum of neuropsychiatric disorders.

#### 1.1.1. Historical overview

The therapeutic potential of electrical stimulation was already recognized in Ancient Rome and Egypt. Thus, the first evidence that revealed a beneficial effect of an electric current approximately dates from the year 15 AD, in which the physician Scribonius Largus of the Emperor Tiberius described the "miraculous" recovery of a freed slave suffering from gout after accidentally touching a torpedo fish (Gildenberg, 2009). Nevertheless, electricity as a physical phenomenon remains misunderstood until the middle of the eighteenth century, and it was not until 1799, with the creation of the electric battery by Alessandro Volta, that electricity started to become an essential element in our daily life. Thus, the medical application of this "new" phenomenon did not last, and the first register of neurostimulation in humans is attributed to Roberts Bartholow in 1874. Bartholow stimulated the parietal lobes of an awake patient with an erosive basal cell cancer, resulting in contralateral involuntary movements and seizures (Wojtasiewicz et al., 2019).



Figure 2 - DBS history. Overview of the most relevant events throughout the history of DBS, from the first brain stimulation procedure, to the present. [HDE, humanitarian device exemption; OCD, obsessive compulsive disorder]

Several other works followed this first approach, but they were mainly functional mapping studies, based on the different responses obtained after applying electrical stimulation in
precise areas of the brain. Thus, Harvey Cushing pioneered the intraoperative stimulation in order to localize these functional brain areas, among other neurosurgeons, in the early years of the 20<sup>th</sup> century (Cushing, 1909). In this sense, two main events set the bases for incorporating the electrical stimulation of deep brain structures into the clinical routine: 1<sup>st</sup>) advances in the knowledge of functional mapping of the brain, and 2<sup>nd</sup>) the development of the first stereotactic frame. Thus, Victor Horsley and Robert H. Clarke developed the first stereotactic apparatus for animal use in 1908 (Gildenberg, 2009). This cartesian frame was based on external cerebral landmarks, which avoids its application to human subjects given its unreliability of the measurements. Later, Ernest A. Spiegel and Henry T. Wycis recognized the potential of Drs. Horsley and Clarke's approach and created a new stereotactic apparatus similar to their predecessor's one. This new frame solved the previous drawbacks by introducing specific adaptations to the patient's anatomy observed by X-Ray images (Spiegel et al., 1947). Therefore, these adjustments allow the application of stereotactic surgery to be extended to various ablative interventions in human patients (e.g. pallidotomies, thalamotomies, etc.). After viewing the Spiegel-Wycis frame, Lars Leksell developed a novel arc-centered stereotactic frame, which used three polar coordinates in addition to the cartesian components implemented in the earlier head frame models (Leksell, 1949). The Leksell frame allowed to target almost any deep brain structure of interest from virtually any location on the skull and, despite very few modifications to the original design, it is used nowadays for human stereotactic neurosurgery (Wojtasiewicz et al., 2019).

Thus, Drs. Spiegel and Wycis gave rise to human stereotactic surgery and, as stated in the original report published in *Science* journal, "(stereotactic technique) *permits one to insert a wire or a cannula accurately into a desired subcortical area with minimal injury to the cerebral cortex or the white matter*", as a plus for the dissemination of the use of stereotactic surgery in clinical practice. Therefore, stereotactic surgery appeared in the early 1950s as an alternative to massive lesioning procedures conducted during the 1930s, such as the leukotomies that awarded António E. Moniz the Nobel Prize in 1949, by inducing targeted and precise lesions which avoided the side effects of the so far called psychosurgery (Kendall H. Lee et al., 2016). In fact, both Spiegel and Wycis and Leksell groups applied their own inventions to perform stereotactic ablative procedures in patients, as for the treatment of Parkinson's disease or obsessive compulsive disorders, respectively. Originally, these lesions were inferred by direct injection of

alcohol into the structure of interest, but this technique was soon replaced by inferring electrolytic lesions and, later, by radiofrequency (Gildenberg, 2009).

These early stereotactic interventions already included electrical stimulation so as to verify the electrode placement in the desired target, and to study the brain human physiology. Therefore, by stimulating the targeted area and observing the evoked physiological response, the surgical team confirmed the location of the electrode within the brain structure to be lesioned. Thus, the stimulation of deep brain structures during stereotactic surgery was initially considered only as a experimental technique for studying the brain, without obvious evident therapeutic interest. However, the neurophysiologist José M.R. Delgado, in the early 1950s, recognized the effects that subcortical brain stimulation could elicit on behavior, and then proposed its potential application to psychotic patients. Dr. Delgado became famous after a short movie in which he was shown avoiding the violent charge of a fighting bull, to which he had implanted a subcortical stimulation system, by pressing a remote control which activated the stimulation (Marzullo, 2017). He developed a vivid interest in discovering the mechanisms related to mind-control through electrical stimulation, which led him to carry out an extensive research career in deep brain stimulation including different animal species (rats, cats, monkeys and finally humans). His clear enthusiasm in brain electrical stimulation and behavior control led Dr. Delgado to write the book entitled "Physical Control of the Mind: Towards a Psychocivilized Society" (Delgado, 1969).

Parallel to Dr. Delgado's studies, Robert Heath, a psychiatrist from Tulane University, developed an extensive work from the 1950s to the 1970s, focused on the stimulation of the brain "pleasure" centers. He sought to alleviate physical pain and induce a sense of euphoria and joy through this approach. In fact, Dr. Heath suggested the application of septal area stimulation to patients with schizophrenia and cancer, in order to modulate their emotions and alleviate their pain (Baumeister, 2000). However, the research works headed by Dr. Heath have been accused of lacking from any scientific interest, and even their rigor, accuracy and ethics have been questioned (Hariz, 2016).

Far from Tulane University group, other researchers were exploring the DBS application in different modalities and pathologies. In this regard, DBS started to gain therapeutic interest after some serendipitous observations when using electrical stimulation to confirm the stereotactic target for ablative neurosurgery in the operation room. Indeed, improvement in symptoms was obtained after stimulation in Parkinson's disease (Spiegel et al., 1964), as well as awake patients with dystonia (Alberts et al., 1966). Despite these initial steps, the main applications of DBS during the 1970s and 1980s were focused on chronic pain (Gildenberg, 2009), which led to a scarcity of studies involving movement disorders. Nonetheless, several researchers in very distant regions of the world set the basis for DBS therapy, as we understood it today. Among them, different names stand out as the pioneers of the DBS as a therapeutic approach: first, the Russian neurophysiologist Natalia P. Bekthereva, who applied chronic stimulation to study the physiology of mental activity and the treatment of motor disorders; then, the Norwegian psychiatrist Carl Wilhelm Sem-Jacobsen, who implanted recording and stimulating electrodes in patients with epilepsy and psychiatric disorders; and finally, the American neurosurgeon Irving S. Cooper, who led the first cerebellar stimulation studies for movement disorders (Kendall H. Lee et al., 2016). In fact, Dr. Cooper was the first researcher to coin the term "deep brain stimulation" in the literature in a case report published in 1980 (Cooper et al., 1980).

While the application of DBS in pain and movement disorders continued evolving, research on neurosurgery in psychiatric diseases suffered a sudden blockage after the 1970s. In fact, not a single article on DBS in psychiatry was published from Dr. Dieckmann's chapter on the application of DBS on phobias in 1979 (Dieckmann, 1979), until a brief article published in 1999 in The Lancet by Dr. Nuttin et al., proposing the use of DBS in the internal capsules for obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) (B. Nuttin et al., 1999). This impasse derived from two main events: First, the official recognition of the unethical and unprofitable nature, in terms of effectiveness and safety, of lobotomies (i.e. leukotomies) performed from the 1930s to the 1960s for the treatment of various psychiatric conditions (e.g. anxiety, psychosis). In this sense, Walter Jackson Freeman II stood out among the psychosurgery practitioners of that time, as he popularized the socalled "transorbital lobotomy", and indiscriminately performed 2500 of these interventions in the United States between the mid-1940s to the early 1960s (Kendall H. Lee et al., 2016). And second, the discovery and standardization of the use of chlorpromazine and other antipsychotics for psychiatric disorders (Ban, 2007). In fact, the practice of previous psychosurgery techniques was initially extended due to the lack of effective psychopharmacology approaches and the dire situation in which psychiatric patients were, given that their only possible alternative was institutionalization (Heller et al., 2006). Therefore, psychosurgery was discouraged once the possibility of achieving

9

an effective treatment by a non-invasive pharmacological method for psychiatric patients was real. In fact, even the United State Congress considered banning the practice of psychosurgery in 1977, although the final verdict was limited to some caveats, recognizing the therapeutic value that psychosurgery could provide in certain cases (Correia, 2015).

The beginnings of contemporary DBS are attributed to studies conducted at Grenoble University in the late 1980s by Alim-Louis Benabid and Pierre Pollack's team. In particular, their publication entitled "Combined (thalamotomy and stimulation) stereotactic surgery of the VIM thalamic nucleus for bilateral Parkinson disease" (A L Benabid et al., 1987) inaugurates the conception of DBS as a therapeutic option for the amelioration of movement disorders symptoms. Since then, the amount of research in DBS for psychiatric and movement disorders has dramatically increased, particularly since the entry into the 21<sup>st</sup> century (D. J. Lee, Lozano, et al., 2019). Despite the frenetic growth in scientific articles on this topic, DBS application has been approved by the Food and Drug Association (FDA) for a very limited number of pathologies (i.e. essential tremor, Parkinson's disease, dystonia, OCD and medically refractory epilepsy), although it has been suggested that many other neuropsychiatric pathologies may potentially benefit from DBS (as will be discussed in the section 1.1.3 Therapeutic application in neuropsychiatry). In addition, there is a large number of brain targets under research for different disorders, but none of them is considered as "established" for any specific condition. In this sense, special attention is now focused on avoiding to cross the ethical barriers overlooked in previous decades of psychosurgery. In fact, this interest in preventing the recurrence of "lessons learned from the past" led to the publication of several ethical guidelines for the performance of DBS in psychiatry, overlapping both in authorship and content, which were compiled and commented by Marwan Hariz in (Hariz, 2016).

In general, DBS is considered today as an invasive but adjustable and reversible brain stimulation technique, preferable to the previous ablative neurosurgery procedures, with great potential in the treatment of several various neuropsychiatric disorders, but still an experimental approach in the large majority of them. Thus, although its effectiveness has been clearly proved in various pathologies, the lack of understanding of its mechanism of action prevents DBS from achieving greater outreach in the clinical scenario. This brings us to the next section of this chapter, entitled *1.1.2. Mechanism of action*, in which

we will address the different theories proposed to explain the physiological and molecular effects observed after the application of DBS.

## 1.1.2. Mechanism of action

As stated above, the precise mechanism of action of DBS remains unknown. In this sense, DBS was first associated to an "ablative-like" effect in the targeted region. This first theory was based on the fact that similar improvements in motor symptoms (e.g. control of the muscular shaking) were obtained after intraoperative stimulation was applied for target confirmation in ablative stereotactic surgeries. Thus, the first theories about the potential mechanism of action of DBS stated that high frequency electrical stimulation would ameliorate motor symptoms, while low frequency DBS would promote them (Gildenberg, 2009).

Given that high frequency stimulation (over 100 Hz) is the most widespread modality in clinical treatment, the theories explained here refer to the effects induced by this high-frequency DBS, which also represents the frequency range used in the experimental chapters of the present thesis. Considering that the experiments included in this thesis show effects of neuromodulation on neuronal networks, both in local and distant regions to the electrode placement, general principles of the mechanism of action of DBS in the brain are gathered here (Mcintyre et al., 2004). Nevertheless, an excellent description of the different effects induced by cathode and anode stimulation applied in the different neuronal regions (i.e. soma, axon and dendrites) can be reviewed in (Matias et al., 2016). Also, the reviewed hypotheses are supported by experimental observations both in the clinical and preclinical scenarios (see (Blaha, 2016) for review). Of importance, they are not mutually exclusive in any case, meaning that the physiological effects observed after DBS may derived from a combination of the proposed mechanisms.

a) Local inhibitory action: This theory responds to the traditional perception of the DBS effects, which responds to the similarities between the ablative neurosurgery and the impact of high-frequency stimulation (A L Benabid et al., 1987). Thus, it stablishes that DBS would produce a temporary blockade of the voltage-dependent neuronal currents, preventing the required depolarization that leads to the firing of the action potential, and hence inducing an inhibition of the output signal from the stimulated area (Beurrier et al., 2001). Therefore, the activity in the downstream regions normally activated by the neuronal firing at the stimulated site would be cancelled.

- b) Synaptic depression: In contrast to the local inhibitory theory, which defends an "ablative-like" effect of DBS due to a depolarization block, the synaptic depression theory explains the lack of neural transmission after DBS by means of neurotransmission affectation. Thus, it advocates that, after applying highfrequency electrical stimulation to a specific brain site, local neurons could not maintain the DBS-induced neural transmission at distal efferent terminals due to a rapid depletion of neurotransmitter vesicles stores in the afferent dendrites (L. Wang & Kaczmarek, 1998; Zucker & Regehr, 2002). Therefore, this phenomenon would lead to a synaptic blockade, which would inhibit the neuronal activity downstream of the stimulated terminal.
- c) Modulation of synaptic transmission: Similar to the synaptic depression theory, this theoretical approach explains the effects of high-frequency DBS by means of the modulation of synaptic activity. However, instead of a depression in the availability of the neurotransmitter vesicles at the afferent terminals, DBS would activate the afferent axons that surround the electrode or are closely located (i.e. *en passage*), inducing the release of neurotransmitters in their respective dendrites (Chiken & Nambu, 2014, 2015). Thus, depending on the type of neural fibers stimulated, and hence the type of neurotransmitters released, the impact of the DBS on the neural activity would vary:



Figure 3 - Synaptic theories of DBS mechanism of action. A) Synaptic depression due to the unability of maintaining the local activity induced by DBS, inducing a rapid draining of the afferent synaptic vesicles. B)
Modulation of synaptic transmission induced by DBS. Regarding the type of neurotransmitter released (excitatory or inhibitory), DBS would promote or decrease the neural efferent activity.

i. Whether the neurotransmitter released is inhibitory (e.g. GABA), the efferent neural activity would decrease.

- ii. Whether the neurotransmitter released has an excitatory effect (e.g. glutamate), the derived neural activity would increase.
- d) Neural jamming: Abnormal firing patterns of a certain brain target could lead to the onset of pathological symptoms. Therefore, this theory supports that highfrequency DBS would kidnap this aberrant neural transmission by replacing the pathological firing patterns with tonic high-frequency discharges induced by the stimulation in the surrounding neurons (McIntyre & Hahn, 2010; Montgomery & Gale, 2008). The new firing pattern generated would be normal. Therefore, it would help to recover a healthy firing activity. Another option would be that the induced pattern, although abnormal, would impact on the neural networks located downstream and, in this case, they would not be able to recognize it. Thus, the target structure would be isolated, creating an *informational lesion* (Carron et al., 2013; McIntyre & Anderson, 2016). Thus, the pathological transmission and, therefore, the derived symptoms would be blocked. Figure 4 shows a schematic representation of this hypothesis.



Figure 4 – Neural jamming hypothesis. Schematic representation of the neural jamming hypothesis in the orthodromic (above) and the antidromic (below) directions..

Importantly, the consequences of DBS are not only evident in the downstream efferent connections from the target site. This means that, at a neuronal level, DBS modulation could occur in both directions, that is, from soma to dendrites (orthodromic) or from dendrites to soma (antidromic) (Carron et al., 2013; Hammond et al., 2008). Nonetheless, in both cases, the cancelation of the informational flow to and from the stimulated structure ultimately has similar consequences with respect to the physiological response (Fig. 4). On the one hand, in the orthodromic direction, firing de-coupling occurs from the stimulated soma to the axon, thus blocking its influence on downstream sites. On the other hand, antidromic currents collide with the orthodromic spikes originated upstream from the stimulation site. As a result, the stimulated nucleus remains isolated from the pathologic activity arising from the afferent connections.

Furthermore, since half of the brain cells are not neurons, other cellular components should also play a role in the complex functioning induced by DBS. Consequently, the participation of glial cells and, specifically, astrocytes in the neuromodulatory role of DBS has been demonstrated (Agnesi et al., 2013; Chang & Lee, 2017) and, although several authors have relied on these cells to explain the mechanism of DBS (Tawfik et al., 2010), its responsibility on the final therapeutic effect is not yet clear.

It becomes clear that the mechanism of action of DBS is explained by a combination of complex events induced by electrical stimulation, involving local and distant regions, and a host of different neurochemical, neuroplastic, oscillatory and synchronic processes of neural activity (Ashkan et al., 2017; Chiken & Nambu, 2015). Thus, the different mechanisms described may coincide in the stimulated brain, as they can be mutually explain each other, although not necessarily with the same predominance. In this sense, it seems unlikely that a unified theory explaining the mechanism of action of DBS will be soon proposed given the differential pathological circumstances to which this therapy is being applied. In fact, under the same DBS parameters and stimulation targets, the specific pathological circumstances will clearly interfere in the therapeutic results obtained. Moreover, current theories suggest that the conjunction of complex mechanisms begins with neuromodulatory processes that lead to subsequent neural plasticity modifications, and a final long-term neuronal reorganization, which would lead to anatomical restructuring (Agnesi et al., 2013; Herrington et al., 2016; Pérez-Caballero, 2018). Therefore, advances provided by anatomical and functional studies are now the best asset to uncover the major and minor physiological factors involved in the

therapeutic response of DBS, thus allowing to maximize the potential benefits that DBS provides in a more personalized way.

Then, the specific features of each disease condition the temporal onset of the different physiological effects of DBS, and therefore, of its therapeutic benefits (Agnesi et al., 2013; Ashkan et al., 2017; Herrington et al., 2016). Thus, while a reduction in tremor is evident seconds after turning on the stimulation in movement disorders, longer periods of stimulation (even months) are needed to obtain a therapeutic benefit in epilepsy (Ashkan et al., 2017). Nevertheless, these temporal frames can vary among patients, but are indicative of ongoing changes in brain networks due to DBS. Interestingly, in some patients an early therapeutic response has also been described in absence of stimulation (see (Pérez-Caballero, 2018) for review). In fact, the microlesion effect induced by the electrode insertion has been related with symptomatic improvement in several neurological diseases, such as epilepsy (Krishna et al., 2016) or chronic neuropathic pain (Shah et al., 2010), and even with a better therapeutic response to the stimulation in Parkinson's disease (Tykocki et al., 2013). Therefore, the insertion and presence of electrodes is a neural modulator factor itself, whose therapeutic effect has been suggested to depend on the inflammation derived from its implantation, as demonstrated in animal models of depression (Perez-Caballero et al., 2014).

## 1.1.3. Therapeutic application in neuropsychiatry

Since the beginning, the therapeutic potential of electrical stimulation has been recognized. In the particular case of DBS, the process was slowed down because it was originally conceived as a mere experimental approach. However, innovations with regard to the development of the stereotactic frames have allowed stereotactic ablative interventions to be largely refine. Thus, the use of electrical stimulation to confirm the target region led to early recognize its therapeutic potential, and therefore to promote its application to a wide variety of pathologies in the neurology and psychiatry fields (Hariz, 2016).

In this sense, despite the restricted number of pathological conditions for which the use of DBS has received FDA approval, its application to many other diseases is currently under research, specifically in the case of treatment-resistant patients. Thus, DBS was approved by the FDA for the treatment of patients with essential tremor in 1997, Parkinson's disease in 2002, dystonia in 2003, OCD in 2009 (under a humanitarian device exception, HDE) and epilepsy in 2018. In addition, the *European Medicines Agency* 

(EMA) grants DBS with the CE mark (*Conformité Européenne*) for the treatment of essential tremor since 1993, parkinsonian tremor since 1995, advanced motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease since 1998, primary dystonia since 2003, OCD since 2009 and epilepsy since 2010.

This section presents a general overview of the most prominent pathologies for which the use of DBS has been therapeutically indicated, even at the research level. In addition, given the topic on which the last chapters of this thesis focus, a special section will be dedicated to the description of the use of DBS in obesity.



Figure 5 - DBS targets. Schematic representation of the brain structures considered as brain targets for DBS in neuropsychiatric disorders. Figure based on (Kuhn et al., 2009). [OCD, obsessive compulsive disorder; VC/VS, ventral capsule / ventral striatum]

#### 1.1.3.1. Motor disorders

In contrast to psychiatric disorders, in which DBS is still investigational (despite FDA approval for OCD under a HDE) (Lipsman & Lozano, 2015), DBS is a well-established therapeutic option for treatment-resistant patients of several motor disorders. However, the development of effective pharmacological approaches, as in the case of levodopa for Parkinson's Disease in the early 1960s, led to a drastic decrease in the performance of neurosurgical interventions (Tasker et al., 1983). Nevertheless, 50% of parkinsonian tremors responded poorly to pharmacological treatment, ensuring the survival of stereotactic ablative interventions for these patients (Miyagi, 2015). As previously explained, the first approaches involving electrical stimulation of deep brain structures occurred in patients with movement disorders (Gildenberg, 2009), marking the beginning of a long history of DBS in this neurological field.

The involvement of the thalamic structures and basal ganglia in the pathophysiology of motor disorders, together with the reported benefits of their ablation, led to consider these brain structures as potential targets of stimulation (Agari & Date, 2015). Thus, despite specific differences between pathologies, all the tested and approved brain targets for DBS treatment belong to these circuitry. The specific characteristics of the use of DBS in the three motor pathologies officially approved (i.e. Parkinson's disease, dystonia and essential tremor) will be explained below.

#### Parkinson's disease:

Parkinson's disease is a neurodegenerative disorder which affects at least 1% of the population over 60 years old (Zafar & Yaddanapudi, 2020). The core feature of this pathology is bradykinesia (slowness), although the first manifested symptom to appear is usually tremor. In addition, rigidity, gait disturbances and postural instability appeared during the course of the pathology. This symptomatology is derived from the progressive degeneration of the dopaminergic fibers that innervate the striatum from the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc), leading to a lack of inhibition on the basal ganglia activity (which involves the external and internal globus pallidus - GPe and GPi -, the subthalamic nucleus - STN - and the substantia nigra pars reticulata - SNr -), and therefore an exacerbated inhibition on the thalamocortical circuitry. Thus, the nuclei belonging to this network have been proposed as possible DBS targets given the previous efficacy of their ablation for the control of tremor. Among them, STN, GPi and the ventral intermediate nucleus of the thalamus (Vim) are the most important elements selected as DBS targets for Parkinson's disease due to their main role in the regulation of muscle tone and voluntary movement, as well as in the development of pathological involuntary movements (Pollak et al., 2002).

STN is the most frequently targeted brain structure for DBS treatment in Parkinson's disease. It has been proved to be safe and effective for the control of motor symptoms of the disease, as first reported by Benabid *et al.* (A. Benabid et al., 1994). In fact, STN-DBS is now an established therapy for the treatment of patients with advanced Parkinson's disease who manifest poor control of motor fluctuations and dyskinesia with drug therapy alone (Agari & Date, 2015). Thus, STN-DBS is normally initiated 10-15 years after disease onset, when significant motor symptoms become extremely difficult to control with drug therapy alone. Although it may seem paradoxical, a good response to levodopa is an important short-term predictor of the STN-DBS efficacy, as well as early age and short duration of the disease (Schuepbach et al., 2013), mild- or not cognitive

17



impairment and well-controlled or absence of psychiatric symptoms (Agari & Date, 2015). In fact, STN-DBS shows less effectivity on walking and postural disturbances (i.e. axial symptoms), which are indeed resistant to levodopa treatment (Agari & Date, 2015). Furthermore, STN-DBS makes it possible to reduce the dose of anti-parkinsonian drugs without affecting the therapeutic improvement (Tavella et al., 2002; Vingerhoets et al., 2002). Thus, sustained improvement of motor symptoms, rigidity, bradykinesia and daily quality of life has been reported in follow-up periods of 4-6 years since STN-DBS implantation (Moro et al., 2010; Østergaard & Sunde, 2006; Volkmann et al., 2009); and, although longer periods (8-10 years) also show good tremor control, the effect on axial symptoms begins to decline (Castrioto et al., 2011; Fasano et al., 2010).

However, STN-DBS treatment has been linked to certain mood, cognitive and mental dysfunctions which lead to the conception of other possible structures as DBS targets. In this sense, GPi-DBS has shown little difference with STN-DBS in improving motor symptoms, although it reported a significantly lower risk of inducing neuropsychological adverse events (Agari & Date, 2015; Follett et al., 2010; Moro et al., 2010). Furthermore, GPi-DBS is able to reduce levodopa-induced dyskinesia, although it fails to reduce the anti-parkinsonian drug dosage when applied.

Figure 6 - STN-DBS in Parkinson disease. Schematic representation of the basal ganglia circuitry functioning in a healthy brain (A), a Parkinsonian brain, with the deterioration of the substantia nigra *pars compacta*, (B), and a Parkinsonian brain under high-frequency DBS in the subthalamic nucleus (C).

1. Introduction

Finally, Vim-DBS appeared as the first target effective for treating intractable tremor in Parkinson's disease (A L Benabid et al., 1987). In fact, Vim-DBS replaced thalamotomy given the safety, reversibility and adaptability provided by this technique, both in the short- and long-term, despite its equivocal effects on other motor symptoms (which are effectively covered by STN- and GPi-DBS) (Miyagi, 2015). In fact, Vim-DBS is currently only suggested for those parkinsonian cases in which tremor is the only symptom, or at least the most predominant, and they show an unfavorable background (e.g. elderly patients, psychosis occurrence or cognitive decline) for targeting other stimulation regions (Miyagi, 2015).

#### Dystonia:

Dystonia ranks third in terms of prevalence among the neurological movement disorders. It is characterized by sustained muscle contractions which cause twisting, tremors and repetitive movements or abnormal postures (Pana & Saggu, 2019). Like the rest of the pathologies explained in this section, dystonia is caused by an abnormal functional organization of the thalamo-cortical-basal ganglia network, although its etiology is highly heterogeneous. In fact, dystonia can have a hereditary origin, although it can also be caused by physical trauma at birth or later in life, it can derived from an infection, or it may even respond to a reaction to pharmaceutical drugs, particularly neuroleptics (Taira, 2015). This broad pathological spectrum leads to a classification based on two main criteria: 1) etiology (primary or hereditary, and secondary or non-hereditary), and 2) other clinical features (age of onset, anatomical involvement - focal, generalized, segmental, multifocal, hemidystonia -, related pathological conditions) (Pana & Saggu, 2019).

In this sense, the prescription of DBS is mainly restricted to primary dystonias (Taira, 2015). Thus, pallidal-DBS has been a standard treatment for young-onset DYT-1-positive generalized dystonia since the past two decades (Moro et al., 2013; Pana & Saggu, 2019). However, several symptoms may respond worse or remain refractory to DBS, such as distal muscle control or speech difficulty, which prevent physicians from discontinuing routine drug therapy (e.g. botulin toxin) (Taira, 2015). The DBS gold-standard brain target for dystonia treatment is the sensorimotor area of the GPi, although GPi-DBS is sometimes associated with dysarthria. Furthermore, STN has also been proposed as an alternative DBS target by stimulating the Forel's H field (Kleiner-Fisman et al., 2007; Pahapill & O'Connell, 2010).

Remarkably, despite the mere palliative nature of DBS, there are some reports of a nonremission of the symptoms after depletion of the IPG battery in dystonic patients (Taira, 2015). Nonetheless, these are just anecdotal cases, and talking about complete cure or recovery from dystonia due to DBS at this time is far from real.

#### **Essential tremor:**

Essential tremor is the most common movement disorder. It affects the distal and proximal muscles of the trunk both in the postural and in the action-intention movement components (Morigaki & Goto, 2015). Thus, essential tremor is described as the presence of an involuntary rhythmic and oscillatory movement of a certain region of the body under a relatively constant frequency and amplitude. These involuntary movements are caused by the uncontrollable contraction of opposing muscles. Although its specific pathophysiology remains poorly understood, functional impairment of the olivocerebellar circuit has been proposed as the primary cause (Agarwal & Biagioni, 2020).

As for the other cases, the main medical treatment approach for essential tremor is pharmacotherapy. However, the rates of patients who remain resistant to treatment is dramatically high (25-50%) (Koller & Vetere-Overfield, 1989; Louis, 2001). In this sense, neurosurgical procedures, such as thalamotomies or DBS, belong to third-line therapies, have reported high effectiveness in the control of the upper limb tremor (Deuschl et al., 2011).

In relation to stimulated brain structures for the treatment of essential tremor, Vim has historically been the most explored (Miocinovic et al., 2013). However, despite the great enthusiasm that Vim-DBS initially elicited, this approach fails to overcome axial tremor, the action component of distal tremor and proximal tremor (Benabid et al., 1991; 1996), as well as it is related to high incidence of dysarthria, disequilibrium and tolerance (Morigaki & Goto, 2015; Schuurman et al., 2008; Xie et al., 2012). Given this unfavorable context, new DBS target options for essential tremor seem urgent. Thus, the posterior subthalamic area (PSA) has been recently proposed for this role, because it was previously considered a target region for ablation surgery (Lehman & Augustine, 2013), as well as STN (Lind et al., 2008). In this sense, although more evidence is needed, PSA-DBS seems to substantially improve tremor, particularly those components that remain uncontrolled by Vim-DBS, with mostly mild and transient side effects, and without inducing tolerance to treatment (Xie et al., 2012). Therefore, PSA emerges as a possible better brain target of DBS than Vim for the treatment of essential tremor.

#### 1.1.3.2. Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a neurological disease that affects 50 million people worldwide. It is characterized by recurrent seizures and, despite available anti-epileptic drug therapy, 20% of patients suffered from a poor seizure control (Koch & Baltuch, 2015). Although resection surgery is an option for treatment-resistant patients, the presence of comorbidities or multifocal epilepsy, as well as the potential risk of permanent memory impairment, strongly limits its performance. In these cases, DBS is considered a potential alternative for refractory epilepsy.

Two are the brain structures proposed as DBS targets: the anterior nucleus of the thalamus (ANT) and the hippocampus (Fisher et al., 2010; Tellez-Zenteno et al., 2006). This targets selection responds to the current knowledge that the pathways that interconnect the hippocampus and subcortical limbic structures with the cortex are key in the propagation of seizures. These regions include the thalamus, amygdala, hippocampus and entorhinal cortex, and therefore, disruption of these networks by DBS, regardless of the structure in which the seizures originate, may frustrate the propagation of seizures (Koch & Baltuch, 2015). Thus, ANT-DBS was shown to induce a substantial reduction in seizure frequency after 3-6 years of stimulation (Fisher et al., 2010), suggesting that DBS may produce a chronic effect on the neural plasticity of the epileptogenic circuit that is needed to obtain the expected therapeutic effect (Ashkan et al., 2017). Furthermore, while ANT-DBS is conceived to disrupt this propagation, hippocampal-DBS aims to disrupt the epileptogenic focus itself (Tellez-Zenteno et al., 2006). However, other structures are being considered as DBS targets, such as the centromedial thalamic nucleus, the STN and the cerebellum (Klinger & Mittal, 2016).

#### 1.1.3.3. Psychiatric disorders

Despite remaining on a research level, the potential of DBS in psychiatric conditions is gaining recognition. In fact, the high incidence of these disorders and the substantial proportion of treatment-resistant cases, explain the need to find alternative therapies, such as those provided by neurostimulation. In this sense, there is growing interest in DBS given its well-recognized safety and efficacy profiles, as well as the advances provided by anatomical and functional neuroimaging techniques in understanding the mechanisms underlying different psychiatric diseases (Lipsman & Lozano, 2015). Therefore, there is an emerging number of pathologies for which DBS is increasingly indicated. Among them, obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) and major depressive disorder (MDD) stand out as the most common indications, although other pathologies

are gaining attention (D. J. Lee, Lozano, et al., 2019; Lozano et al., 2019), such as eating disorders (Dalton et al., 2017), addictions (Habelt et al., 2020), Tourette's syndrome (Xu et al., 2020) or bipolar disorder (Gippert et al., 2017). Unlike movement disorders, in which the response to DBS is almost simultaneous to the activation of the system, psychiatric pathologies usually require longer periods of stimulation to observe an evident improvement in the severity of symptoms.

#### Major depressive disorder:

MDD emerges as the third leading cause of the global burden of disease, with a lifetime prevalence of up to 16% in adult population (Kessler et al., 2003). It is a heterogeneous disease, whose symptomatology cannot be restricted to a depressed mood. Indeed, patients often suffer from a variable degree of apathy, lack of motivation and anhedonia, along with eating and sleep disturbances. Therefore, MDD should be conceived as a network disorder rather than a focal pathology, given the likely impairment of various systems involved in cognitive, reward and pleasure processing, and vegetative control; which denotes a main role of the limbic networks.

In this sense, the brain targets suggested for DBS are actually the main nuclei of these systems, which have been shown to be affected in MDD by functional imaging techniques (such as PET or fMRI). In fact, the subcallosal cingulate region (SCC) (Area 25) is metabolically overactive in depressed non-medicated patients and healthy subjects immersed in sadness (Mayberg et al., 1999). This hyperactivation normalizes after remission of the depression by pharmacological, psychotherapeutic or DBS treatment (Kennedy et al., 2001, 2007; Mayberg et al., 2005). Therefore, SCC has been functionally related to the regulation of negative emotions and depressive stages. Thus, it was hypothesized that SCC-DBS normalizes the aberrant activity throughout the depression circuit and, in consequence, it is the most explored DBS target in clinical and preclinical studies in MDD (Lipsman & Lozano, 2015). In fact, SCC-DBS showed a treatment response in up to 92% of patients, and a remission rate as high as the 58% of the included participants (Holtzheimer et al., 2012), after a 2-years follow-up period.

Another neural focus functionally altered in MDD is the reward and pleasure-related systems (Patel et al., 2012). Then, the high prevalence of anhedonia led to study the modulation of targets along the reward pathway, such as the nucleus accumbens (NAcc) (Bewernick et al., 2010, 2012; Schlaepfer et al., 2008a) and the ventral capsule/ventral striatum (VC/VS) (Dougherty et al., 2015). In this sense, the highest response rates were obtained during NAcc-DBS, compared to VC/VS-DBS (McInerney et al., 2015), in

treatment-resistant depression patients (up to 50% after 1 year) (Bewernick et al., 2012), suggesting that NAcc may be the preferred DBS target for the treatment of primarily anhedonic MDD (Lipsman & Lozano, 2015).

There are also other suggested targets for DBS in the treatment of MDD, such as the medial forebrain bundle (reward circuit), the lateral habenula or the inferior thalamic peduncle (wakefulness, attention and motorsensory behaviors). However, the number of clinical trials addressing their effectiveness in this disorder is considerably lower, hence requiring further studies in order to consider them as effective DBS targets for MDD (McInerney et al., 2015).

#### **Obsessive compulsive disorder:**

OCD is a chronic psychiatric pathology characterized by obtrusive, repetitive and anxiogenic thoughts (obsessions), along with intense anxiety and disproportionate ritualistic behaviors (compulsions). Its prevalence is up to 2-3% in general population, and almost 10% of patients remain unresponsive to pharmacological and behavioral therapy (Giffin et al., 2016; Lipsman & Lozano, 2015). In such a situation, alternative treatment options become a real urgency. Thus, neuroimaging studies have evidenced an abnormal functioning in the orbitofronto-striato-thalamo-cortical network, related to large increases in the orbitofrontal and ventral striatal connections. The clear identification of a specific network alteration makes OCD a perfect pathology to be managed by DBS in cases resistant to treatment. In fact, DBS was not only the first psychiatric condition in which OCD was investigated (B. Nuttin et al., 1999) but, as previously stated, OCD was the first psychiatric disorder for which official American and European health agencies considered approving DBS application.

The first target tested for OCD treatment was the anterior limb of the internal capsule (ALIC) (B. Nuttin et al., 1999). ALIC was recognized very early as a key structure in mood and anxiety disorders, and it was the standard structure for capsulotomy in the treatment of these conditions (Lipsman & Lozano, 2015). It consists of a portion of the internal capsule, containing fibers which connect the prefrontal cortex with subcortical structures, such as the thalamus. Nuttin *et al.* conducted the first ALIC-DBS trial in OCD. They reported beneficial effects in three of the four recruited patients during a 21-month follow-up period, and even a 90% reduction in compulsions in one of the patients (B. Nuttin et al., 1999).

These satisfactory results inspired other groups to increase the number of OCD patients treated by ALIC-DBS and, despite finding overall positive results regarding symptom severity, none of them were able to reproduce the initial high-rates shown by that first study (Giffin et al., 2016). In fact, due to the close location of ALIC to the VC/VS and NAcc, subsequent studies began to conceive these structures for targeting DBS in OCD. In fact, starting with Greenberg et al. studies (Greenberg et al., 2006), VC/VS is the DBS target with the most experience to date. That study shows evidence of a long-term efficacy of VC/VS-DBS in eight OCD patients followed for 3 years. They found a significant decrease in the severity of OCD symptoms in six of the eight candidates, as well as a reduction in anxiety and depressive behaviors (Greenberg et al., 2006). Several other groups followed the steps of Greenberg and colleagues to stimulate the VC/VS in patients with treatment-resistant OCD, and most of them found around a 50% of response rates after only one year of follow-up period. Besides, these response rates increased in longer studies (Senova et al., 2019). Therefore, despite some transient detrimental cognitive effects, VC/VS-DBS appears as a safe surgical approach for treatment-resistant OCD patients.

Furthermore, the motor component of OCD, with the repeated appearance of tics in many patients, reveals a clear involvement of motor circuitry in OCD. This fact led to consider the STN as a possible DBS target in this pathology, and this fact was confirmed by the reduction in OCD scores after STN-DBS in two patients with comorbid Parkinson's disease and OCD (Mallet et al., 2002). However, contrary to striatal targets, STN-DBS did not induce any significant effect on anxiety or mood symptoms. Interestingly, the unilateral combination of STN and NAcc DBS revealed more beneficial effects with respect to both affective and motor symptoms (Barcia et al., 2014).

Altogether, the assessed striatal, thalamic and STN structures addressed by DBS in this disorder reported similar efficacy profiles in reducing symptoms severity scores on the OCD scales (Senova et al., 2019). Although other structures have provided promising evidence as DBS targets, such as the inferior thalamic peduncle or the GPi, larger studies are needed to investigate their potential in OCD (Giffin et al., 2016; Lipsman & Lozano, 2015; Senova et al., 2019).

## 1.1.3.4. Obesity

The worldwide incidence of obesity has led many authors to coin it as a real epidemic in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. In fact, along with overweight, it affects a third of the population worldwide (Hruby & Hu, 2015). Obesity is defined by the *World Health Organization* 

(WHO) as an abnormal or excessive fat accumulation which may impair health (D. J. Lee, Lozano, et al., 2019). It has a well-recognized multifactorial etiology, in which neuropsychiatric factors play a significant role. In fact, the mere metabolic conception of obesity leads health professionals to resort to dietary and physical routines in first place (Kushner, 2014), and only in severe, refractory cases to pharmacological (e.g. orlistat) and surgical interventions (e.g. bariatric surgery, gastric bypass) are indicated (Schernthaner & Morton, 2008). However, the serious adverse events elicit by these approaches, as well as the failure to control the disease in the long-term (Christou et al., 2006; Montan et al., 2019), evidence the need to explore alternative therapies for severe treatment-resistant patients. In this sense, given the neural basis of obesity, which involves the homeostatic and reward brain centers, DBS has been proposed as a potential therapeutic option for these patients (R. Franco et al., 2016; Halpern et al., 2008, 2011). To date, nine clinical trials have been registered in the U.S. National Library of Medicine evaluating the role of DBS in obesity (U.S. National Library of Medicine, 2020).



The approach to obesity through DBS should be carried out evaluating the intervention at the level of homeostatic and hedonic nutrition. In this sense, the brain centers for satiety, feeding and reward have largely been the focus on obesity DBS studies. given the potential benefits that neuromodulation can

Figure 7 - Obesity treatment. Current therapeutic options for the treatment of obesity

provide in the control of food intake by targeting these regions (Formolo et al., 2019). Accordingly, the hypothalamic nuclei have received great attention due to their well-known association with eating behavior and metabolic control. Thus, the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH) and the lateral hypothalamus (LH) host the brain centers of satiety and appetite, respectively. In addition, they are large enough to be targeted by DBS electrodes, which in turn makes them stand out from other thalamic nuclei as potential targets. (Formolo et al., 2019; Halpern et al., 2008, 2011; Hamani, Sankar, et al., 2012; Melega et al., 2012).

In this sense, the first clinical study performed to treat human obesity using DBS bilaterally targeted the VMH (Hamani et al., 2008), due to the positive results previously obtained in preclinical studies (Prinz & Stengel, 2018). Thus, high-frequency stimulation (130 Hz) did not provide significant effects on weight loss during the first 6 months of follow-up although, after adjusting the parameters to a lower frequency (50 Hz, among other settings), the patient experienced a sudden weight loss with no variations in diet and intake (Hamani et al., 2008). However, another study applying VMH-DBS (135 Hz) reported an unexpected panic attack, which forced to interrupt the treatment (Wilent et al., 2010). So far, one more clinical trial has been registered evaluating the role of VMH-DBS in morbid obesity, although results have not been reported yet (de Salles et al., 2018).

Extensive evidence has shown the potential of LH-DBS for obesity treatment. In this sense, although only two studies have evaluated the effect of high-frequency LH-DBS from the preclinical side (Sani et al., 2007; Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014), both reported weight-gain reductions in animal models of diet-induced and genetic obesity, respectively. In the field of human research, a trial evaluating LH-DBS recruited two women and one man with morbid obesity. Two of the patients showed a substantial weight reduction after 30-39 months of LH-DBS, and one of them reported a decrease in binge eating behavior (D. M. Whiting et al., 2013), thus providing the proof of concept for DBS application in obesity. Interestingly, Whiting et al. also found an increase in the resting metabolic rate, measured by respiratory chambers (A. C. Whiting et al., 2019). These authors have recently registered a new clinical trial with the objective of evaluating the safety and efficacy of chronic LH-DBS in six treatment-resistant adults with severe obesity (NCT04453020). This study is still in the recruiting phase, and they expect to complete the experimental phase by December, 2022 (D. M. Whiting, 2020). Other two clinical trials have evaluated weight outcomes in Parder Willi syndrome, a genetic condition characterized by low muscular tone, low levels of sex hormones and an overeating disorder that leads to hyperphagia and, ultimately, obesity. The first case report included a 19-year-old male patient who reported a feeling of fullness during active LH-DBS, although he continued to exhibit food craving behavior (Talakoub et al., 2017). In this case, although authors did not report changes in weight gain, they did find increases in the beta/low-gamma LH activity during exposure to food-related cues while feeling hungry, as well as prominent alpha rhythms during satiety. Their findings could help to better understand the functioning of LH, and therefore, guide neurostimulation therapies (Talakoub et al., 2017). The second clinical trial involved four obese patients with Prader Willi syndrome, but LH-DBS reported no clinical benefit with respect to weight gain, neuropsychological function or hormone levels (R. R. Franco et al., 2018).

Besides the evident role of homeostatic nuclei in the control of food intake, the enhanced anticipation of the food rewarding and hedonic properties is an important mechanism leading to food consumption (Gearhardt et al., 2011). In fact, alterations in the neural networks involved in this phenomenon can lead to an excessive food intake, which may lead to food addiction and obesity (Joranby et al., 2005; Volkow et al., 2008, 2013; von Deneen & Liu, 2012; G.-J. Wang et al., 2004). Therefore, reward-related areas also suppose potential targets for obesity treatment with DBS. Among them, NAcc is an important brain core within this system. NAcc-DBS could potentially counteract the reward feeling related to food intake and, in theory, lead to weight reduction in treatmentrefractory obesity (Halpern et al., 2008). Consistent with this hypothesis, three preclinical studies have observed significant reductions in weight and food intake in murine models of a high-fat diet and binge eating disorders (Doucette et al., 2015; Halpern et al., 2008; C. Zhang et al., 2015). Furthermore, four clinical trials have assessed the efficacy of NAcc-DBS and reported substantial weight reductions in those patients who completed the follow-up period. The first weight reductions observed after NAcc-DBS were really unexpected. In fact, Mantione et al. were using NAcc-DBS to treat an obese woman with OCD of (Mantione et al., 2010). During the stimulation phase, the patient reported a substantial decrease in the incidence of obsessions and compulsions. Surprisingly, after a 2-year follow-up, she reported having stopped smoking, as well as having stopped craving cigarettes, and she had lost 36 kg compared to her baseline weight at the beginning of the study (Mantione et al., 2010). The second clinical case report included a patient with hypothalamic obesity due to a craniopharyngioma surgery and, during 14 months of NAcc-DBS, she experienced a notable reduction in weight and body mass index (BMI), with no other apparent side effects (Harat et al., 2016). At the University of British Columbia, a similar clinical trial was initiated with the aim of applying DBS to six patients with hypothalamic obesity due to craniopharyngioma (Honey, 2018). However, this trial failed to recruit candidates who qualified for the study, and it was withdrawn already in the recruitment phase (Honey, 2018). In the third case report, NAcc-DBS was conceived for the treatment of the electroconvulsive-resistant depression in an obese patient (Tronnier et al., 2018). Thus, despite being a secondary outcome, the patient experienced a massive weight loss after 14-months of NAcc-DBS treatment accompanied by intense comforting feelings due to her self-efficacy in controlling food intake behavior (Tronnier et al., 2018). Finally, the latest clinical trial in NAcc-DBS for

morbid obesity was conducted at the Ohio State University (Rezai et al., 2018; Weichart et al., 2020). While all three patients lost weight during the study, only one of them successfully completed the 3-year trial. One patient abandoned the study at 13 months of NAcc-DBS, and the other one committed suicide after 27 months, although authors did not associate the event with NAcc-DBS (Rezai et al., 2018). The remaining participant was included in an additional research program exploring the cognitive task performance during the titration phase, revealing a potential mechanism to capture the acute effects of DBS and predict long-term outcomes in behavioral disorders (Weichart et al., 2020).

In view of the above, strong efforts are focused on reaching a therapeutic approach which helps to face the current epidemic situation of obesity through neurostimulation. Thus, there is a growing number of preclinical and human studies attempting to uncover the underlying mechanisms of the obesity cure. In this sense, although the indication of DBS is restricted to treatment-resistant patients, finding an effective strategy for severe cases would give hope to a currently unresolved situation. Consequently, the involvement of multidisciplinary researchers from around the world in this cause is undeniable, as evidenced by the continous registration of new clinical trials both testing new DBS approaches or devices (Beijing Pins Medical Co., 2016; Lozano, 2020; University Hospital, 2019).

# 1.2. Molecular imaging

The first radiographs obtained by Wilhelm Röntgen in 1895 marked the beginning of a new era in the medical imaging field. Thus, Dr. Röntgen produced electromagnetic

radiation in the X-rays wavelengths for the first time, and interposed his hand between the electron beam tube and a photographic plate on which he clearly visualized his hand bones. Then, he repeated the process with his wife's hand, and obtained the famous picture of her left hand bones with the married ring (Fig. 8) (Scatliff & Morris, 2014). Since then, subsequent discoveries in the areas of the medical physics and engineering led to the development of a broad spectrum of imaging modalities with a great potential across all specialties of medicine and biomedical research.



FIG. 39.-The first roentgen photograph. (Mrs. Röntgen's hand.

Figure 8 - First radiography, obtained by Wilhelm Röntgen of his wife's hand, Anna Bertha Ludwig, with her married ring (Public domain).

Medical imaging encompasses a variety of technologies used for visualizing the internal components of the body, both at a functional or structural level, in order to diagnose, monitor or treat different medical conditions (Food and Drug Association, 2018). Among them, molecular imaging refers to the group of techniques which allow to *in vivo* visualize cellular processes at the molecular level. Two key features of these techniques are that they are quantitative, in the sense that they provide measurements of the imaged phenomena in terms of numerical and quantifiable units; as well as non-invasive, since the acquisition procedures do not disturb the physiological systems of interest (Cussó, 2014).

According to the physical basis of the imaging, five groups of medical imaging modalities can be differentiated: nuclear, X-rays, magnetic resonance, optical and ultrasound imaging. In the next section, a deeper insight into each modality will be address, paying particular attention to the main relevant techniques for the development of this thesis (i.e. Optics and Nuclear Imaging).

## 1.2.1. Molecular imaging modalities

#### 1.2.1.1. Nuclear imaging

Imaging modalities such as gamma-scan (two-dimensional images), single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) and positron emission tomography (PET) (three-dimensional techniques), are nuclear imaging modalities. This description responds to the use of radiotracers, molecules that include a radioactive isotope in their chemical structure, and serve as contrast agents to visualize the status or progression of a specific biological process. Radiotracers are usually biomolecules involved in the physiological process under study, labeled with a radionuclide that replaces one of their atoms. Radiotracers are injected into the subject in trace amounts, with the aim of minimizing the radioactivity side effects, and their distribution within the different tissues of interest is detected by radiation detectors placed on the scanner. Actually, these detectors detect y-rays, which are produced during radioactivity decay. In this sense, the most remarkable advantages of nuclear imaging are: I) the almost limitless depth of penetration of nuclear imaging techniques due to the capability of the y-rays to completely penetrate organic tissue; II) its great sensitivity, even reaching the nanomolar range of radiotracer concentration; and III) the wide variability of available radiotracers. Altogether, these techniques allow the study of a broad number of different biological processes in situ within organisms.

PET provides higher spatial and temporal resolution, providing the most practical features among nuclear imaging techniques for biomedical research and clinical practice. Given the relevance of PET imaging in the course of this thesis, a more detailed view of this technique will be develop in the next section.

### 1.2.1.2. X-rays imaging

Radiography (2D) and computerized tomography (CT) (3D) are among the most common imaging modalities performed in clinical practice, although the lesser known fluoroscopy (2D, in motion) also belongs to the X-rays imaging techniques. In these cases, the image is created according to the differential X-ray attenuation coefficient of the tissues, which is in direct relation to their densities. Thus, they provide anatomical images of great clinical value, with enhanced contrast at the bones level as it is the tissue with the greatest attenuation power. In the case of planar methods (2D), such as radiographic or fluoroscopic images, the final result can be understood as the projected "shadow" of the object interposed between the X-ray beam and the detector. Alternatively, tridimensional images (3D), such as CT, resolve this tissue superimposition by rotating the X-ray source

and detectors around the subject, and thus acquiring serial projections through the same object. Therefore, although it should not be strictly considered as a molecular imaging technique, CT provides high-resolution anatomical images, which have been of particular interest in hybrid systems (i.e. combined scanners of CT with other molecular functional techniques which normally provide lower spatial resolution, such as SPECT-CT or PET-CT) (Berg & Cherry, 2018).

However, X-ray imaging techniques are subjected to some limitations, such as the radiation side effects or the low contrast provided in soft tissues due to their low attenuation power (e.g. brain). In this sense, sophisticated radiopaque contrast agents have been developed in order to improve the visualization of the tissue of interest by CT.

#### 1.2.1.3. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

MRI is a non-ionizing molecular imaging technique, with great potential in the neuroimaging field due to the great variability of information it can provide (e.g. structure, function, diffusion, metabolism, etc.). It is based on the ability of specific atoms, usually included in organic tissues (such as hydrogen, phosphorus and carbon, among others), to absorb and emit electromagnetic energy at a very precise frequency (resonance). Briefly, the MRI scanner is a very powerful magnet inside which the subject is placed. Immediately, the strong magnetic field originated inside the scanner forces all the nuclei (usually protons) to align with the direction of the own magnetic field. Then, the application of a specific radiofrequency pulse, which coincides with the resonance frequency of the nucleus of interest, stimulates the nuclei and they spin out of equilibrium. When the radiofrequency energy is removed, the nuclei return to their equilibrium state (i.e. realign with the magnetic field) and the electromagnetic energy released in this process is detected by specific coils.

MRI provides an excellent spatial resolution due to its high soft-tissue contrast, which is obtained according to the differential speed at which the electromagnetic energy is released after turning off the radiofrequency pulse. Nevertheless, by adjusting the acquisition parameters, the operator can potentiate the signal emitted by a specific tissue (e.g. lipids, liquid, etc.), obtaining a higher contrast of it in the resulting image, even without the need of contrast agents (although some paramagnetic agents are available). Thus, MRI is a highly versatile technique with an excellent safety profile given that, up to date, no side effects that pose a health threat have been described. However, the long acquisition times, the huge size of the scanners and the elevated prices for the scanner

and image acquisition are major disadvantages of this technique, preventing MRI from being accessible to everyone.

## 1.2.1.4. Optical imaging

Optical imaging covers a variety of basic and highly sensitive techniques (reaching even picomolar concentration levels) based on the properties of the visible light in order to explore specific processes at the molecular level. Due to their low cost and extraordinary potential, they are the most widespread modalities in *in vitro* and *ex vivo* biomedical research. In fact, optical probes offer multiple opportunities as contrast agents depending on their nature. Thus, they can not only target receptors (as other contrast agents in previous modalities) but being activated once they have already reached the target tissue (as it is the case of activatable probes), or even being produced by the own cells in the form of bioluminescent enzymes of fluorescent proteins (Hoffman, 2005). From a very simplistic perspective, all optical imaging systems will need light sources to produce the signal of interest, filters to eliminate the background signal, and photon detectors to receive and interpret the originated signal (Schulz & Semmler, 2008). However, the continuous development of new acquisition systems and optimized technologies encourages the design of more sophisticated configurations, including different elements such as mirrors and lenses, in order to improve the image quality in terms of resolution and signal-to-noise ratio.

Two phenomena should be considered when talking about optical imaging: fluorescence and bioluminescence. On the one hand, fluorescence represents the physical process which occurs when an excited molecule emits a photon transiting to a relaxation state. These molecules are called fluorophores, and their excitation state is reached by the absorption of a short wavelength photon with higher energy than the difference between their excited and ground states. As a consequence, excited fluorophores will emit a longer wavelength photon when they return to their basal condition, which can be detected by fluorescence sensors (Schulz & Semmler, 2008). Fluorophores are used to label molecules, such as antibodies, which will be used as molecular probes to track the molecular target of interest. The prepared fluorescent probe is then exposed to the tissue sample or cell culture, where it will recognize and bind to the corresponding target. Subsequently, and after several washes to eliminate the free probe remnants, and hence the background signal, the sample is illuminated with a sufficiently energetic light source in order to excite the binded fluorophores, and thus detect the light signal that will be proportional to the amount of probe binded to the sample. Imaging techniques such as fluorescence and confocal microscopy (planar), and selective plane illumination microscopy (SPIM) (tridimensional) benefit from this phenomenon for image acquisition. On the other hand, bioluminescence occurs when a bioluminescent enzyme (e.g. luciferase) metabolizes its respective substrate (e.g. luciferin) and, as a consequence, photons are emitted from the sample. Thus, although there is not background signal (neither from autofluorescence, nor from filter leakage), it is necessary to provide enough substrate to all the bioluminescent cells in order to ensure a correct evaluation of the desired process (Schulz & Semmler, 2008).

Optical imaging acquisitions are mainly limited by the low depth of penetration of the light in biological tissues, which are highly scattering and absorbing media (Cussó, 2014). In fact, the deeper the signal origin is within the tissue, the weaker is the detected signal. In addition, the large size, the relative instability and the certain degree of cytotoxicity of the fluorescent molecules are clear inconveniences to extend their application to *in vivo* organisms. Nevertheless, some techniques have been implemented in order to make the jump to the complex living world, and there are both planar and tridimensional (i.e. fluorescence molecular tomography, FMT) systems able to obtain *in vivo* small animal optical images.

### 1.2.1.5. Ultrasound imaging (US)

As it name implies, the physical phenomenon underlying the US technique is the sound. Specifically, high-frequency sound waves (higher than 1 MHz) are projected by a transducer directly to the subject. As some sound waves pass through the subject, some are reflected (echoes) and hit the transducer, which records them as electric signals that can be translated into images. In this sense, the time it takes for the echo to reach the transducer and the magnitude of the detected signal provide information about the depth of the tissue interface and the amount of reflection at this level (Philips et al., 2012). US is a planar structural technique which, like CT, cannot be purely considered a molecular imaging modality. However, the development of several targeted molecular imaging probes designed for US, such as microbubbles or liposomes, allows specific molecular processes to be tracked with this imaging technique (Jaffer & Weissleder, 2005).

Given the fact that US is a cheap, safe and non-ionizing imaging modality, its application has become greatly widespread in many different medical specialties. In fact, despite the difficulties involved in interpreting US images, advances in US technology have made this technology not only restricted to radiologist, being indeed of crucial relevance in the monitoring of pregnancy (Philips et al., 2012).

# 1.2.2. Positron emission tomography (PET)

PET is a molecular imaging technique that belongs to the nuclear imaging modalities, which imply the use of radioactivity in the process of image acquisition. Therefore, PET is a non-invasive, ionizing imaging technique which allows the *in vivo* visualization of biological and biochemical processes within the organisms. The wide variety of physiological phenomena susceptible to be studied with PET covers from glucose or dopaminergic metabolism to inflammation and perfusion. In fact, researchers and clinicians can potentially explore any physiological process within the imaging subject as long as they have the appropriate specific radiotracer. A deeper insight into the main features and applications of the PET technique is described below, as well as an overview of the most relevant radiotracers used in neuroimaging.

## 1.2.2.1. General features

Nuclear imaging techniques are based on the detection of  $\gamma$ -rays emitted from radioactive isotopes within the body of the subject to be scanned. These radionuclides reach the tissues via radiotracers injected into the subject. Radiotracers are hence biomolecules labeled with a radioactive isotope which, in the case of PET imaging, emits positrons during the decay process. Regarding the physiological role of the biomolecule that constitutes the radiotracer, different specific cellular processes can be addressed by PET imaging, such as metabolic routes or perfusion. Therefore, the greater the intensity of the process under study within a tissue, the greater the uptake of the radiotracer in that specific tissue.

In this sense, after injecting the radiotracer into the subject, the radiotracer is distributed throughout the body. As a consequence of the radioisotope decay, a positron is emitted and will collide with an electron located in the nearby area. This phenomenon is called annihilation, and it results in the emission of two 511 keV  $\gamma$ -photons in opposite directions. These photons are registered by the scanner's detector ring, which is positioned around the subject. The simultaneous detection of both photons by opposing detectors is called a coincidence event, and the number of coincidence events registered by a pair of detectors provides information of the amount of radiotracer uptaken by a specific tissue. The coincidence events information are transformed in electrical signals by photomultipliers, which will be used for the reconstruction of the image with the information of the distribution of the radiotracer within the body.

One of the main disadvantages of PET is the need of a cyclotron *in situ* or close to the imaging facility in order to obtain the PET radionuclides. In this sense, despite the initial enthusiasm raised by the fact that several PET radioisotopes are constituents of the organic matter, such as <sup>11</sup>C (20.39-minutes half life), <sup>15</sup>O (2.04-minutes half life), <sup>13</sup>N (9.97-minutes half life) or <sup>18</sup>F (109.77-minutes half life), their short half-life makes it neccesary to be close to a cyclotron for its application. This is essential for radiotracers with a low half-life as they provide limited temporal resolution given the fast decay of the emitted signal (Lu & Yuan, 2015). Therefore, PET radiotracers are usually best suited to address fast biological processes (Stoll et al., 2001). However, despite the time-limited signal, this rather rapid radiation decay provides PET radiotracers relatively favorable profiles according to the radiation absorbed by the patient. This supposes a clear benefit in safety terms in comparison with longer half-life SPECT radiotracers (Wahl et al., 2011).

### 1.2.2.2. Applications in neuroimaging: [<sup>18</sup>F]-FDG-PET

PET is a highly versatile technique, since it allows the study of a wide spectrum of different physiological processes. Thus, any biological process could potentially be studied as long as there is an appropriate radiotracer available (Hooker & Carson, 2019). This feature allows its application to a wide variety of medical specialties, covering from oncology to neurology, cardiology and infectious diseases. Thus, the main contributions of PET imaging have been classically related to the oncology field given the great capacity of metabolic tracers, such as 2-deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose (FDG), to detect and monitor the progression and treatment response of local or metastatic tumors. In this sense, FDG is the most widely available radiotracer in clinical and preclinical studies due to the relatively long half-life of [<sup>18</sup>F]-fluorine (approximately 110 minutes), which provides enough time to transport the tracer to the imaging facility which do not have an *in situ* 

cyclotron. This fact makes FDG the most common tracer in oncology, cardiology and neuroimaging.

FDG is a glucose analogue which incorporates a [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorine at the C-2 position of the ring of glucose, instead of the hydroxy group (Fig. 9). Therefore, FDG participates in the glycolysis pathway (Fig. 10), i.e. the physiological process intended to obtain high-energy molecules (adenosine triphosphate, ATP) by



**Figure 9 – [18F]FDG.** Atomic structure of [18F]FDG (gray: carbon, red: oxygen, white: hydrogen, green: [18F])

catabolizing glucose. When FDG is injected into the subject, it travels through the bloodstream and it is internalized by cells through the membrane glucose transporter

GLUT. Once in the cytoplasm, FDG begins the glycolysis process and it is phosphorylated by a hexokinase, becoming FDG-6-P. In this step, a normal glucose-6-P would be processed by an isomerase and transformed in fructose-6-P in order to progress in the glycolysis pathway. However, the presence of the [<sup>18</sup>F]-fluorine at the C-2 position impedes this transition, and FDG remains in form of FDG-6-P inside the cell. These process is known as *metabolic trapping*. Thus FDG-PET image allows to detect *in vivo* metabolic active tissues non-invasively. Once the radioactivity of the [<sup>18</sup>F]-fluorine decays, it becomes a [<sup>16</sup>O]-oxygen and this molecule is susceptible to be catabolized and continue the glycolysis pathway to obtain ATP and pyruvate.

The brain is a highly metabolic organ, which implies the detection of a large signal from



Figure 10 - Metabolic trapping. Mechanism of FDG uptake inside the cell.

this corporal area during FDG-PET studies since FDG can easily cross the brain-blood barrier. This is, in fact, a limiting feature for several radiotracers for neuroPET studies, since the brain-blood barrier supposes a very restrictive filter through which only small molecules can reach neural tissue. However, glycolysis in the brain occurs primarily in astrocytes (Magistretti & Allaman, 2015), and these glial cells are indeed the ones that mainly support the metabolic needs of neurons. In fact, the elements involved in the glycolysis cascade are particularly drained in neurons, while they are promoted in astrocytes. In addition, astrocytes have specialized processes that cover the surface of intraparenchymal capillaries, as well as other placed near the neuropils. Thus, when astrocytes detect high synaptic activity, they increase glucose consumption and, as result, they release lactate to the parenchyma. Under aerobic conditions, active neurons appear to prefer lactate as an energy fuel, which is converted into pyruvate in the cytoplasm and entered into the tricarboxylic acid cycle within the mitochondria in order to obtain energy. This process is called *metabolic coupling* (Magistretti, 2006) and

supports the basis for understanding the quantitative measurements provided by FDG-PET in brain studies as an indirect approach to quantify the neural activity.

This is particularly interesting in neuromodulation trials, such as DBS studies, in which the activation of neural networks by focal stimulation of a specific nucleus is a key mechanism to unravel the therapeutic effects induced by this treatment. However, this is not the only strategy to evaluate neural activity using PET. Thus, another technique to indirectly addressed neural activity is through perfusion PET studies with [<sup>15</sup>O]-water. This approach is a direct measure of the cerebral blood flow given the hemodynamic changes induced by neural activity (i.e. increased blood flow). However, the reduce half-life of [<sup>15</sup>O] is a main disadvantage for selecting this radiotracer instead of FDG or fMRI technique, which also studies the brain hemodynamics as patterns of neural activity (J. J. Chen et al., 2008).

Given that FDG is internalized by active metabolic cells, neural activity and tumor metabolism are not the only processes that can be indirectly quantified by FDG-PET. In fact, both inflammation and infections exhibit high metabolic profiles (Vaidyanathan et al., 2015). Therefore, areas affected by these pathological phenomena will also appear hyperintense in FDG-PET images, thus allowing to monitor their progression or response to a treatment. Furthermore, FDG-PET is also a great approach to evaluate cell viability within a tissue. Thus, dead or necrotic tissues, as those that die after a stroke, appear hypointense in FDG-PET images. Therefore, although these events are normally assessed by perfusion radiotracers (such as [<sup>13</sup>N]-ammonia or [<sup>15</sup>O]-water), particularly in cardiac events, FDG is a valuable alternative to avoid the reduced half-life limitation.

Finally, although FDG is the most common PET radiotracer in neuroimaging, other radiolabeled molecules are also used to explore specific physiological phenomena within the central nervous system. In fact, studies of neurotransmitters with, for instance, the dopamine receptors-binding radiotracers [<sup>11</sup>C]-raclopride or [<sup>18</sup>F]-fallypride (Sander & Hesse, 2017), the evaluation of the brain opioid system with the ligands [<sup>11</sup>C]-carfentanil and [<sup>11</sup>C]-diprenorphine (Sprenger et al., 2005), or the neuroinflammation assessment by TSPO-binding radiotracers (such as [<sup>11</sup>C]-(R)PK11195) and new generation molecules (Jain et al., 2020), are just few examples of the great variability of specific functional processes susceptible to be studied by PET neuroimaging.

37

# **1.3.** [<sup>18</sup>F]-FDG-PET in Deep Brain Stimulation

DBS procedures strongly benefit from neuroimaging techniques (Gonzalez-Escamilla et al., 2020). Beginning from the surgery planification, both structural (CT, MRI) and functional (PET, fMRI) modalities are required to determine the more suitable stimulation target for each pathology, together with its precise location within the patient's brain. Furthermore, imaging techniques also play a major role in study designs aimed to uncover in vivo the mechanism of action underlying to DBS outcomes through pre- and post-surgery imaging. Finally, of particular clinical relevance are the imaging trials aiming to determine neural activation patterns that allow to predict the potential treatment response to the DBS treatment (Rodman & Dougherty, 2016). Several clinical studies have addressed the effects of DBS in different neuropsychiatric disorders and brain targets using PET imaging with various radiotracers (Ballanger et al., 2009; Ko et al., 2013; Rodman & Dougherty, 2016). In this sense, PET provides a particularly suitable technique to scan patients with neurotherapeutic implants since they are not susceptible to disruptions in electrical or magnetic fields, which may impair both the quality of the image and the functioning of the neuromodulation systems (Rodman & Dougherty, 2016). Here, an overview of clinical and preclinical studies applying FDG-PET to evaluate the effects of DBS on several brain conditions and targets is presented.

# 1.3.1. Clinical studies

The first clinical trials evaluating the neural networks activated by DBS with FDG-PET belong to the neurology field. Specifically, Fukuda *et al.* were pioneers in describing the effects induced by GPi-DBS on resting-state brain glucose metabolism in seven Parkinson's disease patients (Fukuda et al., 2001). They showed that GPi-DBS induced significant metabolic reductions in the pattern associated with Parkinson's disease (pallidal, thalamic and brainstem hypermetabolism), which correlated with clinical improvement. Later, similar results were obtained in this network after STN-DBS (Asanuma et al., 2006; Cao et al., 2017; Lyoo et al., 2007; Nagaoka et al., 2007; Trošt et al., 2006; J. Wang et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2004), as well as a partially restored metabolism in limbic and associative regions of the basal ganglia (Hilker et al., 2004; le Jeune et al., 2009; le Jeune, Péron, et al., 2010). Furthermore, this metabolic modulation in the associative and limbic regions has been related to increases in weight gain observed in Parkinson's disease patients after four months of STN-DBS (Sauleau et al., 2014). Also, a common modulation of this Parkinson's disease-related network has been

seen with dopaminergic therapy, suggesting that effective symptomatic therapies in this disorder are based on common mechanisms (Asanuma et al., 2006).

Regarding neurological disorders, FDG-PET studies are mainly limited to Parkinson's disease with few recent exceptions, as in dystonia-deafness syndrome and in minimally conscious and vegetative state (Eskandar et al., 2018; Skogseid et al., 2018). Nevertheless, DBS has been evaluated in a variety of several psychiatric disorders by FDG-PET. In this sense, the first FDG-PET study performed in psychiatric patients aimed to evaluate the long-term effects of VC/VS-DBS in OCD patients (B. J. Nuttin et al., 2003). They included a functional imaging evaluation by FDG-PET and fMRI performed after three months of stimulation, and found a decreased metabolism in the frontal cortex. These results were later replicated by Le Jeune et al. after STN-DBS in ten OCD patients, suggesting that the therapeutic effect of STN-DBS would be related to an induced hypometabolism in the prefrontal cortex (le Jeune, Vrin, et al., 2010). Furthermore, other authors have addressed the modulatory effect on brain metabolism of VC/VS-DBS in OCD. Thus, Suetens et al. concluded that VC/VS-DBS induced similar metabolic changes in the cortico-striato-pallido-thalamo-cortical circuit to capsulotomy, although more pronounced and extended in the ablation cases, with a prominent metabolic decrease at the cingulate level (Suetens et al., 2014). Comparable improvements in clinical symptoms were obtained in both neurosurgical approaches (VC/VS-DBS and capsulotomy). Besides, a recent study in three patients showed local activation volumes at the stimulation sites (i.e. bilateral VC/VS) with DBS in ON condition, although different regional metabolic patterns were obtained across patients (Baldermann et al., 2019). Furthermore, metabolic patterns induced by DBS applied in other brain targets, such as inferior thalamic peduncle (D. J. Lee, Dallapiazza, et al., 2019), NAcc and ALIC (Park et al., 2019) have also been reported in OCD patients, resulting in reductions in FDG uptake in the striatum and cingulate, and limbic and frontal cortical regions, respectively.

Schlaepfer *et al.* carried out the first FDG-PET study evaluating the chronic effects of one week of NAcc-DBS in treatment-resistant depression, showing significant metabolic modulation in fronto-striatal networks (Schlaepfer et al., 2008b). Later, Millet *et al.* also tested NAcc-DBS neuromodulatory effects on depression and evidenced a regionalized effect on glucose metabolism, with decreases in the NAcc, cerebellum and posterior cingulate gyrus, and increases in the anterior cingulate gyrus (limbic lobe), among other structures (Millet et al., 2014). This group also attempted to stimulate the caudate nucleus when NAcc-DBS did not elicit the expected therapeutic response, but no clinical benefit

was obtained (Millet et al., 2014). Furthermore, few studies have evaluated SCC-DBS consequences on brain metabolism in treatment-resistant patients with depression. Thus, a reduction in SCC after 6 months of DBS correlated with improvement in symptoms (Brown et al., 2020). Remarkably, SCC metabolism was higher in responders than non-responders before starting DBS treatment. This finding is particularly interesting given that it is the first evidence of an imaging-based biomarker that predicts SCC-DBS response with 80% accuracy, based on machine learning analyses (Brown et al., 2020). Also, 48 hours of SCC-DBS discontinuation have been shown to induce metabolic reductions in areas involved in depression pathophysiology (i.e. cingulate, premotor region and putamen), which seem to precede clinical manifestations (Martín-Blanco et al., 2015).

In addition to OCD and treatment-resistant depression, FDG-PET studies have shown partial reversal of metabolic deficits in anorexia nervosa after NAcc-DBS (H.-W. Zhang et al., 2013) and SCC-DBS (Lipsman et al., 2017). Additionally, the second study demonstrated significant clinical improvements in depression, anxiety and weight after one year of SCC-DBS (Lipsman et al., 2017). No clinical outcomes were reported in (H.-W. Zhang et al., 2013). Scarce reports applying FDG-PET imaging have been published in other pathologies, such as two case reports of NAcc-DBS in a patient with autism spectrum disorder (Park et al., 2017), and VC/VS-DBS in a patient with explosive aggressive behavior (Giordano et al., 2017); as well as two clinical trials testing the effect of NAcc-DBS in schizophrenia (Roldán et al., 2020), and a combination of simultaneous NAcc- and ALIC-DBS in heroin addiction (L. Chen et al., 2019). In all cases, symptomatic improvement was observed, together with metabolic changes in the regions related with the pathology under study.

# 1.3.2. Preclinical studies

In comparison to clinical studies, the number of preclinical studies evaluating the neuromodulatory effects of DBS on brain metabolism by FDG-PET is particularly reduced. In this sense, only eight articles (excluding those included in this thesis) using this imaging approach have been identified, and they all date back to this last decade.

The first of them highlighted the innovation that this approach supposes in the preclinical field (Klein et al., 2011). Thus, Klein *et al.* unilaterally implanted DBS electrodes in the STN in six healthy rats, and performed two FDG-PET acquisitions (i.e. seven and nine days after surgery) (Klein et al., 2011). They explored the effects of acute high-frequency

DBS by applying the stimulation during the FDG uptake period of the second PET study. They found that STN-DBS increases the metabolism in the brainstem, cingulate cortex, mediodorsal thalamus, GP and caudate nucleus; as well as it induces a hypometabolism in the amygdala, entorhinal, somatosensory cortex, hippocampus and prelimbic cortex. However, this metabolic pattern was partially contradicted by post mortem c-Fos immunostaining although, as they explained, both techniques may complement each other in deciphering alterations in neuronal activity (Klein et al., 2011). In fact, as it is literally stated in their manuscript "Whereas, FDG-uptake has been proposed to reflect metabolic activityat presynaptic terminals, c-Fos induction has been suggested to indicate metabolic activity within the post-synaptic cell body" (Klein et al., 2011). Apetz et al. also studied the acute effects of high-frequency STN-DBS with FDG-PET but, this time, in a rat model of Parkinson's disease (Apetz et al., 2019). This model consists of performing a unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) injection into the medial forebrain bundle, inducing dopamine depletion. After applying similar DBS and imaging protocols to those decribed in (Klein et al., 2011), they reported a reversion of the pathological metabolic pattern described in this model by inducing a hypermetabolic effect in the ipsilesional ventrolateral striatum, together with a reduced metabolism in the contralesional hippocampus, thalamus and brainstem (Apetz et al., 2019).

Two animal studies have evaluated the DBS effects on memory-related regions. On the one hand, Van Den Berge et al. stimulated the right hippocampus in seven adult healthy rats by means of high-frequency DBS (van den Berge et al., 2015). Three PET scans of each animal were acquired: before surgery, after surgery and after one hour (30 minutes during FDG uptake) of hippocampal DBS. They studied both the stimulation and the electrode implantation effects alone and in combination, and observed significant metabolic reductions in both hippocampi and in other limbic structures. Of interest, the electrode implantation alone elicited a local hypometabolism at the brain target area (i.e. right hippocampus), suggesting that DBS might modulate the same regions as the electrode, but inducing a larger and more intense effect (van den Berge et al., 2015). On the other hand, Shin et al. selected the fornix as DBS target in fifteen healthy adult rats (Shin et al., 2019). They acquired two FDG-PET scans of each animal, with "on" and "off" stimulation conditions, respectively. High-frequency fornix-DBS was applied during the 30 minutes of FDG uptake, and generalized metabolic increases were observed in the medial subcortical structures which belong to the limbic circuit, as well as in the NAcc. They also reported significant reductions in different cortical regions and the cerebellum (Shin et al., 2019).

Furthermore, acute effects of medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and NAcc high-frequency stimulation have been tested on brain glucose metabolism in a maternal immune stimulation (MIS) rat model of schizophrenia (Bikovsky et al., 2016). This is a neurodevelopmental model which consists on the induction of an inflammatory response in the fetal brain by inoculating an immunogenic substance (e.g. Poly I:C acid) to the pregnant dam. As a result, there is a greater risk for the offspring to develop sensorimotor-gating and attentional-selectivity behavioral deficits, as well as altered metabolic, volumetric and oxidative stress patterns in the brain, at adulthood (Casquero-Veiga et al., 2019; Ravit Hadar et al., 2015). In this study, Bikovsky et al. performed the DBS surgeries at adulthood and, as in previous cases, the stimulation was applied during the FDG uptake period in order to evaluate which brain target was most appropriate in schizophrenia (Bikovsky et al., 2016). Thus, although NAcc- and mPFC-DBS similarly improved the behavioral deficits in the MIS model, substantial differences were shown at the brain metabolic level. In fact, while mPFC-DBS modulated the glucose metabolism in several limbic and cognitive regions, no remarkable changes were observed after NAcc-DBS in the MIS model (Bikovsky et al., 2016). The modulatory and behavioral results observed after mPFC-DBS led the authors to go one step further in this research work. Thus, they evaluated the preventive potential of mPFC-DBS applied during adolescence in the MIS model (R Hadar et al., 2017). To this end, they applied continuous stimulation (24 hours) of high-frequency during fifteen days at adolescence, and carried out the behavioral and imaging analyses at adulthood. Thus, Hadar et al. only reported minor effects of mPFC-DBS applied to MIS animals. As an explanation to these scarce results, authors suggest that the modulation inferred on brain metabolism during adolescence may be transient and, although effective in preventing the behavioral deficits of the MIS model, a FDG-PET study conducted two months after completion of stimulation would not be able to capture the induced changes (R Hadar et al., 2017).

As in humans, neuropathic pain has also been addressed using DBS in preclinical models. In this sense, one study evaluated the effects of motor cortex stimulation in a rat model of neuropathic pain (Kim et al., 2016). A partial counteraction of the neuropathic pain metabolic pattern was observed by stimulating the motor cortex (i.e. FDG uptake increases in cerebellum, right thalamus and right striatum), along with effective reduction of the neuropathic pain in this model (Kim et al., 2016). Finally, Soto-Montenegro *et al.* proved in 2014 that intermittent high-frequency LH-DBS (one hour) applied during fifteen consecutive days in a genetic model of resistant obesity was able to reduce the weight gain in the long-term (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). Remarkably, they also reported a

42
metabolic modulation in brain regions impaired in obesity, such as the brain areas involved in food intake control, brain reward system (cortico-striato-thalamic pathway) and memory functions (hippocampus), one day after finishing the LH-DBS treatment. Of importance, this study set the basis to the later development of the experimental works which conform the chapters 5, 6 and 7 of the present thesis.

References

- Agari, T., & Date, I. (2015). Stimulation of Subthalamic Nucleus for Parkinson's Disease. In T. Itakura (Ed.), Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders - Theoretical Background and Clinical Application (1st ed., pp. 73–86). Springer Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_7
- Agarwal, S., & Biagioni, M. C. (2020). *Essential Tremor*. StatPearls Publishing LLC. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK499986/
- Agnesi, F., Johnson, M. D., & Vitek, J. L. (2013). Deep brain stimulation. how does it work? In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 116, pp. 39–54). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53497-2.00004-8
- Alberts, W. W., Feinstein, B., Levin, G., & Wright Jr., E. W. (1966). Electrical stimulation of therapeutic targets in waking dyskinetic patients. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 20(6), 559–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(66)90020-4
- Apetz, N., Kordys, E., Simon, M., Mang, B., Aswendt, M., Wiedermann, D., Neumaier, B., Drzezga, A., Timmermann, L., & Endepols, H. (2019). Effects of subthalamic deep brain stimulation on striatal metabolic connectivity in a rat hemiparkinsonian model. *DMM Disease Models and Mechanisms*, *12*(5). https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.039065
- Asanuma, K., Tang, C., Ma, Y., Dhawan, V., Mattis, P., Edwards, C., Kaplitt, M. G., Feigin, A., & Eidelberg, D. (2006). Network modulation in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, *129*(10), 2667–2678. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl162
- Ashkan, K., Rogers, P., Bergman, H., & Ughratdar, I. (2017). Insights into the mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *13*(9), 548–554. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2017.105
- Baldermann, J. C., Bohn, K. P., Hammes, J., Schüller, C. B., Visser-Vandewalle, V., Drzezga, A., & Kuhn, J. (2019). Local and global changes in brain metabolism during deep brain stimulation for obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Brain Sciences*, *9*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci9090220
- Ballanger, B., Jahanshahi, M., Broussolle, E., & Thobois, S. (2009). PET functional imaging of deep brain stimulation in movement disorders and psychiatry. In *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism* (Vol. 29, Issue 11, pp. 1743–1754). https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2009.111
- Ban, T. A. (2007). Fifty years chlorpromazine: a historical perspective. In *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment* (Vol. 3, Issue 4).

- Barcia, J. A., Reyes, L., Arza, R., Saceda, J., Avecillas, J., Yáñez, R., García-Albea, J., Ortiz, T., López-Ibor, M. I., & López-Ibor, J. J. (2014). Deep brain stimulation for obsessivecompulsive disorder: Is the side relevant? *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, 92(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1159/000353187
- Baumeister, A. A. (2000). The Tulane Electrical Brain Stimulation Program A Historical Case Study in Medical Ethics (Vol. 9, Issue 3).
- Beijing Pins Medical Co., L. (2016). NCT02254395 PINS Stimulator System for Deep Brain Stimulation to Treat Obesity. ClinicalTrials.Gov - U.S. National Library of Medicine. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT02254395?term=deep+brain+stimulation&c ond=Obesity&draw=2&rank=4
- Benabid, A L, Pollak, P., Hoffmann, D., Gervason, C., Hommel, M., Perret, J. E., de Rougemont, J., Gao, D. M., Correspondence, ), & Pollak, D. P. (1991). Long-term suppression of tremor by chronic stimulation of the ventral intermediate thalamic nucleus. *The Lancet*, 337(8738), 403–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(91)91175-t
- Benabid, A L, Pollak, P., Louveau, A., Henry, S., & de Rougemont, J. (1987). Combined (thalamotomy and stimulation) stereotactic surgery of the VIM thalamic nucleus for bilateral Parkinson disease. *Applied Neurophysiology*, 50(1–6), 344–346. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1159/000100803
- Benabid, A., Pollak, P., Gross, C., Hoffmann, D., Benazzouz, A., Gao, D., Laurrent, A., Gentil, M., & Perret, J. (1994). Acute and long-term effects of subthalamic nucleus stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, 62(1–4), 76–84. https://doi.org/10.1159/000098600.
- Benabid, Alim L, Pollak, P., Hoffmann, D., Limousin, P., Gay, E., Payen, I., & Benazzouz, A. (1996). Chronic electrical stimulation of the ventralis intermedius nucleus of the thalamus as a treatment of movement disorders. *J. Neurosurg*, *84*(2), 203–214. https://doi.org/10.3171/jns.1996.84.2.0203
- Berg, E., & Cherry, S. R. (2018). Innovations in Instrumentation for Positron Emission Tomography. In Seminars in Nuclear Medicine (Vol. 48, Issue 4, pp. 311–331). W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2018.02.006
- Beurrier, C., Bioulac, B., Audin, J., & Hammond, C. (2001). *High-Frequency Stimulation Produces a Transient Blockade of Voltage-Gated Currents in Subthalamic Neurons*. www.jn.physiology.org
- Bewernick, B. H., Hurlemann, R., Matusch, A., Kayser, S., Grubert, C., Hadrysiewicz, B., Axmacher, N., Lemke, M., Cooper-Mahkorn, D., Cohen, M. X., Brockmann, H., Lenartz, D., Sturm, V., & Schlaepfer, T. E. (2010). Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation decreases ratings of depression and anxiety in treatment-resistant depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(2), 110–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.013
- Bewernick, B. H., Kayser, S., Sturm, V., & Schlaepfer, T. E. (2012). Long-term effects of nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation in treatment-resistant depression: Evidence for sustained efficacy. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(9), 1975–1985. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.44

- Bikovsky, L., Hadar, R., Soto-Montenegro, M. L., Klein, J., Weiner, I., Desco, M., Pascau, J., Winter, C., & Hamani, C. (2016). Deep brain stimulation improves behavior and modulates neural circuits in a rodent model of schizophrenia. *Experimental Neurology*, 283, 142–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.06.012
- Blaha, C. D. (2016). Theories of Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms. In Kendal H. Lee, P. S. Duffy, & A. J. Bieber (Eds.), *Deep Brain Stimulation: Indictions and Applications* (pp. 314–338). Pan Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd.
- Brown, E. C., Clark, D. L., Forkert, N. D., Molnar, C. P., Kiss, Z. H. T., & Ramasubbu, R. (2020). Metabolic activity in subcallosal cingulate predicts response to deep brain stimulation for depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-020-0745-5
- Cao, C., Zhang, huiwei, Li, D., Zhan, S., Zhang, J., Zhang, X., Zuo, C., & Sun, B. (2017). Modified Fluorodeoxyglucose Metabolism in Motor Circuitry by Subthalamic Deep Brain Stimulation. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, 95(2), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1159/000455930
- Carron, R., Chaillet, A., Filipchuk, A., Pasillas-Lépine, W., & Hammond, C. (2013). Closing the loop of deep brain stimulation. In *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience* (Vol. 7, Issue DEC). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2013.00112
- Casquero-Veiga, M., García-García, D., MacDowell, K. S., Pérez-Caballero, L., Torres-Sánchez, S., Fraguas, D., Berrocoso, E., Leza, J. C., Arango, C., Desco, M., & Soto-Montenegro, M. L. (2019). Risperidone administered during adolescence induced metabolic, anatomical and inflammatory/oxidative changes in adult brain: A PET and MRI study in the maternal immune stimulation animal model. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2019.05.002
- Castrioto, A., Lozano, A. M., Poon, Y. Y., Lang, A. E., Fallis, M., & Moro, E. (2011). Ten-year outcome of subthalamic stimulation in Parkinson disease: A blinded evaluation. *Archives of Neurology*, *68*(12), 1550–1556. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2011.182
- Chang, S.-Y., & Lee, K. H. (2017). The Role of Astrocytes in Deep Brain Stimulation. In Kendall H. Lee, P. S. Duffy, & A. J. Bieber (Eds.), *Deep Brain Stimulation: Indications and Applications* (pp. 339–355). Pan Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315364759
- Chen, J. J., Wieckowska, M., Meyer, E., & Pike, G. B. (2008). Cerebral blood flow measurement using fMRI and PET: A cross-validation study. *International Journal of Biomedical Imaging*, 2008(1). https://doi.org/10.1155/2008/516359
- Chen, L., Li, N., Ge, S., Lozano, A. M., Lee, D. J., Yang, C., Li, L., Bai, Q., Lu, H., Wang, J., Wang, X., Li, J., Jing, J., Su, M., Wei, L., Wang, X., & Gao, G. (2019). Long-term results after deep brain stimulation of nucleus accumbens and the anterior limb of the internal capsule for preventing heroin relapse: An open-label pilot study. *Brain Stimulation*, *12*(1), 175–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.09.006
- Chiken, S., & Nambu, A. (2014). Disrupting neuronal transmission: mechanism of DBS? *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 8(March), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00033

- Chiken, S., & Nambu, A. (2015). Mechanism of Deep Brain Stimulation: Inhibition, Excitation, or Disruption? *Neuroscientist*, 22(3), 313–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858415581986
- Christou, N. v., Look, D., & MacLean, L. D. (2006). Weight gain after short- and long-limb gastric bypass in patients followed for longer than 10 years. *Annals of Surgery*, *244*(5), 734–740. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000217592.04061.d5
- Cooper, I. S., Upton, A. R. M., & Amin, I. (1980). Reversibility of Chronic Neurologic Deficits.
  Some Effects of Electrical Stimulation of the Thalamus and Internal Capsule in Man.
  Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery, 43(3–5), 244–258.
  https://doi.org/doi:10.1159/000102263
- Correia, M. (2015). Psychosurgery (1974-2014). Withdrawals and revivals. New movements and old inspirations. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, *338*(8–9), 602–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crvi.2015.06.004
- Cushing, H. (1909). A Note upon the Faradic Stimulation of the Postcentral Gyrus in Conscious Patients. *Brain*, *32*(1), 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/32.1.44
- Cussó, L. (2014). Advantages and Applications of Quantitative Molecular Imaging.
- Dalton, B., Campbell, I. C., & Schmidt, U. (2017). Neuromodulation and neurofeedback treatments in eating disorders and obesity. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *30*(6), 458–473. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.00000000000361
- de Salles, A. A. F., Barbosa, D. A. N., Fernandes, F., Abucham, J., Nazato, D. M., Oliveira, J. D., Cury, A., Biasi, A., Rossi, R., Lasagno, C., Bueno, P. T., Santos, R. H. N., Damiani, L. P., & Gorgulho, A. A. (2018). An Open-Label Clinical Trial of Hypothalamic Deep Brain Stimulation for Human Morbid Obesity: BLESS Study Protocol. *Neurosurgery*, *83*(4), 800–809. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuros/nyy024
- Delgado, J. M. R. (1969). *Physical Control of the Mind: Towards a Psychocivilized Society*. Harper and Row.
- Deuschl, G., Raethjen, J., Hellriegel, H., & Elble, R. (2011). Treatment of patients with essential tremor. In *The Lancet Neurology* (Vol. 10, Issue 2, pp. 148–161). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70322-7
- Dieckmann, G. (1979). Chronic mediothalamic stimulation for control of phobias. In E. R. Hitchcock, H. T. Jr. Ballantine, & Meyerson B.A. (Eds.), *Modern Concepts in Psychiatric Surgery* (pp. 85–93). Elsevier.
- Doucette, W. T., Khokhar, J. Y., & Green, A. I. (2015). Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation in a rat model of binge eating. *Translational Psychiatry*, *5*(12), e695-6. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2015.197
- Dougherty, D. D., Rezai, A. R., Carpenter, L. L., Howland, R. H., Bhati, M. T., Reardon, J. P. O., Eskandar, E. N., Baltuch, G. H., Machado, A. D., Kondziolka, D., Cusin, C., Evans, K. C., Price, L. H., Jacobs, K., Pandya, M., Denko, T., Tyrka, A. R., Brelje, T., Deckersbach, T., ... Jr, D. A. M. (2015). Archival Report A Randomized Sham-Controlled Trial of Deep Brain Stimulation of the Ventral Capsule / Ventral Striatum for Chronic Treatment-Resistant Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78(4), 240–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.11.023

- Eskandar, E., Chudy, D., Deletis, V., Almahariq, F., Marčinković, P., Škrlin, J., Paradžik, V., & Physioth, B. (2018). Thalamic stimulation in vegetative or minimally conscious patients. In *Journal of Neurosurgery* (Vol. 128, Issue 4, pp. 1187–1188). American Association of Neurological Surgeons. https://doi.org/10.3171/2017.3.JNS162558
- Fasano, A., Romito, L. M., Daniele, A., Piano, C., Zinno, M., Bentivoglio, A. R., & Albanese, A. (2010). Motor and cognitive outcome in patients with Parkinson's disease 8 years after subthalamic implants. *Brain*, 133(9), 2664–2676. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq221
- Fisher, R., Salanova, V., Witt, T., Worth, R., Henry, T., Gross, R., Oommen, K., Osorio, I., Nazzaro, J., Labar, D., Kaplitt, M., Sperling, M., Sandok, E., Neal, J., Handforth, A., Stern, J., DeSalles, A., Chung, S., Shetter, A., ... Young, C. (2010). Electrical stimulation of the anterior nucleus of thalamus for treatment of refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, *51*(5), 899– 908. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02536.x
- Follett, K. A., Weaver, F. M., Stern, M., Hur, K., Harris, C. L., Luo, P., Marks, W. J., Rothlind, J., Sagher, O., Moy, C., Pahwa, R., Burchiel, K., Hogarth, P., Lai, E. C., Duda, J. E., Holloway, K., Samii, A., Horn, S., Bronstein, J. M., ... Reda, D. J. (2010). Pallidal versus subthalamic deep-brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *362*(22), 2077–2091. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0907083
- Food and Drug Association. (2018). *Medical Imaging*. Fda.Gov. https://doi.org/https://www.fda.gov/radiation-emitting-products/radiation-emittingproducts-and-procedures/medical-imaging
- Formolo, D. A., Gaspar, J. M., Melo, H. M., Eichwald, T., Zepeda, R. J., Latini, A., Okun, M. S., & Walz, R. (2019). Deep Brain Stimulation for Obesity: A Review and Future Directions. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *13*(April). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00323
- Franco, R., Fonoff, E. T., Alvarenga, P., Lopes, A. C., Miguel, E. C., Teixeira, M. J., Damiani, D., & Hamani, C. (2016). DBS for obesity. *Brain Sciences*, *6*(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci6030021
- Franco, R. R., Fonoff, E. T., Alvarenga, P. G., Alho, E. J. L., Lopes, A. C., Hoexter, M. Q., Batistuzzo, M. C., Paiva, R. R., Taub, A., Shavitt, R. G., Miguel, E. C., Teixeira, M. J., Damiani, D., & Hamani, C. (2018). Assessment of Safety and Outcome of Lateral Hypothalamic Deep Brain Stimulation for Obesity in a Small Series of Patients With Prader-Willi Syndrome. *JAMA Network Open*, 1(7), e185275. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.5275
- Fukuda, M., Mentis, M. J., Ma, Y., Dhawan, V., Antonini, A., Lang, A. E., Lozano, A. M., Hammerstad, J., Lyons, K., Koller, W. C., Moeller, J. R., & Eidelberg, D. (2001). Networks mediating the clinical effects of pallidal brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease: a PET study of resting-state glucose metabolism. *Brain*, *Pt* 8, 1601–1609. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.8.1601
- Gearhardt, A. N., Yokum, S., Orr, P. T., Stice, E., Corbin, W. R., & Brownell, K. D. (2011). Neural correlates of food addiction. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *68*(8), 808–816. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.32
- Giffin, M., Figee, M., & Denys, D. (2016). Deep brain stimulation for the treatment of obsessivecompulsive disorder. In C. Hamani, P. Holtzeimer, A. M. Lozano, & H. Mayberg (Eds.),

*Neuromodulation in Psychiatry* (1st ed., pp. 295–307). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118801086.ch15

- Gildenberg, P. L. (2009). Neuromodulation: A Historical Perspective. In *Neuromodulation* (Vol. 1, pp. 9–20). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374248-3.00003-3
- Giordano, F., Cavallo, M., Spacca, B., Pallanti, S., Tomaiuolo, F., Pieraccini, F., Fagiolini, A., Grandoni, M., Melani, F., Zicca, A., Sestini, S., & Genitori, L. (2017). Deep Brain Stimulation of the Anterior Limb of the Internal Capsule May Be Efficacious for Explosive Aggressive Behaviour. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, *94*(6), 371–378. https://doi.org/10.1159/000449171
- Gippert, S. M., Switala, C., Bewernick, B. H., Kayser, S., Bräuer, A., Coenen, V. A., & Schlaepfer, T. E. (2017). Deep brain stimulation for bipolar disorder - Review and outlook. In CNS Spectrums (Vol. 22, Issue 3, pp. 254–257). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852915000577
- Gonzalez-Escamilla, G., Muthuraman, M., Ciolac, D., Coenen, V. A., Schnitzler, A., & Groppa, S. (2020). Neuroimaging and electrophysiology meet invasive neurostimulation for causal interrogations and modulations of brain states. *NeuroImage*, 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117144
- Greenberg, B. D., Malone, D. A., Friehs, G. M., Rezai, A. R., Kubu, C. S., Malloy, P. F., Salloway, S. P., Okun, M. S., Goodman, W. K., & Rasmussen, S. A. (2006). Three-year outcomes in deep brain stimulation for highly resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *31*(11), 2384–2393. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301165
- Habelt, B., Arvaneh, M., Bernhardt, N., & Minev, I. (2020). Biomarkers and neuromodulation techniques in substance use disorders. *Bioelectronic Medicine*, *6*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42234-020-0040-0
- Hadar, R, Bikovski, L., Soto-Montenegro, M. L., Schimke, J., Maier, P., Ewing, S., Voget, M., Wieske, F., Götz, T., Desco, M., Hamani, C., Pascau, J., Weiner, I., & Winter, C. (2017). Early neuromodulation prevents the development of brain and behavioral abnormalities in a rodent model of schizophrenia. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *February*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.52
- Hadar, Ravit, Soto-Montenegro, M. L., Götz, T., Wieske, F., Sohr, R., Desco, M., Hamani, C., Weiner, I., Pascau, J., & Winter, C. (2015). Using a maternal immune stimulation model of schizophrenia to study behavioral and neurobiological alterations over the developmental course. *Schizophrenia Research*, 166(1–3), 238–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2015.05.010
- Halpern, C. H., Keating, J. G., Wolf, J., Bs, W. C. R., Jaggi, J. L., Baltuch, G. H., Dichter, M. A., & Bale, T. L. (2008). Deep Brain Stimulation of the Nucleus Accumbens Attenuates Binge Eating in Mice: Preliminary Evidence for A Potential Therapeutic Role of Neuromodulation in Treatment-Refractory Obesity. 28(35).
- Halpern, C. H., Torres, N., Hurtig, H. I., Wolf, J. A., Stephen, J., Oh, M. Y., Williams, N. N., Dichter, M. A., Jaggi, J. L., Caplan, A. L., Kampman, K. M., Wadden, T. A., Whiting, D. M., & Baltuch, G. H. (2011). Expanding applications of deep brain stimulation: A potential therapeutic role in obesity and addiction management. *Acta Neurochirurgica*, *153*(12), 2293–2306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-011-1166-3

- Hamani, C., McAndrews, M. P., Cohn, M., Oh, M., Zumsteg, D., Shapiro, C. M., Wennberg, R. A., & Lozano, A. M. (2008). Memory enhancement induced by hypothalamic/fornix deep brain stimulation. *Annals of Neurology*, 63(1), 119–123. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21295
- Hamani, C., Sankar, T., & Tierney, T. (2012). Novel applications of deep brain stimulation. *Surgical Neurology International*, *3*(2), 26. https://doi.org/10.4103/2152-7806.91607
- Hammond, C., Ammari, R., Bioulac, B., & Garcia, L. (2008). Latest view on the mechanism of action of deep brain stimulation. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 23, Issue 15, pp. 2111– 2121). https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22120
- Harat, M., Rudaś, M., Zieliński, P., Birska, J., & Sokal, P. (2016). Nucleus accumbens stimulation in pathological obesity. *Neurologia i Neurochirurgia Polska*, *50*(3), 207–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pjnns.2016.01.014
- Hariz, M. (2016). History of invasive brain stimulation in psychiatry: Lessons for the current practice of neuromodulation. In C. Hamani, P. Holtzheimer, A. M. Lozano, & H. Mayberg (Eds.), *Neuromodulation in Psychiatry* (1st ed., pp. 1–14). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118801086.ch1
- Heller, A. C., Amar, A. P., Liu, C. Y., & Apuzzo, M. L. J. (2006). Surgery of the mind and mood: A mosaic of issues in time and evolution. In *Neurosurgery* (Vol. 59, Issue 4, pp. 720–733). https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000240227.72514.27
- Herrington, T. M., Cheng, J. J., & Eskandar, E. N. (2016). Mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. *J Neurophysiol*, *115*, 19–38. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00281.2015.-Deep
- Hilker, R., Voge, J., Weisenbach, S., Kalbe, E., Burghaus, L., Ghaemi, M., Lehrke, R., Koulousakis, A., Herholz, K., Sturm, V., & Heiss, W.-D. (2004). Subthalamic nucleus stimulation restores glucose metabolism in associative and limbic cortices and in cerebellum: evidence from a FDG-PET study in advanced Parkinson's disease. *Journal* of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 24(1), 7–16. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.WCB.0000092831.44769.09
- Hoffman, R. M. (2005). The multiple uses of fluorescent proteins to visualize cancer in vivo. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *5*(10), 796–806. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1717
- Holtzheimer, P. E., Kelley, M. E., Gross, R. E., Filkowski, M. M., Garlow, S. J., Barrocas, A., Wint, D., Craighead, M. C., Kozarsky, J., Chismar, R., Moreines, J. L., Mewes, K., Riva Posse, P., Gutman, D. A., & Mayberg, H. S. (2012). Subcallosal cingulate deep brain stimulation for treatment-resistant unipolar and bipolar depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(2), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1456
- Honey, C. (2018). *NCT03708913 Neuromodulation for Hypothalamic Obesity*. ClinicalTrials.Gov - U.S. National Library of Medicine. https://doi.org/https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03708913?term=deep+brain+stimu lation&cond=Obesity&draw=2&rank=6
- Hooker, J. M., & Carson, R. E. (2019). Human Positron Emission Tomography Neuroimaging. Annual REview of Biomedical Engineering, 21, 551–581. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevbioeng-062117

- Hruby, A., & Hu, F. B. (2015). The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. In *PharmacoEconomics* (Vol. 33, Issue 7, pp. 673–689). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Jaffer, F. A., & Weissleder, R. (2005). Molecular Imaging in the Clinical Arena. *JAMA*, *293*(7), 855. https://doi.org/Jaffer, F. A. (2005). Molecular Imaging in the Clinical Arena. JAMA, 293(7), 855. doi:10.1001/jama.293.7.855
- Jain, P., Chaney, A. M., Carlson, M. L., Jackson, I. M., Rao, A., & James, M. L. (2020). Neuroinflammation PET Imaging: Current Opinion and Future Directions. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine: Official Publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine*, 61(8), 1107–1112. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.119.229443
- Joranby, L., Pineda, K. F., & Gold, M. S. (2005). Addiction to food and brain reward systems. *Sexual Addiction and Compulsivity*, *12*(2–3), 201–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160500203765
- Kasoff, W., & Gross, R. E. (2016). Deep Brain Stimulation: Introduction and Technical Aspects. In C. Hamani, P. Holtzheimer, A. M. Lozano, & H. Mayberg (Eds.), *Neuromodulation in Psychiatry* (1st ed., pp. 245–275). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118801086.ch13
- Kennedy, S. H., Kenneth Evans, F. R., Krüger, S., Mayberg, H. S., Jeffrey Meyer, F. H., Sonia McCann, F., Arifuzzman, A. I., Sylvain Houle, B., & Vaccarino, F. J. (2001). Changes in Regional Brain Glucose Metabolism Measured With Positron Emission Tomography After Paroxetine Treatment of Major Depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, *158*(6), 899–905. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.6.899
- Kennedy, S. H., Konarski, J. Z., Segal, Z. v, Lau, M. A., Bieling, P. J., McIntyre, R. S., & Mayberg, H. S. (2007). Differences in Brain Glucose Metabolism Between Responders to CBT and Venlafaxine in a 16-Week Randomized Controlled Trial. *Am J Psychiatry*, *164*(5), 778–788. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2007.164.5.778
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Koretz, D., Merikangas, K. R., Rush, A. J., Walters, E. E., & Wang, P. (2003). The Epidemiology of Major Depressive Disorder Results From the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *JAMA*, *289*(23), 3095. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.289.23.3095
- Kim, J., Ryu, S. B., Lee, S. E., Shin, J., Jung, H. H., Kim, S. J., Kim, K. H., & Chang, J. W. (2016). Motor cortex stimulation and neuropathic pain: How does motor cortex stimulation affect pain-signaling pathways? *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 124(3), 866–876. https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.JNS14891
- Klein, J., Soto-Montenegro, M. L., Pascau, J., Günther, L., Kupsch, A., Desco, M., & Winter, C. (2011). A novel approach to investigate neuronal network activity patterns affected by deep brain stimulation in rats. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 45(7), 927–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.12.008
- Kleiner-Fisman, G., Liang, G. S. L., Moberg, P. J., Ruocco, A. C., Hurtig, H. I., Baltuch, G. H., Jaggi, J. L., & Stern, M. B. (2007). Subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation for severe idiopathic dystonia: Impact on severity, neuropsychological status, and quality of life. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 107(1), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.3171/JNS-07/07/0029

- Klinger, N. v., & Mittal, S. (2016). Clinical efficacy of deep brain stimulation for the treatment of medically refractory epilepsy. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, *140*, 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2015.11.009
- Ko, J. H., Tang, C. C., & Eidelberg, D. (2013). Chapter 8 Brain stimulation and functional imaging with fMRI and PET. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, *116*, 77–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53497-2.00008-5
- Koch, P., & Baltuch, G. (2015). Deep Brain Stimulation for Epilepsy: Evidence for Limbic Network Disruption via Chronic Anterior Nucleus of the Thalamus and Hippocampus Stimulation. In T. Itakura (Ed.), *Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders -Theoretical Background and Clinical Application* (1st ed., pp. 183–193). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_14
- Koller, W. C., & Vetere-Overfield, B. (1989). Acute and chronic effects of propranolol and primidone in essential tremor. *Neurology*, 39(12), 1587–1588. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.39.12.1587
- Krishna, V., King, N. K. K., Sammartino, F., Strauss, I., Andrade, D. M., Wennberg, R. A., & Lozano, A. M. (2016). Anterior Nucleus Deep Brain Stimulation for Refractory Epilepsy. *Neurosurgery*, 78(6), 802–811. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.000000000001197
- Kushner, R. F. (2014). Weight loss strategies for treatment of obesity. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, *56*(4), 465–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2013.09.005
- Ie Jeune, F., Drapier, D., Bouguignon, A., Péron, J., Mesbah, H., Drapier, S., Sauleau, P., Haegelen, C., Travers, D., Garin, E., Malbert, C. H., Millet, B., & Vérin, M. (2009). Subthalamic nucleus stimulation in Parkinson disease induces apathy: a PET study. *Neurology*, *73*(21), 1746–1751. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c34b34
- le Jeune, F., Péron, J., Grandjean, D., Drapier, S., Haegelen, C., Garin, E., Millet, B., & Vérin, M. (2010). Subthalamic nucleus stimulation affects limbic and associative circuits: A PET study. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*, 37(8), 1512–1520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-010-1436-y
- Ie Jeune, F., Vrin, M., N'Diaye, K., Drapier, D., Leray, E., du Montcel, S. T., Baup, N., Pelissolo, A., Polosan, M., Mallet, L., Yelnik, J., Devaux, B., Fontaine, D., Chereau, I., Bourguignon, A., Peron, J., Sauleau, P., Raoul, S., Garin, E., ... Millet, B. (2010). Decrease of prefrontal metabolism after subthalamic stimulation in obsessive-compulsive disorder: A positron emission tomography study. *Biological Psychiatry*, *68*(11), 1016–1022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.033
- Lee, D. J., Dallapiazza, R. F., de Vloo, P., Elias, G. J. B., Fomenko, A., Boutet, A., Giacobbe, P., & Lozano, A. M. (2019). Inferior thalamic peduncle deep brain stimulation for treatmentrefractory obsessive-compulsive disorder: A phase 1 pilot trial. *Brain Stimulation*, *12*(2), 344–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.11.012
- Lee, D. J., Lozano, C. S., Dallapiazza, R. F., & Lozano, A. M. (2019). Current and future directions of deep brain stimulation for neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 131(2), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.4.JNS181761

- Lee, Kendall H., Duffy, P. S., & Blaha, C. D. (2016). Overview of the History and Application of Deep Brain Stimulation. In Kendall H. Lee, P. S. Duffy, & A. J. Bieber (Eds.), *Deep Brain Stimulation: Indications and Applications* (pp. 3–24). Pan Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd.
- Lehman, R. M., & Augustine, J. R. (2013). Evolution and rebirth of functional stereotaxy in the subthalamus. In *World Neurosurgery* (Vol. 80, Issue 5, pp. 521–533). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2012.03.006
- Leksell, L. (1949). A stereotaxic apparatus for intracerebral surgery. *Acta Chirurgica Scandinavica*, *99*(3), 229–233.
- Lind, G., Schechtmann, G., Lind, C., Winter, J., Meyerson, B. A., & Linderoth, B. (2008). Subthalamic stimulation for essential tremor. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, *86*(4), 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1159/000138769
- Lipsman, N., Lam, E., Volpini, M., Sutandar, K., Twose, R., Giacobbe, P., Sodums, D. J., Smith, G. S., Woodside, D. B., & Lozano, A. M. (2017). Deep brain stimulation of the subcallosal cingulate for treatment-refractory anorexia nervosa: 1 year follow-up of an open-label trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 4(4), 285–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30076-7
- Lipsman, N., & Lozano, A. M. (2015). Deep Brain Stimulation for Psychiatric Disorders. In T. Itakura (Ed.), Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders - Theoretical Background and Clinical Application (1st ed., pp. 169–181). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_13
- Louis, E. (2001). Clinical Practice. Essential tremor. *N Engl J Med*, 345(12), 887–891. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMcp010928
- Lozano, A. M. (2020). *NCT03650309 Deep Brain Stimulation for Morbid Obesity*. ClinicalTrials.Gov - U.S. National Library of Medicine. https://doi.org/https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT03650309?term=deep+brain +stimulation&cond=Obesity&draw=2&rank=2
- Lozano, A. M., Lipsman, N., Bergman, H., Brown, P., Chabardes, S., Chang, J. W., Matthews, K., McIntyre, C. C., Schlaepfer, T. E., Schulder, M., Temel, Y., Volkmann, J., & Krauss, J. K. (2019). Deep brain stimulation: current challenges and future directions. In *Nature Reviews Neurology* (Vol. 15, Issue 3, pp. 148–160). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0128-2
- Lu, F.-M., & Yuan, Z. (2015). PET/SPECT molecular imaging in clinical neuroscience: recent advances in the investigation of CNS diseases. *Quantitative Imaging in Medicine and Surgery*, 5(3), 433–447. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2223-4292.2015.03.16
- Lyoo, C. H., Aalto, S., Rinne, J. O., Lee, K. O., Oh, S. H., Chango, J. W., & Lee, M. S. (2007). Different cerebral cortical areas influence the effect of subthalamic nucleus stimulation on parkinsonian motor deficits and freezing of gait. *Movement Disorders*, 22(15), 2176– 2182. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21609
- Magistretti, P. J. (2006). Neuron-glia metabolic coupling and plasticity. In *Journal of Experimental Biology* (Vol. 209, Issue 12, pp. 2304–2311). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02208

- Magistretti, P. J., & Allaman, I. (2015). A Cellular Perspective on Brain Energy Metabolism and Functional Imaging. *Neuron*, *86*(4), 883–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.03.035
- Mallet, L., Mesnage, V., Houeto, J. L., Pelissolo, A., Yelnik, J., Behar, C., Gargiulo, M., Welter, M. L., Bonnet, A. M., Pillon, B., Cornu, P., Dormont, D., Pidoux, B., Allilaire, J. F., & Agid, Y. (2002). Compulsions, Parkinson's disease, and stimulation. *Lancet*, *360*(9342), 1302– 1304. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11339-0
- Mantione, M., van de Brink, W., Schuurman, P. R., & Denys, D. (2010). Smoking cessation and weight loss after chronic deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens: Therapeutic and research implications: Case report. *Neurosurgery*, 66(1), 2014. https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000360570.40339.64
- Martín-Blanco, A., Serra-Blasco, M., Pérez-Egea, R., de Diego-Adeliño, J., Carceller-Sindreu, M., Puigdemont, D., Molet, J., Álvarez, E., Pérez, V., & Portella, M. J. (2015). Immediate cerebral metabolic changes induced by discontinuation of deep brain stimulation of subcallosal cingulate gyrus in treatment-resistant depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 173, 159–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.035
- Marzullo, T. C. (2017). The Missing Manuscript of Dr. Jose Delgado's Radio Controlled Bulls. *The Journal of Undergraduate Neuroscience Education*, *15*(2), R29–R35. www.funjournal.org
- Matias, C., Lempka, S., & Machado, A. (2016). Basic principles of deep brain and cortical stimulation. In C. Hamani, P. Holtzheimer, A. M. Lozano, & H. Mayberg (Eds.), *Neuromodulation in Psychiatry* (1st ed., pp. 101–110). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118801086.ch6
- Mayberg, H. S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S. K., Mcginnis, S., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., Silva, J. A., Tekell, J. L., Martin, C. C., Lancaster, J. L., Fox, P. T., Lilly, E., The, C., Mayberg, S., Parsons, L., Redmond, J., & Woldorff, M. (1999). Reciprocal Limbic-Cortical Function and Negative Mood: Converging PET Findings in Depression and Normal Sadness. *Neurology, and Radiology*, *156*(5), 675–682. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.156.5.675
- Mayberg, H. S., Lozano, A. M., Voon, V., McNeely, H. E., Seminowicz, D., Hamani, C., Schwalb, J. M., & Kennedy, S. H. (2005). Deep brain stimulation for treatment-resistant depression. *Neuron*, 45(5), 651–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.02.014
- McInerney, S. J., Giacobbe, P., Cyriac, A., & Kennedy, S. H. (2015). Deep brain stimulation: Clinical results in treatment-resistant depression. In C. Hamani, P. Holtzheimer, A. M. Lozano, & H. Mayberg (Eds.), *Neuromodulation in Psychiatry* (1st ed., pp. 277–293). John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118801086.ch14
- McIntyre, C. C., & Anderson, R. W. (2016). Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms: The Control of Network Activity via Neurochemistry Modulation. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *139*(Suppl 1), 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13649
- McIntyre, C. C., & Hahn, P. J. (2010). Network perspectives on the mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *38*(3), 329–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2009.09.022

- Mcintyre, C. C., Savasta, M., Walter, B. L., & Vitek, J. L. (2004). How Does Deep Brain Stimulation Work? Present Understanding and Future Questions. In *J Clin Neurophysiol* (Vol. 21).
- Melega, W. P., Lacan, G., Gorgulho, A. a, Behnke, E. J., & de Salles, A. a F. (2012). Hypothalamic deep brain stimulation reduces weight gain in an obesity-animal model. *PloS One*, *7*(1), e30672. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030672
- Millet, B., Jaafari, N., Polosan, M., Baup, N., Giordana, B., Haegelen, C., Chabardes, S., Fontaine, D., Devaux, B., Yelnik, J., Fossati, P., Aouizerate, B., Krebs, M. O., Robert, G., Jay, T., Cornu, P., Vérin, M., Drapier, S., Drapier, D., ... Reymann, J. M. (2014). Limbic versus cognitive target for deep brain stimulation in treatment-resistant depression: Accumbens more promising than caudate. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *24*(8), 1229–1239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.05.006
- Miocinovic, S., Somayajula, S., Chitnis, S., & Vitek, J. L. (2013). History, applications, and mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. In *JAMA Neurology* (Vol. 70, Issue 2, pp. 163– 171). American Medical Association. https://doi.org/10.1001/2013.jamaneurol.45
- Miyagi, Y. (2015). Thalamic Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease: Clinical Studies on DBS. In T. Itakura (Ed.), *Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders - Theoretical Background and Clinical Application* (1st ed., pp. 103–120). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_9
- Montan, P. D., Sourlas, A., Olivero, J., Silverio, D., Guzman, E., & Kosmas, C. E. (2019). Pharmacologic therapy of obesity: mechanisms of action and cardiometabolic effects. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 7(16), 393–393. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2019.07.27
- Montgomery, E. B., & Gale, J. T. (2008). Mechanisms of action of deep brain stimulation (DBS). *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *32*(3), 388–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.06.003
- Morigaki, R., & Goto, S. (2015). Deep Brain Stimulation for Essential Tremor. In T. Itakura (Ed.), Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders - Theoretical Background and Clinical Application (1st ed., pp. 135–155). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_11
- Moro, E., Gross, R. E., & Krauss, J. K. (2013). What's new in surgical treatment for dystonia? In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 28, Issue 7, pp. 1013–1020). https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25550
- Moro, E., Lozano, A. M., Pollak, P., Agid, Y., Rehncrona, S., Volkmann, J., Kulisevsky, J., Obeso, J. A., Albanese, A., Hariz, M. I., Quinn, N. P., Speelman, J. D., Benabid, A. L., Fraix, V., Mendes, A., Welter, M. L., Houeto, J. L., Cornu, P., Dormont, D., ... Lang, A. E. (2010). Long-term results of a multicenter study on subthalamic and pallidal stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 25(5), 578–586. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22735
- Nagaoka, T., Katayama, Y., Kano, T., Kobayashi, K., Oshima, H., Fukaya, C., & Yamamoto, T. (2007). Changes in glucose metabolism in cerebral cortex and cerebellum correlate with tremor and rigidity control by subthalamic nucleus stimulation in Parkinson's disease: a

positron emission tomography study. *Neuromodulation*, 10(3), 206–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1403.2007.00110.x

- Nuttin, B., Cosyns, P., Demeulemeester, H., Gybels, J., & Meyerson, B. (1999). Electrical stimulation in anterior limbs of internal capsules in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *The Lancet*, 354(9189), 1526. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(99)02376-4
- Nuttin, B. J., Gabriëls, L. A., Cosyns, P. R., Meyerson, B. A., Andréewitch, S., Sunaert, S. G., Maes, A. F., Dupont, P. J., Gybels, J. M., Gielen, F., Demeulemeester, H. G., van Kuyck, K., Kopell, B., Kelly, P. J., Velasco, F., Benabid, A. L., Malone, D., & Rezai, A. R. (2003). Long-term electrical capsular stimulation in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Neurosurgery*, 52(6), 1263–1274. https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000064565.49299.9A
- Østergaard, K., & Sunde, N. A. (2006). Evolution of Parkinson's disease during 4 years of bilateral deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus. *Movement Disorders*, 21(5), 624–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.20776
- Pahapill, P. A., & O'Connell, B. (2010). Long-term follow-up study of chronic deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus for cervical dystonia. *Neuromodulation*, 13(1), 26– 30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1403.2009.00231.x
- Pana, A., & Saggu, B. M. (2019). *Dystonia*. StatPearls Publishing LLC. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK448144/
- Park, H. R., Kim, I. H., Kang, H., Lee, D. S., Kim, B. N., Kim, D. G., & Paek, S. H. (2017). Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation for a patient with self-injurious behavior and autism spectrum disorder: functional and structural changes of the brain: report of a case and review of literature. *Acta Neurochirurgica*, 159(1), 137–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-016-3002-2
- Park, H. R., Kim, I. H., Kang, H., McCairn, K. W., Lee, D. S., Kim, B. N., Kim, D. G., & Paek, S. H. (2019). Electrophysiological and imaging evidence of sustained inhibition in limbic and frontal networks following deep brain stimulation for treatment refractory obsessive compulsive disorder. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219578
- Patel, S. R., Sheth, S. A., Mian, M. K., Gale, J. T., Greenberg, B. D., Dougherty, D. D., & Eskandar, E. N. (2012). Single-neuron responses in the human nucleus accumbens during a financial decision-making task. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(21), 7311–7315. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0027-12.2012
- Pérez-Caballero, L. (2018). Estimulación cerebral profunda para el tratamiento de la depresión. Caracterización del efecto inicial.
- Perez-Caballero, L., Pérez-Egea, R., Romero-Grimaldi, C., Puigdemont, D., Molet, J., Caso, J.-R., Mico, J.-A., Pérez, V., Leza, J.-C., & Berrocoso, E. (2014). Early responses to deep brain stimulation in depression are modulated by anti-inflammatory drugs. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *19*(April 2013), 607–614. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.63
- Philips, R., Burnage, J., & Carver, B. (2012). Additional imaging methods Ultrasound. In E. Carver & B. Carver (Eds.), *Medical Imaging Techniques, Reflection & Evaluation* (2nd ed., pp. 497–518). Elsevier Ltd.

- Pollak, P., Fraix, V., Krack, P., Moro, E., Mendes, A., Chabardes, S., Koudsie, A., & Benabid, A.
  L. (2002). Treatment results: Parkinson's disease. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 17, Issue SUPPL. 3). John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.10146
- Prinz, P., & Stengel, A. (2018). Deep brain stimulation—possible treatment strategy for pathologically altered body weight? *Brain Sciences*, *8*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci8010019
- Rezai, A. R., Krishna, V., Bogner, J., Kramer, D., Needleman, B., Emerson, A. M., Reider, C., Fiore, G. J., & Corrigan, J. D. (2018). Letter: Feasibility of Nucleus Accumbens Deep Brain Stimulation for Morbid, Treatment-Refractory Obesity,. *Neurosurgery*, 82(5), E136–E137. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuros/nyx630
- Rodman, A. M., & Dougherty, D. D. (2016). Nuclear medicine in neuromodulation. In C. Hamani, P. Holtzheimer, A. M. Lozano, & H. Mayberg (Eds.), *Neuromodulation in Psychiatry* (1st ed., pp. 81–99). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118801086.ch5
- Roldán, A., Portella, M. J., Sampedro, F., Alonso-Solís, A., Sarró, S., Rabella, M., Grasa, E. M., Álvarez, E., Rodríguez, R., Camacho, V., Fernandez-León, A., Fuentes, F., Pérez-Blanco, J., Pérez, V., Mckenna, P., Pomarol-Clotet, E., & Corripio, I. (2020). Brain metabolic changes in patients with treatment resistant schizophrenia treated with deep brain stimulation: A series of cases. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *127*, 57–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.05.016
- Sander, C. Y., & Hesse, S. (2017). News and views on in-vivo imaging of neurotransmission using PET and MRI. In *Quarterly Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging* (Vol. 61, Issue 4, pp. 414–428). Edizioni Minerva Medica. https://doi.org/10.23736/S1824-4785.17.03019-9
- Sani, S., Jobe, K., Smith, A., Kordower, J. H., & Bakay, R. a E. (2007). Deep brain stimulation for treatment of obesity in rats. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, *107*(4), 809–813. https://doi.org/10.3171/JNS-07/10/0809
- Sauleau, P., le Jeune, F., Drapier, S., Houvenaghel, J. F., Dondaine, T., Haegelen, C., Lalys, F., Robert, G., Drapier, D., & Vérin, M. (2014). Weight gain following subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation: A PET study. *Movement Disorders*, 29(14), 1781–1787. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26063
- Scatliff, J. H., & Morris, P. J. (2014). From Röntgen to Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, *75*(2), 111–113. https://doi.org/10.18043/ncm.75.2.111
- Schaltenbrand, G., & Wahren, W. (1977). Atlas for Stereotaxy of the Human Brain: Anatomical, Physiological and Clinical.
- Schernthaner, G., & Morton, J. M. (2008). Bariatric surgery in patients with morbid obesity and type 2 diabetes. In *Diabetes care: Vol. 31 Suppl 2*. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-s270
- Schlaepfer, T. E., Cohen, M. X., Frick, C., Kosel, M., Brodesser, D., Axmacher, N., Joe, A. Y., Kreft, M., Lenartz, D., & Sturm, V. (2008a). Deep brain stimulation to reward circuitry alleviates anhedonia in refractory major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(2), 368–377. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301408

- Schlaepfer, T. E., Cohen, M. X., Frick, C., Kosel, M., Brodesser, D., Axmacher, N., Joe, A. Y., Kreft, M., Lenartz, D., & Sturm, V. (2008b). Deep brain stimulation to reward circuitry alleviates anhedonia in refractory major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(2), 368–377. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301408
- Schuepbach, W. M. M., Rau, J., Knudsen, K., Volkmann, J., Krack, P., Timmermann, L., Hälbig, T. D., Hesekamp, H., Navarro, S. M., Meier, N., Falk, D., Mehdorn, M., Paschen, S., Maarouf, M., Barbe, M. T., Fink, G. R., Kupsch, A., Gruber, D., Schneider, G. H., ... Deuschl, G. (2013). Neurostimulation for Parkinson's disease with early motor complications. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368(7), 610–622. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1205158
- Schulz, R. B., & Semmler, W. (2008). Fundamentals of Optical Imaging. In W. Semmler & M. Schwaiger (Eds.), *Molecular Imaging I.* (1st ed., pp. 3–22). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-72718-7
- Schuurman, P. R., Bosch, D. A., Merkus, M. P., & Speelman, J. D. (2008). Long-term followup of thalamic stimulation versus thalamotomy for tremor suppression. *Movement Disorders*, 23(8), 1146–1153. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22059
- Senova, S., Clair, A. H., Palfi, S., Yelnik, J., Domenech, P., & Mallet, L. (2019). Deep Brain Stimulation for Refractory Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder: Towards an Individualized Approach. In *Frontiers in Psychiatry* (Vol. 10). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00905
- Shah, R. S., Chang, S. Y., Min, H. K., Cho, Z. H., Blaha, C. D., & Lee, K. H. (2010). Deep brain stimulation: Technology at the cutting edge. *Journal of Clinical Neurology (Korea)*, 6(4), 167–182. https://doi.org/10.3988/jcn.2010.6.4.167
- Shin, H., Lee, S. Y., Cho, H. U., Oh, Y., Kim, I. Y., Lee, K. H., Jang, D. P., & Min, H. K. (2019). Fornix stimulation induces metabolic activity and dopaminergic response in the nucleus accumbens. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.01109
- Skogseid, I. M., Røsby, O., Konglund, A., Connelly, J. P., Nedregaard, B., Jablonski, G. E., Kvernmo, N., Stray-Pedersen, A., & Glover, J. C. (2018). Dystonia-deafness syndrome caused by ACTB p.Arg183Trp heterozygosity shows striatal dopaminergic dysfunction and response to pallidal stimulation. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-018-9235-z
- Soto-Montenegro, M. L., Pascau, J., & Desco, M. (2014). Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in the Lateral Hypothalamic Area in a Rat Model of Obesity: In Vivo Assessment of Brain Glucose Metabolism. *Molecular Imaging and Biology*, *June*, 830–837. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-014-0753-0
- Spiegel, E. A., Wycis, H. T., Marks, M., & Lee, A. J. (1947). Stereotaxic Apparatus for Operations on the Human Brain'. *Science*, *106*(2754), 349–350. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.106.2754.349
- Spiegel, E. A., Wycis, H. T., Szekely, E. G., Soloff, L., Adams, J., Gildenberg, P., & Zanes, C. (1964). Stimulation of Forel's field during stereotaxic operations in the human brain. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 16(6), 537–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(64)90045-8

- Sprenger, T., Berthele, A., Platzer, S., Boecker, H., & Tölle, T. R. (2005). What to learn from in vivo opioidergic brain imaging? *European Journal of Pain*, *9*(2 SPEC. ISS.), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.07.010
- Stoll, H.-P., Hutchins, G. D., Winkle, W. L., Nguyen, A. T., Appledorn, C. R., Janzen, I., Seifert, H., Rübe, C., Schieffer, H., & March, K. L. (2001). Advantages of Short-Lived Positron-Emitting Radioisotopes for Intracoronary Radiation Therapy with Liquid-Filled Balloons to Prevent Restenosis. *The Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, *42*(9), 1375–1383. http://necs01.dne.bnl.gov/CoN/index.html
- Suetens, K., Nuttin, B., Gabriëls, L., & van Laere, K. (2014). Differences in metabolic network modulation between capsulotomy and deep-brain stimulation for refractory obsessivecompulsive disorder. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 55(6), 951–959. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.113.126409
- Sugiyama, K. (2015). Complications of Deep Brain Stimulation. In T. Ikatura (Ed.), *Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders* (1st ed., pp. 195–2016). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_15
- Taira, T. (2015). Deep Brain Stimulation for Dystonia. In T. Itakura (Ed.), *Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders Theoretical Background and Clinical Application* (1st ed., pp. 121–134). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08476-3\_10
- Talairach, J., Tournoux, P., & Rayport, M. (1988). *Co-Planar Stereotaxic Atlas of the Human Brain: 3-D Dimensional Proportional System: An Approach to Cerebral Imaging* (1st ed.). Thieme Medical Publishers.
- Talakoub, O., Paiva, R. R., Milosevic, M., Hoexter, M. Q., Franco, R., Alho, E., Navarro, J., Pereira, J. F., Popovic, M. R., Savage, C., Lopes, A. C., Alvarenga, P., Damiani, D., Teixeira, M. J., Miguel, E. C., Fonoff, E. T., Batistuzzo, M. C., & Hamani, C. (2017). Lateral hypothalamic activity indicates hunger and satiety states in humans. *Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology*, 4(12), 897–901. https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.466
- Tasker, R., Siqueira, J., Hawrylyshyn, P., & Organ, L. W. (1983). What happened to VIM thalamotomy for Parkinson's disease? *Applied Neruophysiology*, *46*((1-4)), 68–83. https://doi.org/10.1159/000101245.
- Tavella, A., Bergamasco, B., Bosticco, E, Lanotte, M., Perozzo, P, Rizzone, M, Torre, E, & Lopiano, L. (2002). Deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in Parkinson's disease: long-term follow-up. In *Neurol Sci* (Vol. 23).
- Tawfik, V. L., Chang, S. Y., Hitti, F. L., Roberts, D. W., Leiter, J. C., Jovanovic, S., & Lee, K. H. (2010). Deep brain stimulation results in local glutamate and adenosine release: Investigation into the role of astrocytes. *Neurosurgery*, 67(2), 367–375. https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000371988.73620.4C
- Tellez-Zenteno, J. F., McLachlan, R. S., Parrent, A., Kubu, C. S., & Wiebe, S. (2006). Hippocampal electrical stimulation in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*, 66(10), 1490–1494. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000209300.49308.8f
- Tronnier, V. M., Rasche, D., Thorns, V., Alvarez-Fischer, D., Münte, T. F., & Zurowski, B. (2018). Massive weight loss following deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens in a

depressed woman. *Neurocase*, *24*(1), 49–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/13554794.2018.1431678

- Trošt, M., Su, S., Su, P., Yen, R. F., Tseng, H. M., Barnes, A., Ma, Y., & Eidelberg, D. (2006). Network modulation by the subthalamic nucleus in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *NeuroImage*, *31*(1), 301–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.12.024
- Tykocki, T., Nauman, P., Koziara, H., & Mandat, T. (2013). Microlesion Effect as a Predictor of the Effectiveness of Subthalamic Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, 91(1), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1159/000342161
- University Hospital, G. (2019). *NCT02782533 DBS of the Third Ventricle for Cluster HEadache and Obesity (DBS V3)*. ClinicalTrials.Gov - U.S. National Library of Medicine. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02782533?term=deep+brain+stimulation&cond= Obesity&draw=2&rank=9
- U.S. National Library of Medicine. (2020). *ClinicalTrials.gov*. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?term=deep+brain+stimulation&cond=Obesity
- Vaidyanathan, S., Patel, C. N., Scarsbrook, A. F., & Chowdhury, F. U. (2015). FDG PET/CT in infection and inflammation - Current and emerging clinical applications. In *Clinical Radiology* (Vol. 70, Issue 7, pp. 787–800). W.B. Saunders Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crad.2015.03.010
- van den Berge, N., Keereman, V., Vanhove, C., van Nieuwenhuyse, B., van Mierlo, P., Raedt, R., Vonck, K., Boon, P., & van Holen, R. (2015). Hippocampal Deep Brain Stimulation Reduces Glucose Utilization in the Healthy Rat Brain. *Molecular Imaging and Biology*, *17*(3), 373–383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-014-0801-9
- Vingerhoets, F. J. G., Villemure, J.-G., Temperli, P., Pollo, C., Pralong, E., & Ghika, J. (2002). Subthalamic DBS replaces levodopa in Parkinson's disease: two-year follow-up. *Neurology*, *58*(3), 396–401. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.58.3.396
- Volkmann, J., Albanese, A., Kulisevsky, J., Tornqvist, A. L., Houeto, J. L., Pidoux, B., Bonnet, A. M., Mendes, A., Benabid, A. L., Fraix, V., van Blercom, N., Xie, J., Obeso, J., Rodriguez-Oroz, M. C., Guridi, J., Schnitzler, A., Timmermann, L., Gironell, A. A., Molet, J., ... Agid, Y. (2009). Long-term effects of pallidal or subthalamic deep brain stimulation on quality of life in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, *24*(8), 1154–1161. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22496
- Volkmann, J., Herzog, J., Kopper, F., & Geuschl, G. (2002). Introduction to the programming of deep brain stimulators. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 17, Issue SUPPL. 3). https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.10162
- Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., Fowler, J. S., & Telang, F. (2008). Overlapping neuronal circuits in addiction and obesity: Evidence of systems pathology. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1507), 3191–3200. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0107
- Volkow, N. D., Wang, G.-J., Tomasi, D., & Baler, R. D. (2013). The addictive dimensionality of obesity. *Biological Psychiatry*, *73*(9), 811–818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.12.020

- von Deneen, K. M., & Liu, Y. (2012). Food Addiction, Obesity and Neuroimaging. *Addictions From Pathophysiology to Treatment*. https://doi.org/10.5772/33331
- Wahl, R. L., Herman, J. M., & Ford, E. (2011). The Promise and Pitfalls of Positron Emission Tomography and Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography Molecular Imaging-Guided Radiation Therapy. In *Seminars in Radiation Oncology* (Vol. 21, Issue 2, pp. 88– 100). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semradonc.2010.11.004
- Wang, G.-J., Volkow, N. D., Thanos, P. K., & Fowler, J. S. (2004). Similarity Between Obesity and Drug Addiction as Assessed by Neurofunctional Imaging. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 23(3), 39–53. https://doi.org/10.1300/J069v23n03\_04
- Wang, J., Ma, Y., Huang, Z., Sun, B., Guan, Y., & Zuo, C. (2010). Modulation of metabolic brain function by bilateral subthalamic nucleus stimulation in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 257(1), 72–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-009-5267-3
- Wang, L., & Kaczmarek, L. (1998). High-frequency firing helps replenish the readily releasable pool of synaptic vesicles. *Nature*, *394*(6691), 384–388. https://doi.org/10.1038/28645
- Weichart, E. R., Sederberg, P. B., Sammartino, F., Krishna, V., Corrigan, J. D., & Rezai, A. R. (2020). Cognitive Task Performance During Titration Predicts Deep Brain Stimulation Treatment Efficacy: Evidence From a Case Study. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00030
- Whiting, A. C., Sutton, E. F., Walker, C. T., Godzik, J., Catapano, J. S., Oh, M. Y., Tomycz, N. D., Ravussin, E., & Whiting, D. M. (2019). Deep Brain Stimulation of the Hypothalamus Leads to Increased Metabolic Rate in Refractory Obesity. *World Neurosurgery*, *121*, e867–e874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2018.10.002
- Whiting, D. M. (2020). NCT04453020 Deep Brain Stimulation Effects in Patients With Chronic Refractory Obesity. ClinicalTrials.Gov - U.S. National Library of Medicine. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04453020?term=deep+brain+stimulation&cond= Obesity&draw=2&rank=5
- Whiting, D. M., Tomycz, N. D., Bailes, J., de Jonge, L., Lecoultre, V., Wilent, B., Alcindor, D., Prostko, E. R., Cheng, B. C., Angle, C., Cantella, D., Whiting, B. B., Mizes, J. S., Finnis, K. W., Ravussin, E., & Oh, M. Y. (2013). Lateral hypothalamic area deep brain stimulation for refractory obesity: a pilot study with preliminary data on safety, body weight, and energy metabolism. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, *119*(1), 56–63. https://doi.org/10.3171/2013.2.jns12903
- Wilent, W. B., Oh, M. Y., Buetefisch, C. M., Bailes, J. E., Cantella, D., Angle, C., & Whiting, D. M. (2010). Induction of panic attack by stimulation of the ventromedial hypothalamus: Case report. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, *112*(6), 1295–1298. https://doi.org/10.3171/2009.9.JNS09577
- Wojtasiewicz, T., Lipsman, N., Gerrard, J., & Tierney, T. S. (2019). Introduction to Deep Brain Stimulation: History, Techniques, and Ethical Considerations. In William S. Anderson and The Society for Innovative Neuroscience in Neurosurgery (Ed.), *Deep Brain Stimulation* (pp. 1–10). Thieme Clinical Collections. https://doi.org/10.1055/b-0039-168472

- Xie, T., Bernard, J., & Warnke, P. (2012). Post subthalamic area deep brain stimulation for tremors: a mini-review. *Translational Neurodegeneration*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-9158-1-20
- Xu, W., Zhang, C., Deeb, W., Patel, B., Wu, Y., Voon, V., Okun, M. S., & Sun, B. (2020). Deep brain stimulation for Tourette's syndrome. In *Translational Neurodegeneration* (Vol. 9, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40035-020-0183-7
- Zafar, S., & Yaddanapudi, S. S. (2020). *Parkinson Disease*. StatPearls Publishing LLC. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470193/
- Zhang, C., Wei, N.-L., Wang, Y., Wang, X., Zhang, J.-G., & Zhang, K. (2015). Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens shell induces anti-obesity effects in obese rats with alteration of dopamine neurotransmission. *Neuroscience Letters*, 589C, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2015.01.019
- Zhang, H.-W., Li, D.-Y., Zhao, J., Guan, Y.-H., Sun, B.-M., & Zuo, C.-T. (2013). *Metabolic Imaging of Deep Brain Stimulation in Anorexia Nervosa A 18 F-FDG PET/CT Study*. www.nuclearmed.com
- Zhao, Y., Sun, B., Li, D., & Wang, Q. (2004). Effects of bilateral subthalamic nucleus stimulation on resting-state cerebral glucose metabolism in advanced Parkinson's disease. *Chin Med J (Engl.)*, *117*(9), 1304–1308. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15377418/
- Zucker, R. S., & Regehr, W. G. (2002). Short-term synaptic plasticity. In *Annual Review of Physiology* (Vol. 64, pp. 355–405). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.64.092501.114547

# 2. Rationale, Hypothesis and Objectives

# 2.1. Rationale

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is a very powerful neurostimulation therapy for the palliative treatment of, mainly, advanced cases of motor disorders (Kuhn et al., 2009). The fruitful results obtained in the neurological scenario led to explore the possibility of spreading its application to different psychiatric pathologies (Hamani, Temel, et al., 2012; Kuhn et al., 2009; D. J. Lee, Lozano, et al., 2019). In fact, DBS received approval from the American Food and Drug Association (FDA) for the treatment of chronic, severe, treatment-resistant obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) in 2008, under a Humanitarian Device Exemption (Blaha, 2016). However, this recent wave of thought is not lacking of controversy for two main reasons: first, the invasive nature of this technique; and second, the use of electrical currents for regulating the impaired brain activity. Given these characteristics, polemics were served due to the barbaric memories of previous experiences in mental asylums with electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) and lesioning psychosurgery back in the 50's (Chang & Lee, 2017). Thus, although both ECT and lesioning neurosurgery are still being applied today in the clinical scenario (Lozano et al., 2019), their techniques have been greatly refined, and their application is subjected to very strict ethical protocols and is restricted to exceptional clinical circumstances. In this sense, DBS emerges as a potential alternative to these interventions given that, although it is indeed an invasive technique, it is actually a focal therapy, with potential reversibility of the effects induced by the electric stimulation, and providing the possibility of in vivo adjusting the stimulation parameters according to the patient needs (Gonzalez-Escamilla et al., 2020). Furthermore, the safety of DBS application and the surgical intervention for DBS system implantation, although not free of possible surgical complications (e.g. cerebral bleeding, stroke, infections, etc.), has been widely reported in several neuropsychiatric pathologies. For these reasons, given the advances in the knowledge of the functioning of the brain and the neural networks involved in the physiopathology of neuropsychiatric disorders, a growing number of scientific works propose to extend the DBS application to a wide range of neurological-based pathologies (Klein et al., 2011).

In this sense, althought there are very precise and successful works reporting the usefulness of DBS, the specific mechanism of action of this therapy remains unknown. Several theories have tried to explain the effects obtained under specific pathological and stimulation circumstances (Magistretti, 2006). However, the reality is that the wide variety of DBS parameters applied, the different brain targets and mental pathologies evaluated, make extremely difficult to draw definitive conclusions. In fact, it is now

believed that several neuromodulation mechanisms may be simultaneously taking place in the stimulated region, leading to widespread effects in areas connected to the DBS target. Also, astrocytes and microglia cells have been proposed to have a role in the effects induced by electrical stimulation (Underwood, 2017). Therefore, despite the great efforts placed in deciphering the specific molecular mechanisms induced by DBS, there is not a definitive consensus, but the number of patients operated with DBS continues growing (Schnarr et al., 2015). Thus, electrodes are always implanted in brain regions known to have a substantial involvement in the patients' pathology, but the DBS parameters are generally stablished by a trial and error process. Consequently, understanding the *in vivo* effects of DBS on brain dynamics is an ongoing issue, which will make possible to adapt the stimulation settings and protocols to the actual needs of the patient, and hence obtain greater success rate.

Given this background, the possibility of observing the *in vivo* neuromodulation effects induced by DBS supposes a powerful strategy to determine the impact of the stimulation during its application. These type of examinations would help to explain the nature of the desired and undesired side effects, prevent related clinical improvement, and ultimately adapt the stimulation parameters to the patients' needs (Fins, 2009). To this end, *in vivo* molecular imaging techniques are helpful tools for the acute and long-term follow-up of DBS patients. In particular, functional modalities, such as positron emission tomography (PET) or functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), provide real-time information about the activation status of the different brain regions, both in the resting state and in response to a specific task or stimulus (Desmoulin-Canselier & Moutaud, 2019). Specifically, PET imaging studies of the brain using 2-deoxy-2-[18F]fluoro-D-glucose ([<sup>18</sup>F]FDG) represent an indirect but accurate methodology to evaluate the neuronal activation based on the physiological principle of metabolic coupling, that occurs between neurons and glia cells in the brain (Desmoulin-Canselier & Moutaud, 2019). Shortly, the greater the neuronal synaptic activity is, the greater its metabolic needs, and therefore, the greater the [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG uptake is by the surrounding astrocytes to supply the energetic needs of the neurons. In this sense, several clinical studies have proved the possibilities of [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET technique in evaluating brain activation due to DBS application (Klein et al., 2011; Shin et al., 2019).

Nevertheless, these clinical studies are mainly focused on patients and, for that reason, their research potential is limited due to several drawbacks. First, heterogeneity is unavoidable given the differences in pathological stages, medication and social

conditions. In addition, due to the invasive nature of DBS, its application is restricted to cases of advanced disease that are resistant to previous pharmacologic interventions. Therefore, the recruitment of patients who meet the criteria for inclusion is usually an arduous work, and hence these studies are mostly performed in a small number of patients. Additionally, there is an ethical dilemma about what to do with the implanted DBS device once the clinical trial has finished, given that large medical expenses would entail both to remove it or to maintain it (Desmoulin-Canselier & Moutaud, 2019). This fact strongly limits the possibility of reaching definitive conclusions regarding the mechanism of action and the feasibility of DBS. Besides, PET is an ionizing imaging technique, as it requires the administration of a radiotracer, namely a biomolecule labeled with a positron-releasing radioactive isotope, to the patient to be scanned. This radiotracer is administered in a trace dose reducing the radiobiological effects (Desmoulin-Canselier & Moutaud, 2019), but the fact of using radioactivity limits the application of PET in clinical research. Finally, ethical criteria regarding human assays are always a matter of concern, particularly with invasive neurosurgical interventions (Desmoulin-Canselier & Moutaud, 2019), and ex vivo studies on brain tissue are normally not an option due to obvious reasons. Then, the opportunities to explore in depth the molecular mechanisms underlying the therapeutic effects of DBS are clearly relegated to indirect observations in clinical studies. In this context, animal models of human conditions provide an invaluable tool so as to test different biomedical approaches prior to their clinical translation or, if they are already applied in clinical practice, to confirm and explain both their beneficial results and side effects. Thus, although long distances between the human pathology and the mimicked condition in animal models usually exist, particularly in the psychiatric field (Desmoulin-Canselier & Moutaud, 2019), they suppose a necessary approach to first evaluate the different medical therapies nowadays, in order to make the subsequent leap to clinical practice in a safe and effective manner.

# 2.2. Hypothesis

In general terms, this thesis aims to help to understand the DBS consequences on brain activity. Specifically, based on the aforementioned context, the main motivation of this work is to contribute to the current knowledge about the *in vivo* effects of DBS by means of translatable and feasible techniques, routinely applied in the clinical scenario. Therefore, our hypothesis is that different DBS protocols produce specific modulations of brain activity according to the pathological condition, the treatment duration, the stimulation parameters and the brain target selected; which can be observed by using

real-time functional medical imaging techniques. Consequently, these brain effects determine the therapeutic outcomes and therefore, the knowledge generated from this work provides a suitable strategy to *in vivo* examine the stimulation effects and adapt the stimulation parameters to the patients' needs.

Based on this general consideration, we suggest three more specific hypotheses to be dealt with in the different chapters of this thesis:

- **Hypothesis 1.** The mere insertion of the electrode into the brain tissue, targeting the structure of interest, would play a fundamental role in the mechanism of action and the DBS effects as a whole.
- **Hypothesis 2.** The application of an acute DBS protocol in brain structures involved in the physiopathology of different psychiatric pathologies would induce the modulation of the activity of complex neural networks, which could be relevant when evaluating its potential use in pathological conditions.
- **Hypothesis 3.** DBS applied in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) or nucleus accumbens (NAcc) should induce a weight reduction, a metabolic modulation of the brain regions related to food intake control and reward, an improvement in memory and learning processes, and neuroplasticity changes in the hippocampus.

# 2.3. Objectives

The main objective of this thesis is to evaluate the effects of deep brain stimulation (DBS), by means of *in vivo* functional neuroimaging techniques, in healthy rats and in two models of murine obesity. In particular, the main contribution of this thesis is to describe the neuromodulation consequences of DBS on brain metabolism using [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET 1<sup>st</sup>) after the electrodes insertion, 2<sup>nd</sup>) during the electrical stimulation, 3<sup>rd</sup>) after a chronic and intermittent DBS protocol, and 4<sup>th</sup>) after a chronic and continuous DBS protocol.

Therefore, the following specific objectives were established:

- **Objective 1.** To evaluate the electrode insertional effect on brain metabolism, isolated from the modulation induced by an acute protocol of electrical stimulation, in healthy rats with electrodes implanted in the medial prefrontal cortex.
- **Objective 2.** To identify the neural networks modulated by an acute protocol of DBS in three different brain targets (medial prefrontal cortex, medio dorsal thalamus and nucleus accumbens), related to functional alterations in different neuropsychiatric pathologies, in healthy rats.
- **Objective 3.** To evaluate the effect of DBS in two animal models of obesity.

- **3.1.** To evaluate the short-term effects of chronic and intermittent DBS applied in nucleus accumbens on brain metabolism, body weight gain and food intake in a genetic animal model of obesity.
- **3.2.** To study the long-term effects of a chronic and intermittent DBS protocol applied in two different brain targets (LH and NAcc) on brain metabolism and neuroplasticity in a genetic animal model of obesity.
- **3.3.** To evaluate the effects of chronic and continuous DBS in the lateral hypothalamus on brain metabolism, body weight gain, memory and learning, and neuroplasticity in two animal models of obesity (a genetic and a diet-induced models).

Each of the five specified objectives represents an article of the current thesis.

### References

- Blaha, C. D. (2016). Theories of Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms. In Kendal H. Lee, P. S. Duffy, & A. J. Bieber (Eds.), *Deep Brain Stimulation: Indictions and Applications* (pp. 314– 338). Pan Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd.
- Chang, S.-Y., & Lee, K. H. (2017). The Role of Astrocytes in Deep Brain Stimulation. In Kendall H. Lee, P. S. Duffy, & A. J. Bieber (Eds.), *Deep Brain Stimulation: Indications and Applications* (pp. 339–355). Pan Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315364759
- Desmoulin-Canselier, S., & Moutaud, B. (2019). Animal models and animal experimentation in the development of deep brain stimulation: From a specific controversy to a multidimensional debate. In *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy* (Vol. 13). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2019.00051
- Fins, J. J. (2009). Deep Brain Stimulation: Ethical Issues in Clinical Practice and Neurosurgical Research. In *Neuromodulation* (Vol. 1, pp. 81–91). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374248-3.00010-0
- Gonzalez-Escamilla, G., Muthuraman, M., Ciolac, D., Coenen, V. A., Schnitzler, A., & Groppa, S. (2020). Neuroimaging and electrophysiology meet invasive neurostimulation for causal interrogations and modulations of brain states. *NeuroImage*, 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117144
- Hamani, C., Temel, Y., Bickford, R. G., Petersen, M. C., Dodge, H. W., Sem-Jacobsen, C. W., Nuttin, B., Cosyns, P., Demeulemeester, H., Gybels, J., Meyerson, B., Lozano, A. M., Dostrovsky, J., Chen, R., Ashby, P., Vitek, J. L., Hamani, C., Lozano, A. M., Lozano, A. M., ... Benabid, A. L. (2012). Deep brain stimulation for psychiatric disease: contributions and validity of animal models. *Science Translational Medicine*, 4(142), 142rv8. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3003722
- Klein, J., Soto-Montenegro, M. L., Pascau, J., Günther, L., Kupsch, A., Desco, M., & Winter, C. (2011). A novel approach to investigate neuronal network activity patterns affected by

deep brain stimulation in rats. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *45*(7), 927–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.12.008

- Kuhn, J., Gaebel, W., Klosterkoetter, J., & Woopen, C. (2009). Deep brain stimulation as a new therapeutic approach in therapy-resistant mental disorders: ethical aspects of investigational treatment. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 259 Suppl, S135-41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-009-0055-8
- Lee, D. J., Lozano, C. S., Dallapiazza, R. F., & Lozano, A. M. (2019). Current and future directions of deep brain stimulation for neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, *131*(2), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.4.JNS181761
- Lozano, A. M., Lipsman, N., Bergman, H., Brown, P., Chabardes, S., Chang, J. W., Matthews, K., McIntyre, C. C., Schlaepfer, T. E., Schulder, M., Temel, Y., Volkmann, J., & Krauss, J. K. (2019). Deep brain stimulation: current challenges and future directions. In *Nature Reviews Neurology* (Vol. 15, Issue 3, pp. 148–160). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0128-2
- Magistretti, P. J. (2006). Neuron-glia metabolic coupling and plasticity. In *Journal of Experimental Biology* (Vol. 209, Issue 12, pp. 2304–2311). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02208
- Schnarr, K., Carter, T. F., Gillis, D., Webber, C., Lemon, J. A., Dayes, I., Dolling, J. A., Gulenchyn, K., & Boreham, D. R. (2015). Biological response of positron emission tomography scan exposure and adaptive response in humans. *Dose-Response*, *13*(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559325815611904
- Shin, H., Lee, S. Y., Cho, H. U., Oh, Y., Kim, I. Y., Lee, K. H., Jang, D. P., & Min, H. K. (2019). Fornix stimulation induces metabolic activity and dopaminergic response in the nucleus accumbens. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.01109
- Underwood, E. (2017). Brain implant trials spur ethical discussions. In *Science* (Vol. 358, Issue 6364, p. 710). American Association for the Advancement of Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.358.6364.710

# **3.** Understanding Deep Brain Stimulation: *In Vivo* Metabolic Consequences of the Electrode Insertional Effect

This chapter has been published as an original article:

Casquero-Veiga M, García-García D, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML (2018a) Understanding Deep Brain Stimulation: *In Vivo* Metabolic Consequences of the Electrode Insertional Effect. BioMed Research International 2018:1–6



# Research Article

# Understanding Deep Brain Stimulation: In Vivo Metabolic Consequences of the Electrode Insertional Effect

#### Marta Casquero-Veiga (b),<sup>1</sup> David García-García,<sup>1,2,3</sup> Manuel Desco (b),<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> and María Luisa Soto-Montenegro (b)<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón, Madrid 28007, Spain
 <sup>2</sup>CIBER de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Madrid 28029, Spain
 <sup>3</sup>Departamento de Bioingeniería e Ingeniería Aeroespacial, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Leganés 28911, Spain
 <sup>4</sup>Centro Nacional de Investigaciones Cardiovasculares (CNIC), Madrid 28029, Spain

Correspondence should be addressed to Manuel Desco; desco@hggm.es

Received 26 April 2018; Revised 10 September 2018; Accepted 1 October 2018; Published 17 October 2018

Academic Editor: Diane Ruge

Copyright © 2018 Marta Casquero-Veiga et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is a neurosurgery technique widely used in movement disorders, although its mechanism of action remains unclear. In fact, apart from the stimulation itself, the mechanical insertion of the electrode may play a crucial role. Here we aimed to distinguish between the insertional and the DBS effects on brain glucose metabolism. To this end, electrodes were implanted targeting the medial prefrontal cortex in five adult male Wistar rats. Positron Emission Tomography (PET) studies were performed before surgery (D0) and seven (D7) and nine days (D9) after that. DBS was applied during the <sup>18</sup>FDG uptake of the D9 study. PET data were analysed with statistical parametric mapping. We found an electrode insertional effect in cortical areas, while DBS resulted in a more widespread metabolic pattern. The consequences of simultaneous electrode and DBS factors revealed a combination of both effects. Therefore, the insertion metabolic effects differed from the stimulation ones, which should be considered when assessing DBS protocols.

#### 1. Introduction

In recent years, brain stimulation techniques have emerged in bioscientific and clinical scenarios. Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is a technique that modulates neuronal discharge patterns through electrical current both locally, at the electrode implantation site, and also in remote brain areas associated with the deep brain target [1, 2]. The success and safety offered by DBS in movement disorders [3] have led to consider its potential application in other neurological and mental pathologies, such as psychiatric disorders [4–6], with the subsequent search for new DBS targets. However, the mechanism of action of DBS remains unclear and depends on two confounded factors: the electrode insertion *per se* and the electrical stimulation. Indeed, certain symptomatology improvement has been related to the mere insertion of the electrodes in the treatment of epilepsy [7] and chronic neuropathic pain in humans [8]. Also, antidepressant-like effects have been found in rats in which electrodes were implanted, but without applying electrical stimulation [9]. To our knowledge, these are the only studies that have shown this insertional effect, but none of them has studied the subsequent brain regional activity modulation. Thus, the aim of this study is to assess the insertional effect of the electrode, isolated from the acute electrical stimulation itself, on brain glucose metabolism studied by positron emission tomography (PET) and statistical parametric mapping (SPM) techniques in rats with electrodes placed in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC).

#### 2. Materials and Methods

 Animals. Adult male Wistar rats (~ 350 g) (N = 5) were housed in a temperature- and humidity-controlled vivarium,



FIGURE 1: Electrode placement. Axial view of a CT scan registered to the MR template of an animal (right) and its correspondent slice in the Paxinos & Watson atlas [10] (left), to verify the correct electrode location in the mPFC. The bright and orange points represent the electrode tip in the CT and atlas images, respectively.

on a 12h light-dark cycle, with standard laboratory rat chow and water ad libitum. Animals were deprived of food 6-8 hours prior to the PET study. All experimental animal procedures were conducted according to the European Communities Council Directive 2010/63/EU and approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation of the Hospital Gregorio Marañón.

This study was performed following the guidelines established by the principles of the 3Rs to minimize the number of animals included in this work [11]. Nevertheless, considering the longitudinal design of this research, the number of animals was sufficient to obtain enough statistically significant differences between time points.

2.2. Stereotaxic Surgery and DBS Protocol. Animals were anesthetized with ketamine/xylazine (100/10 mg/kg). Concentric bipolar platinum-iridium electrodes (Plastics One, Roanoke, USA) were bilaterally implanted targeting the mPFC (+3.5mm posterior, +0.6mm lateral from Bregma, -3.4mm ventral from Dura) [10]. Electrodes were fixed to the skull surface with dental acrylic cement (Technovit\*, Germany). Antibiotic (ceftriaxone, 100mg/kg) and analgesic (buprenorphine, 0.1mg/kg) drugs were administered for 3 days as postoperative care.

DBS was applied during the radiotracer uptake period (45 min) with an isolated stimulator (CS 120 8i, CIBERTEC S.A., Spain) in a constant current mode at 130 Hz, 150  $\mu$ A and a pulse width of 100  $\mu$ s.

2.3. Imaging Studies. PET and computerized tomography (CT) scans were acquired just before surgery (D0, baseline) and 7 days (D7, without stimulation) and 9 days (D9, with stimulation) after that, in order to provide enough time for surgical recovery [12]. Additional CT scans were acquired at the end of the surgery to verify the correct placement of the electrodes (Figure 1). In addition, one magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan of a single nonoperated animal was acquired to be used as an anatomical template.

#### BioMed Research International

Animals were scanned using a small-animal PET/CT scanner (ARGUS PET/CT, SEDECAL, Madrid), under anaesthesia with isoflurane (3% induction, 1.5% maintenance in 100% O2). 2-Deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose (FDG, ~ 37Mbq) was intravenously injected and, after 45 min of uptake, animals were scanned for 40 min. Images were reconstructed using a 2D-OSEM algorithm, with a spatial resolution of 1.45 mm Full Width Half Maximum (FWHM), a voxel size of 0.3875 x 0.3875 x 0.775 mm<sup>3</sup>, and an energy window of 400-700 keV. Decay and dead-time corrections were applied.

CT studies were acquired with the same scanner, using the following parameters: 340 mA, 40 kV, 360 projections, 8 shots, and pixel size of 200  $\mu$ m. Images were reconstructed using an FDK algorithm (isotropic voxel size of 0.124 mm) [13].

The MRI study was acquired with a 7-Tesla Biospec 70/20 scanner (Bruker, Ettlingen, Germany). A T2-weighted spinecho sequence was acquired with TE=33 ms, TR=3732 ms, and a slice thickness of 0.8 mm (34 slices). The matrix size was 256 × 256 pixels with a FOV of  $3.5 \times 3.5$  cm2.

2.4. Analysis of PET Data. PET images postprocessing and voxel value normalization were performed following the protocols previously described by our group [14, 15]. Briefly, PET images were spatially coregistered to a random reference CT scan (CTref) and smoothed with an isotropic Gaussian kernel of 2 mm FWHM. A brain mask segmented in the MRI, also registered to the CTref was applied to all PETs to exclude voxels outside the brain. Voxel values were normalized to average intensity of a brain region without statistically significant differences between groups [15].

The statistical analysis consisted on a voxel-wise analysis of PET data using SPM12 (http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/ software/spm12/) by means of paired T-tests, setting a significance threshold of p<0.005 uncorrected (voxel-level significance), but cluster-based corrected in order to avoid type II errors [16]. Only clusters higher than 50 adjacent voxels were considered aiming at reducing type I error.

We performed three different comparisons to evaluate the modulatory effect of the electrode insertion (D0 versus D7, study I), the stimulation (D7 versus D9, study II), and the combination of both the insertion and the stimulation (D0 versus D9, study III), on brain metabolism.

In this sense, we assume that the metabolic differences we show in the study II are almost completely due to the acute effect of the high-frequency electrical stimulation. Although the microlesional effect related to the electrode insertion is highly variable between subjects [8], the stimulation effect has been shown to be much stronger that the insertional one [17], and this latter tends to reduce over time. Furthermore, both the insertion (D7) and the stimulation (D9) PET acquisitions were separated by just two days, period in which no new relevant consequences derived from the electrode presence are expected. In this context, although a late effect of the insertion could have appeared, its influence on the study II would be minimum and possibly masked by the impact of a stronger stimulus represented by the application of highfrequency electrical stimulation.



#### BioMed Research International

FIGURE 2: Changes in brain metabolic activity. Voxel based SPM results in T-maps overlaid on a T2 MR image, showing the changes in glucose metabolism due to electrodes insertion (a), stimulation (b), and both effects (c). The color bars in the right represent the T values corresponding to lower (blue) and higher (red) FDG uptake (p-value <0.005 (unc.); k= 50 voxels). Glucose metabolism: increase (hot colors); decrease (cold colors) [AHiPM/AL: amydalohippocampal area posteromedial/anterolateral part, Au: auditory cortex, Bstm: brainstem, Cb: cerebellum, CPu: caudate-putamen, HTh: hypothalamus, I: insular cortex, Ob: olfactory bulb, PAG: periaqueductal grey matter, Pir: piriform cortex, PMCo: posteromedial cortical amygdaloid nucleus, PtA: parietal association cortex, RMC: red nucleus, S1: primary somatosensory cortex, S2: secondary somatosensory cortex, and VCx: visual cortex].

#### 3. Results

3.1. Electrode Insertion Effect. The presence of the electrodes (D0 versus D7, study I) led to a reduced FDG uptake in parietal association (PtA), primary somatosensory (S1), and visual cortices (Figure 2(a); Table 1(A)).

3.2. Stimulation Effect. The electrical stimulation (D7 versus D9, study II) led to a decreased FDG uptake in brainstem (Bstm), amygdaloid nuclei (AHiAL, AHiPM, and PMCo), and hypothalamus (HTh), together with an increased metabolism in caudate-putamen (CPu), piriform (Pir), S1, and auditory cortex (Au) (Figure 2(b); Table 1(B)).

3.3. Insertion and Stimulation Effect. The combination of both effects (D0 versus D9, study III) showed a decreased FDG uptake in Bstm, red nucleus (RMC), and periaqueductal grey matter (PAG) and higher metabolism in secondary somatosensory (S2), insular (I), and Pir cortices (Figure 2(c), Table 1(C)).

#### 4. Discussion

First, we describe an insertional effect on brain glucose metabolism in sensory areas that are connected to mPFC [18]. Second, mPFC-DBS resulted in a distinct brain metabolic pattern, with more brain areas affected than in study I. Thus, DBS induced changes in circuits where the mPFC plays a key role, such as limbic (AHi, PMCo, and Pir) and reward (CPu and Bstm) systems [18]. Finally, the simultaneous consequences of the electrodes and the stimulation revealed lower cortical activation compared to the study II, showing a compensation of the hypometabolism derived from the electrodes presence (study I). Specifically, the absence of metabolic changes in S1 shown in study III exemplifies this mechanism, as this structure showed a metabolic reduction and an increase in studies I and II, respectively. Moreover, S1 is the only region in which there is an overlap between both effects.

The insertion effect could appear in response to the microlesion induced by the electrode in the mPFC [7] and the subsequent inflammation of the targeted area [9]. Thus, although the microlesion effect fades away over time [19], the clinical manifestations of the insertional effect could persist from days to months (exceptionally, years), or even being absent, despite comparing patients under the same surgical protocol and disease [8]. Besides, other authors have also provided evidence of its permanence on the healthy rat brain metabolism beyond one week after surgery [12]; although, in contrast to our findings, they showed similar effects of stimulation and insertion, being the latter of lower intensity.

3

#### BioMed Research International

ROI	Side	т	k	1/1	p <sub>unc</sub> peak level	FWE peak level	FWE cluster level
(A) D0 vs D7: E	lectrode effect						
Ob	R & L	15.68	121	Ļ	< 0.001	0.811	0.067
PtA - S1	R	14.97	365	Ļ	< 0.001	0.880	< 0.001
VCx	L	14.75	184	Ţ	< 0.001	0.884	0.015
(B) D7 vs D9: S	timulation effec	t					
Bstm	R & L	18.39	1549	Ļ	< 0.001	0.432	
AHiPM/AL- PMCo - HTh	L	10.39	1349	1	<0.001	0.949	<0.001
CPu	L	37.56	738	1	< 0.001	0.025	< 0.001
S1-Au		10.53		1	< 0.001	0.947	
CPu-Pir	R	17.74	695	1	< 0.001	0.497	< 0.001
SI-Au		10.45		1	< 0.001	0.948	
(C) D0 vs D9: B	oth effects						
RMC - PAG	R & L	26.24	1430	Ţ	< 0.001	0.105	< 0.001
СЬ	R	5.90		Ļ	0.002	0.998	
S2 - I	L	15.20	475	1	< 0.001	0.892	< 0.001
Pir	L	9.10		1	< 0.001	0.979	
Pir	R	12.96	152	1	< 0.001	0.929	0.026

TABLE 1: Changes in brain metabolism due to electrode (A), stimulation (B), and both effects (C).

Structures: AHIPM/AL: amydalohippocampal area posteromedial/anterolateral part, Au: auditory cortex, Bstm: brainstem, Cb: cerebellum, CPu: caudateputamen, HTh: hypothalamus, I: insular cortex, Ob: olfactory bulb, PAG: periaqueductal gray matter, Pir: pirtform cortex, PMCo: posteromedial cortical amygdaloid nucleus, PtA: parietal association cortex, RMC: red nucleus, SI: primary somatosensory cortex, S2: secondary somatosensory cortex, and VCx: visual cortex.

ROE: region of interest. Side: right (R) and left (L). T: t value; k: cluster size. Glucose metabolism: increase (1) and decrease (1). pune: p-value uncorrected; FWE: family wise error correction.

Furthermore, comparable results have been also shown in Parkinson disease (PD) patients after electrode insertion in the subthalamic nucleus, which resulted in similar but lower metabolic changes than subthalamotomy in PD-related pattern, while no significant clinical effect was observed due to the insertion [20]. Conversely, task-fMRI data found partial differences between the insertion and stimulation consequences in PD [19].

Therefore, the wide variability showed in relation to the clinical and physiological consequences of the electrode insertion could be highly dependent on several factors (e.g., the health state of the subjects, the DBS target selected, the number of microelectrode recording trajectories performed during the surgery [20], the time elapsed between the surgery and the test, etc.). In fact, PFC input and output connections shared with the sensory cortex occupy different locations and ordering [21], which is not common to other regions and could suppose a substantial difference regarding DBS effect. Thus, the opposed metabolism caused in the somatosensory cortex by the electrode placement and the stimulation alone could respond to the recent neural informative disruption theories of DBS mechanism of action [22, 23]. Importantly, these changes would have not been uncovered without a 3-times longitudinal design. Taken all together, both stimulation and insertion results seem to involve the same brain networks, although in a considerably different extent. This information would be helpful for adjusting the DBS protocols. Thus, understanding the regions affected by each involved factor (insertion; stimulation), together with the intensity and direction (activation; inhibition) of the produced modulation, could lead to more specific and efficient DBS protocols.

#### 5. Limitations

Our work is subjected to several limitations. On the one hand, the small sample size selected, which responds to the aim of providing preliminary evidences that we considered to be important for understanding the DBS mechanism of action through a metabolic perspective. Therefore, we applied strict statistical thresholds in order to show more accurate results, which lead us to discard potentially important effects that do not reach statistical significance. In fact, the electrode insertion has been proved to produce lower metabolic changes than subthalamotomy or stimulation [12, 20], which could be masked in the present study. These points would explain why, in contrast with previous literature, the metabolic pattern observed with the insertion differs from that caused by the stimulation.

On the other hand, we have only included healthy animals in our study, which does not allow us to extrapolate the observed changes to a disease model due to the differences

BioMed Research International

related to a diseased brain. Nevertheless, we aimed to describe the metabolic consequences of electrode insertion and electrical stimulation, excluding any other intervening factors, in order to isolate those effects and improve their metabolic characterization.

#### 6. Conclusions

In conclusion, our study highlights the importance of the design of appropriate protocols, particularly in neuroimaging, emphasizing the value of scanning the same subject with/without DBS, for a full understanding of the DBS mechanism of action and its clinical consequences. This will allow taking advantage of the electrodes and the stimulation consequences in order to optimize the DBS protocols for achieving the desired therapeutic effects.

#### Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study are included within the article.

#### Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Kenia Martinez for her help in performing the statistical analyses and the interpretation of the results; Alexandra de Francisco and Yolanda Sierra for their support in stereotaxic surgery, animal handling, and acquisition of imaging studies. This research was supported by Fundación Mapfre, Alicia Koplowitz [FAK16/01], CIBER de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness ISCIII-FIS Grants [PI14/00860, CPII14/00005, and PI17/01766], and Delegación del Gobierno para el Plan Nacional sobre Drogas [PNSD 2017/085] and cofinanced by ERDF (FEDER) Funds from the European Commission, "A way of Making Europe," and Comunidad de Madrid [BRADE-CM S2013/ICE-2958].

#### References

- J. Kuhn, W. Gaebel, J. Klosterkoetter, and C. Woopen, "Deep brain stimulation as a new therapeutic approach in therapyresistant mental disorders: Ethical aspects of investigational treatment," *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, vol. 259, no. 2, pp. S135–S141, 2009.
- [2] J. Kuhn, T. O. Gründler, D. Lenartz, V. Sturm, J. Klosterkötter, and W. Huff, "Deep Brain Stimulation for Psychiatric Disorders," *Deutsches Aerzteblatt Online*, 2010.
- [3] R. S. Shah, S. Chang, H. Min, Z. Cho, C. D. Blaha, and K. H. Lee, "Deep Brain Stimulation: Technology at the Cutting Edge," *Journal of Clinical Neurology*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. 167, 2010.
- [4] T. Sankar, T. S. Tierney, and C. Hamani, "Novel applications of deep brain stimulation," *Surgical Neurology International*, vol. 3, pp. S26–S33, 2012.

- [5] J. Guridi and G. Aldave, "Dianas quirúrgicas en el tratamiento de enfermedades psiquiátricas: Desde el movimiento a las emociones," *Neurocirugía*, vol. 22, no. 1, 2011.
- [6] C. B. Mikell, S. Sinha, and S. A. Sheth, "Neurosurgery for schizophrenia: an update on pathophysiology and a novel therapeutic target," *Journal of Neurosurgery*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 917–928, 2016.
- [7] V. Krishna, N. K. King, F. Sammartino et al., "Anterior Nucleus Deep Brain Stimulation for Refractory Epilepsy," *Neurosurgery*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 802–811, 2016.
- [8] C. Hamani, J. M. Schwalb, A. R. Rezai, J. O. Dostrovsky, K. D. Davis, and A. M. Lozano, "Deep brain stimulation for chronic neuropathic pain: Long-term outcome and the incidence of insertional effect," *PAIN*, vol. 125, no. 1-2, pp. 188–196, 2006.
- [9] L. Perez-Caballero, R. Pérez-Egea, C. Romero-Grimaldi et al., "Early responses to deep brain stimulation in depression are modulated by anti-inflammatory drugs," *Molecular Psychiatry*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 607–614, 2014.
- [10] G. Paxinos and C. Watson, The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, Academic Press, 4th edition, 1998.
- [11] National Centre for the Replacement Refinement & Reduction of Animals in Research, The 3Rs, 2017, https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/ the-3rs.
- [12] N. Van Den Berge, V. Keereman, C. Vanhove et al., "Hippocampal Deep Brain Stimulation Reduces Glucose Utilization in the Healthy Rat Brain," *Molecular Imaging and Biology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 373–383, 2015.
- [13] M. Abella, J. J. Vaquero, A. Sisniega et al., "Software architecture for multi-bed FDK-based reconstruction in X-ray CT scanners," *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 218–232, 2012.
- [14] M. L. Soto-Montenegro, J. Pascau, and M. Desco, "Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in the Lateral Hypothalamic Area in a Rat Model of Obesity: In Vivo Assessment of Brain Glucose Metabolism," *Molecular Imaging and Biology*, pp. 830–837, 2014.
- [15] J. Gasull-Camós, M. L. Soto-Montenegro, M. Casquero-Veiga, M. Desco, F. Artigas, and A. Castañé, "Differential patterns of subcortical activity evoked by glial GLT-1 blockade in prelimbic and infralimbic cortex: Relationship to antidepressant-like effects in rats," *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 20, no. 12, pp. 988–993, 2017.
- [16] A. Verger, C. Stegmayr, N. Galldiks et al., "Evaluation of factors influencing 18F-FET uptake in the brain," *NeuroImage: Clinical*, vol. 17, pp. 491–497, 2018.
- [17] T. Tykocki, P. Nauman, H. Koziara, and T. Mandat, "Microlesion effect as a predictor of the effectiveness of subthalamic deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease," *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 12–17, 2013.
- [18] J. C. Klein, M. F. S. Rushworth, T. E. J. Behrens et al., "Topography of connections between human prefrontal cortex and mediodorsal thalamus studied with diffusion tractography," *NeuroImage*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 555–564, 2010.
- [19] R. Jech, K. Mueller, D. Urgošík et al., "The Subthalamic Microlesion Story in Parkinson's Disease: Electrode Insertion-Related Motor Improvement with Relative Cortico-Subcortical Hypoactivation in fMRI," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 11, 2012.
- [20] M. Pourfar, C. Tang, T. Lin, V. Dhawan, M. G. Kaplitt, and D. D. Eidelberg, "Assessing the microlesion effect of subthalamic deep brain stimulation surgery with FDG PET," *Journal of Neurosurgery*, vol. 110, no. 6, pp. 1278–1282, 2009.
- [21] S. A. Bedwell, E. E. Billett, J. J. Crofts, and C. J. Tinsley, "The topology of connections between rat prefrontal, motor and sensory cortices," *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, vol. 8, 2014.

BioMed Research International

- [22] C. C. McIntyre and R. W. Anderson, "Deep brain stimulation mechanisms: the control of network activity via neurochemistry modulation," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, pp. 338–345, 2016.
- [23] S. Chiken and A. Nambu, "Mechanism of Deep Brain Stimulation: Inhibition, Excitation, or Disruption?" *The Neuroscientist*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 313–322, 2015.
# **4.** Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in Three Brain Targets with Implications in Mental Disorders: A PET Study in Rats.

This chapter has been published as an original article:

Casquero-Veiga M, Hadar R, Pascau J, Winter C, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML (2016) Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in Three Brain Targets with Implications in Mental Disorders: A PET Study in Rats. PLOS ONE 11:e0168689



### OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Casquero-Veiga M, Hadar R, Pascau J, Winter C, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML (2016) Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in Three Brain Targets with Implications in Mental Disorders: A PET Study in Rats. PLoS ONE 11 (12): e0168689. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0168689

Editor: Osama Ali Abulseoud, National Institue on Drug Abuse, UNITED STATES

Received: September 2, 2016

Accepted: December 5, 2016

Published: December 29, 2016

Copyright © 2016 Casquero-Veiga et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The authors confirm that all data underlying the findings are fully available without restriction. All relevant data are within the paper.

Funding: This research was conducted under the EraNet Neuron framework (DBS\_F20rat) and supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research, Germany (BMBF 01 EW1103), the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness ISCIII-FIS grants (PI14/00860, CPII/00005) co-financed by ERDF (FEDER) Funds from the European

#### RESEARCH ARTICLE

### Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in Three Brain Targets with Implications in Mental Disorders: A PET Study in Rats

Marta Casquero-Veiga<sup>1,2</sup>, Ravit Hadar<sup>3</sup>, Javier Pascau<sup>1,4</sup>, Christine Winter<sup>3</sup>, Manuel Desco<sup>1,2,4</sup><sup>±</sup>, Maria Luisa Soto-Montenegro<sup>1,2</sup>

1 CIBER de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Madrid, Spain, 2 Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón, Madrid, Spain, 3 Department of Psychiatry and Psychiotherapy, Medical Faculty Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany, 4 Departamento de Bioingeniería e Ingeniería Aeroespacial, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain

\* desco@hggm.es

#### Abstract

#### Objective

To investigate metabolic changes in brain networks by deep brain stimulation (DBS) of the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), nucleus accumbens (NAcc) and dorsomedial thalamus (DM) using positron emission tomography (PET) in naïve rats.

#### Methods

43 male Wistar rats underwent stereotactic surgery and concentric bipolar platinum-iridium electrodes were bilaterally implanted into one of the three brain sites. [<sup>18</sup>F]-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose-PET (<sup>18</sup>FDG-PET) and computed tomography (CT) scans were performed at the 7th (without DBS) and 9th day (with DBS) after surgery. Stimulation period matched tracer uptake period. Images were acquired with a small-animal PET-CT scanner. Differences in glucose uptake between groups were assessed with Statistical Parametric Mapping.

#### Results

DBS induced site-specific metabolic changes, although a common increased metabolic activity in the piriform cortex was found for the three brain targets. mPFC-DBS increased metabolic activity in the striatum, temporal and amygdala, and reduced it in the cerebellum, brainstem (BS) and periaqueductal gray matter (PAG). NAcc-DBS increased metabolic activity in the subiculum and olfactory bulb, and decreased it in the BS, PAG, septum and hypothalamus. DM-DBS increased metabolic activity in the temporal and cingulate cortex.

#### Conclusions

DBS induced significant changes in <sup>18</sup>FDG uptake in brain regions associated with the basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical circuitry. Stimulation of mPFC, NAcc and DM induced different patterns of <sup>18</sup>FDG uptake despite interacting with the same circuitries. This may have important



DBS in Rats: A PET Study

Commission, "A way of making Europe", Fundación Mapfre and Comunidad de Madrid (BRADE S2013/ICE-2958).

Competing Interests: The authors declare no conflicts of interest. implications to DBS research suggesting individualized target selection according to specific neural modulatory requirements.

#### Introduction

Mental disorders are the third leading cause of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) loss and the first cause of years lived with disability (YLD) in Europe, accounting for 36.1% of those attributable to all causes[1]. Mental disorders greatly influence patients' overall health, economic situation and social integration. Even though effective treatment exist, 10-30% of the patients have little or no response to traditional treatment strategies and up to an additional 30% of the patients experience only partial relief [2], thus making it essential to explore other treatments. During the last decades, brain electrical stimulation techniques have emerged in the bio-scientific scenario. Among them, deep brain stimulation (DBS) constitutes a neurosurgery technique that modifies neural activity by means of an electrical current applied directly to specific brain targets. It has been licensed as a treatment option for several movement disorders [3]. The idea to extend DBS to the treatment of psychiatric disorders was based on the notion that psychiatric disorders are the clinical presentation of dysfunctional brain networks and the observation that DBS induces depressive and hypomanic states in Parkinson's disease patients [4]. Meanwhile, DBS in the ventral capsule/ventral striatum (VC/VS), which contains the nucleus accumbens (NAcc), has received FDA approval for treatment of obsessive compulsive disorders, is being tested for treatment of depressive disorders [5-7] and addiction [8-11] and the first preclinical report on successful DBS in the context of schizophrenia has just been published [12]. The only double-blind sham-controlled trials for chronic treatment-resistant depression stimulated the VC/VS[13] and Brodmann area 25[14], obtaining little success. Thus, it is noteworthy that, with exception of VC/VS-DBS for OCD, there is no much evidence yet supporting open loop DBS for psychiatric indications. Future research applying new study designs and DBS parameters (e.g. close-loop DBS[15]) are needed to confirm its clinical potential. On the other hand, DBS also holds scientific promise in the identification of interconnected functional networks and dysfunctional brain circuits underlying a physiological and pathological brain functions due to its capacity to specifically modify neural discharge patterns locally, at the electrode placement, and remotely, in associated brain areas [16, 17] and affect neural network activity[18-20]. Across the neuro-psychiatric disorders currently subjected to DBS treatment trials, the following DBS targets are being tested: medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), globus pallidus internus, subthalamic nu deus, zona incerta, nucleus accumbens (NAcc)/ventral striatum, hippocampus and thalamus (centromedian/parafascicularis; anterior nucleus; periaqueductal gray/periventricular gray; ventrolateral intermedius; ventral posterolateral/ventro-posteromedial), lateral habenula, nudeus basali Meynert, medial forebrain bundle (MFB), and fornix/hypothalamus [21-24]. In addition, the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus (DM) structure has been suggested relevant in the context of psychiatric disorders as it interconnects with the dorsolateral PFC and limbic structures, including limbic cortex, hippocampus and basolateral amygdala [25]. Nevertheless, there is no consensus on which area is best for each disorder. Indeed, several areas are being investigated for the same pathology, i.e. mPFC, cingulum, MFB, ventral striatum or the NAcc for depression, STN, NAcc or ventral striatum for obsessive compulsive, mPFC or NAcc for future schizophrenia studies; more to that, some cases, the same area is being investigated for several disorders [26-29]. So far, targets have been selected upon assumptions about the pathophysiological relevance of the

respective brain site in the manifestation of the respective disorder but often enough lack a scientific framework that proves the selection. From a theoretical point of view, the optimal DBS target would be the one that mostly interconnects with circuits involved in the manifestation of the symptoms to be targeted.

In this context, functional neuroimaging is a powerful tool in terms of locating brain networks modulated by DBS and refining stimulation protocols [30]. Positron emission tomography (PET) with 2-deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose (<sup>18</sup>FDG) constitutes the traditional technique for in vivo direct quantification of regional brain glucose metabolism in humans and rodents [12, 18, 31–35]. The method has proven itself as an excellent tool for promoting our understanding of the neurobiological processes in healthy as well as diseased brains and allows for reliable comparative studies [36–40]. We used here <sup>18</sup>FDG-PET and statistical parametric mapping (SPM) techniques in rats to compare the metabolic modulation of neural networks by DBS applied to either the mPFC, NAcc or DM, all of which are linked to several known neuropsychiatric disorders [41–44].

#### Materials and Methods

#### Animals

Forty-three male Wistar rats (275–325 g) were housed in a temperature (24 ± 0.5 °C) and humidity controlled *vivarium* with a 12 h light-dark cycle. Commercial rodent laboratory chow and water were available *ad libitum* if not indicated differently. All experimental animal procedures were conducted according to the European Communities Council Directive 2010/ 63/EU and approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation of our hospital (Comité de Ética de Experimentación Animal, CEEA; number ES280790000087).

#### Surgery and DBS protocol

Stereotaxic surgeries were carried out on animals anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine (100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and xylazine (10 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>). Concentric bipolar platinum-iridium electrodes (Plastics One, Roanoke, USA) were bilaterally implanted in one of the following targets, according to the Paxinos and Watson rat brain atlas [45]: 1) mPFC; anteroposterior (AP) +3.5 (from Bregma), medio-lateral (ML) +0.6, dorso-ventral (DV) -3.4 (from Dura); 2) NAcc: AP +1.2, ML +1.8, DV -8.1; and 3) DM: AP -2.8, ML +0.75, DV -5.0. Electrodes were fixed to the skull with dental acrylic cement (Technovit<sup>90</sup>). Computed tomography (CT) scans of all the animals were obtained and co-registered to an MRI study of one non-operated animal (anatomical MRI template) to rule out errors in the placement of the electrodes. Only animals with correct electrodes positions were included in the PET study resulting in the following number of animals per group: 1) mPFC: 10, 2) NAcc 10 and 3) DM: 11.

PET scans were acquired seven and nine days thereafter, preceded by either sham stimulation (baseline-condition) or DBS applied during <sup>18</sup>FDG-uptake period (DBS-condition) for 45 minutes. DBS was performed with an isolated stimulator (STG1004; Multi Channel Systems GmbH, Reutlingen, Germany) in a constant current mode at 130 Hz and 150  $\mu$ A with a pulse width of 100  $\mu$ s. These settings were chosen based on previous studies by our group [18, 19].

#### Imaging studies

All animals were scanned using a small-animal PET/CT scanner (ARGUS PET/CT, SEDE-CAL, Madrid) under anesthesia with isoflurane (3% induction and 1.5% maintenance in 100% O<sub>2</sub>). <sup>18</sup>FDG (approximately 1 mCi) was injected into the tail vein and, after an uptake period of 45 minutes, animals were scanned for 45 minutes. Images were reconstructed using a

2D-OSEM (ordered subset expectation maximization) algorithm, which daims a spatial resolution for this scanner of 1.45 mm FWHM (full width at half maximum), with a voxel size of 0.3875 x 0.3875 x 0.7750 mm<sup>3</sup>. The energy window was 400–700 keV. Decay and deadtime corrections were applied.

CT studies were acquired with the following parameters: 340 mA, 40 KV, 360 projections, 8 shots per projection, and 200 µm of resolution. CT images were reconstructed using a Feld-kamp algorithm (isotropic voxel size of 0.121 mm).

In addition, one MRI scan of a non-operated animal was acquired with a 7-Tesla Biospec 70/20 scanner (Bruker, Ettlingen, Germany) under sevoflurane anesthesia (4.5% for induction and 2.5% for maintenance in 100% O<sub>2</sub>). A T2-weighted spin echo sequence was acquired, with TE = 33 ms, TR = 3732 ms, and a slice thickness of 0.8 mm (34 slices). The matrix size was  $256 \times 256$  pixels at an FOV of  $3.5 \times 3.5$  cm<sup>2</sup>. This single-animal study was used as an anatomical template in order to display the results of the SPM study.

#### Analysis of PET data

CT studies were co-registered to a random reference CT scan using an automatic rigid registration method based on mutual information, and the spatial transformation obtained for each CT image was subsequently applied to the corresponding PET[46]. The single MRI study was also spatially co-registered to the reference CT scan. A brain mask segmented on the MRI study was applied to all registered PET images and the resulting images were smoothed with an isotropic Gaussian filter (2 mm FWHM). Voxel values were normalized to the average white matter intensity in order to obtain the regional characterization of metabolic changes circumventing overall differences in animal brain metabolism. White matter normalization was used in accordance with the criteria of Shinohara et al.[47].

A region of interest (ROI) analysis was performed to determine the global metabolic differences. Whole brain and white matter masks segmented on the MR template were used for this analysis. Whole brain data were normalized to average white matter intensity.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of regional PET data was performed using the software package SPM12 (Statistical Parametric Mapping, Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging, London, UK). Groups were compared by means of a paired *t* test with a significance threshold of p<0.01 (T = 2.82), uncorrected for multiple comparisons. To reduce type I error, a 50-voxel clustering threshold (spatial-extent) was applied. Global differences were assessed by means of a paired t-test with a threshold for statistical significance set at p<0.01.

#### Results

Fig 1 shows sagittal, coronal and axial views of a CT scan registered to the MR template of one animal to verify the correct electrode positioning. Only animals with electrodes placed correctly in the respective target were included in the study.

Measurements based on global differences for the whole brain metabolism displayed no significant differences across groups under either treatment, sham-stimulation or DBS. Values for DBS animals were normalized and expressed as a ratio of the average glucose metabolism in the basal time point for each animal: mPFC ( $0.99\pm0.020$ ) (p = 0.099), NAcc ( $1.03\pm0.15$ ) (p = 0.631) and DM ( $0.99\pm0.032$ ) (p = 0.185).

mPFC-DBS treatment increased metabolic activity in the striatum, temporal and piriform cortex and amygdala (right: T = 6.39, p<0.001; left: T = 4.98, p<0.001), and reduced it in the cerebellum, brainstem and periaqueductal gray matter (T = 11.52, p<0.001) (Fig.2, Table 1).

DBS in Rats: A PET Study



Fig 1. Correct electrode location verification. Sagittal, coronal and axial views of a CT scan registered to the MR template of an animal to verify the correct electrode location. Only animals with electrodes placed correctly in the respective target were included in the study.

doi: 10.1 37 1/journal.pone.01 686 89.g00 1

NAcc-DBS treatment in creased metabolic activity in the left subiculum (T = 13.02, p<0.001), piriform cortex (right: T = 4.29, p = 0.001; left: T = 6.52, p<0.001) and olfactory bulb (T = 5.20, p<0.001), and decreased <sup>18</sup>FDG-uptake in the brainstem and PAG (T = 4.82, p = 0.001), septum (T = 5.27, p<0.001) and hypothalamus (T = 3.25, p = 0.005) (Fig 2, Table 1).

DM-DBS treatment increased metabolic activity in the striatum, NAcc and piriform cortex (right: T = 7.25, p<0.001; left: T = 3.73, p = 0.002) and thalamus (T = 7.78, p<0.001) and decreased <sup>18</sup>FDG-uptake in the temporal (right: T = 3.43, p = 0.003; left: T = 4.58, p = 0.001) and cingulate cortex (T = 3.64, p = 0.001) (<u>Fig 2, Table 1</u>).



Fig 2. Brain glucose metabolism during DBS in the three brain targets. Effects depend on stimulation target. Colored PET overlays on MR reference indicate increased 18FDG uptake (hot colors) or decreased (cold colors). AA: amygdala; BS: brainstem, Cb: cerebellum, CC: cingulate cortex, Hypoth: hypothalamus, NAcc: nucleus accumbens, PAG: periaqueductal gray matter, Pir C: piriform cortex, Sub: subiculum hippocamp al, Str: striatum, Temp C: temporal cortex, Th: thalamus.

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168689.g002

# 

DBS in Rats: A PET Study

Target	ROI	Side	<b>↑/</b> ↓	т	d	pvalue
mPFC	St, AA, Temp & Pir C	R	1	6.39	2.13	< 0.001
	St, AA, Temp & Pir C	L	1	4.98	1.66	< 0.001
	Hipp v	L	Ļ	7.07	2.57	< 0.001
	Cb, BS & PAG	R& L	Ļ	11.52	3.84	< 0.001
NAcc	Sub	L	1	13.02	4.60	< 0.001
	Pir C	L	1	6.52	2.31	< 0.001
	Pir C	R	1	4.29	1.52	0.001
	Olfactory bulb	R&L	1	5.20	1.83	< 0.001
	BS & PAG	R&L	1	4.82	1.70	< 0.001
	Hypoth		Ļ	3.25	1.15	0.005
	Septum		1	5.27	1.86	< 0.001
DM	St, NAcc & Pir C	R	1	7.25	2.30	< 0.001
	St, NAcc & Pir C	L	1 T	3.73	1.18	0.002
	Th	R& L	1	7.78	2.46	<0.001
	Temp C	R	Ļ	3.43	1.10	0.003
	Temp C	L	Ļ	4.58	1.45	0.001
	Cing C	R&L	Ļ	3.64	1.15	0.002

#### Table 1. Changes in brain metabolic activity during DBS in the three brain targets.

Brain metabolic changes according to the stimulated target. Region of interest (ROI), side (left and right), glucose metabolism (increase: † or decrease: ‡) t value (T), d Cohen (d) and statistical p value (p). AA: amygdala; BS: brainstem, Cb: cerebellum, CC: cingulate cortex, Hypoth: hypothalamus, NAcc: nucleus accumbens, PAG: periaqueductal gray matter, Pir C: piriform cortex, Sub: subiculum hippocampal, Str: striatum, Temp C: temporal cortex, Th: thalamus].

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168689.t001

#### Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first comparative report on the use of small animal <sup>18</sup>FDG-PET and SPM techniques in rats in an attempt to identify and compare the modulation of brain metabolic networks by DBS in the mPFC, NAcc and DM. We show that the effects of high frequency DBS on neuronal activity, reflected as the differences in regional glucose metabolism between DBS on and off conditions, involve modifications of complex networks rather than global or isolated regions. This is in agreement with our previous study for mPFC and NAcc stimulation in an animal model of schizophrenia [12]. Its capability to either increase or decrease activity supports the notion that DBS induces several mechanisms that lead to net inhibitory and excitatory effects irrespective of the function [48], suggesting a complex modulation of activity along cortico-basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical and the cerebello-thalamo-cortical circuits. Overall, stimulation in each brain target influenced a different set of structures at a distance from the target that might be relevant for addressing specific pathological conditions.

#### Common DBS effects across different targets

DBS to all three targets induced increased metabolic activity in the piriform cortex (PC). The PC is the largest area of the mammalian <u>olfactory cortex</u>, receives direct projections from the <u>olfactory</u> bulb and contains the most susceptible neural circuits of all <u>forebrain</u> regions for electrical (or chemical) stimulation [49, 50]. Thus, immunohistochemical studies have shown that during electrical stimulation of limbic brain regions, the PC exhibits the most consistent increase in <u>glucose</u> utilization [49], similar to our results.

DBS in Rats: A PET Study

Another interesting finding is that both mPFC-DBS and NAcc-DBS decreased glucose metabolism in the brainstem. The mPFC is reciprocally connected with the dorsal raphe nucleus, which contains most ascending serotonergic neurons, and the ventral tegmental area (VTA) which contains mesocortical dopaminergic (DA) neurons, which could account for the decreased glucose metabolism seen in the brainstem. The medium spiny neurons of NAcc receive input from both dopaminergic neurons in the VTA and the glutamatergic neurons of the hippocampus, amygdala and mPFC. Thus, stimulation of NAcc at high frequencies could lead to an inhibition of dopaminergic activity at the brainstem level, resulting in decreased glucose metabolism in the brainstem. Our results are in line with that reported with citalopram, an antidepressant medication, showing decreased blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) signal in the brainstem using pharmacological magnetic resonance imaging [51]. In this sense, both brain targets have been recently proposed as targets for DBS in resistant major depressive disorder [52, 53], and has been associated with antidepressant, anxiolytic, and precognitive properties.

#### mPFC-DBS increased brain metabolism in the temporal cortices

Hypofrontality is related to deficits in attention, memory and executive function, apathy, social withdrawal, restricted affection or anhedonia [54]. It has been suggested that the direct stimulation of the PFC may serve to modulate temporo-parietal attentional networks involved in the automatic processing of salient stimuli [30], playing a critical role in mood regulation [55]. In this sense, cortical stimulation for treatment-resistant depression constitutes a brain stimulation approach that has shown promise [56–58]. Here, we show that mPFC-DBS affected metabolic activity in the striatum, temporal and piriform cortices, the amygdala, cerebellum, brainstem and periaqueductal gray matter. This is in line with the PFC projecting to the ventral striatum and the head of the caudate, as well as other subcortical connections, including the amygdala [59]. Thus, our results showing an increased metabolism in temporal cortices support the notion that stimulation of mPFC could be explored for improving the attentional network. Moreover, behavioral experiments should be performed to corroborate these findings.

Cerebellar affectation has been commonly reported in schizophrenia, autism, and other developmental disorders [<u>60</u>–<u>62</u>]. Recent neuroanatomical evidence has also demonstrated closed-loop connectivity between prefrontal cortex and the cerebellum [<u>63</u>]. Moreover, electrophysiological and anatomical studies have demonstrated the existence of a prefrontalolivo-cerebellar pathway in anesthetized mice [<u>60</u>], and the existence of disynaptic fronto-cerebellar connectivity in rats [<u>64</u>]. Our data showing that mPFC-DBS decreased glucose metabolism in the cerebellum, confirm the existence of a rodent prefrontal-cerebellar network [<u>65</u>, <u>66</u>].

#### NAcc-DBS increased brain metabolism in the subiculum

The NAcc has traditionally been associated with reward, pleasure and addiction, behavioral categories/systems implicated in the pathophysiology of basically all psychiatric disorders [16, 67–69]. In fact, the ventral capsule/ventral striatum (VC/VS), which includes the NAcc, is the unique brain target with FDA approval for DBS treatment of a psychiatric condition (OCD). The NAcc receives major dopaminergic afferents from mesolimbic origin, and dopamine is the most important transmitter within these nuclei. Thus, NAcc stimulation may lead to direct interferences in the dopaminergic system, or possibly indirect influences on the synaptic efficiency of this neurotransmitter system, with a huge spread of metabolic changes in the brain. Given its vast pathophysiological implication, network effects of NAcc-DBS were less striking and limited to the subiculum, piriform cortex (PC), olfactory bulb (OB), and brainstem. Off

note, findings basically correspond to NAcc-DBS we recently reported using a functional MRI approach [20]. Of those effects, the increase of glucose metabolism in the subiculum is of particular interest. Neuroimaging and neuropsychological studies have shown an hippocampal dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease, cognitive ageing, post-traumatic stress disorder, obesity, schizophrenia, and depressive and anxiety disorders, among others [71]. Specifically in schizophrenia, there is robust evidence of hippocampal dysfunction, with impaired activation during memory tasks, increased baseline hippocampal perfusion, and reduced dentate gyrus neurogenesis and efferent signaling [72]. Moreover, obesity has been associated with defective hippocampal activity, which leads to cognitive deficiency in obese patients [73]. In this context and according to our results, it seems reasonable to explore the idea of applying NAcc-DBS in pathologies associated with hippocampal dysfunction.

#### DM-DBS increased brain metabolism in the thalamus

The dorsomedial thalamus (DM) has strong interconnections with the dorsolateral PFC and limbic structures, besides being a critical element in the attentional "selective engagement" system. The dysfunction of this "sensory gating apparatus" has been associated to hallucinations, a common symptom in psychosis [74, 75]. At present, DM-DBS has only been applied experimentally in animal models [21, 53, 76-79]. Here, we found that DM-DBS affected metabolic activity in the striatum, NAcc, piriform cortex, medial thalamus and temporal and cingulate cortices. This is in line with the DM projections to the dorsolateral prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortical areas, which together project to the anterior cingulate cortex [80] and to the dorsal and ventral striatum [81]. Among those effects, the increase of glucose metabolism in the thalamus is especially relevant from a translational point of view. Neuroimaging has shown abnormalities in the DM of schizophrenic patients, with decreases in the thalamic D2 receptor binding [82], less prominent thalamic glucose metabolism rate [83], decrease functional connectivity of DM to other circuit areas or decreases in the thalamic blood flow [84]. Patients with frontotemporal lobe degeneration associated with dementia also shown decreased glucose metabolism in the medial temporal region, the thalamus and striatum [85]. In Alzheimer disease, thalamic abnormalities at the anterior thalamic nuclei have been associated with cognitive deficits in memory and attention [86]. In view of these studies and our results, it seems essential to explore the idea of applying DM-DBS in pathologies associated with cognitive deficits in memory and attention and dementias.

#### Limitations of the study

Our study is subject to two limiting factors. The first is the use of naïve animals to study DBS' effects. Clearly, in the clinic, DBS is applied to diseased brains and its therapeutic effects are a function of its interaction with altered brain network. Another limitation is related to the temporal influence of DBS as studied here; we used an acute stimulation protocol preceding the PET scans acquisition. In the dinical scenario, DBS is applied chronically and usually therapeutic effects evolve over a timeline of stimulation.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, we show that DBS in mPFC, NAcc and DM induced different patterns of <sup>18</sup>FDG uptake despite sharing interconnections with the same circuitry, and this may have important implications to DBS research suggesting individualized target selection according to specific neural modulatory requirements.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Alexandra de Francisco and Yolanda Sierra for their support in stereotactic surgery and animal handling.

#### Author Contributions

Conceptualization: MLSM CW JP MD.

Formal analysis: MCV JP MLSM MD.

Funding acquisition: CW MD MLSM.

Methodology: MCV RH MLSM.

Resources: MLSM JP MD.

Writing - original draft: MCV RH JP CW MD MLSM.

Writing - review & editing: MCV RH JP CW MD MLSM.

#### References

- Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, Lozano R, Michaud C, Ezzati M, et al. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012; 380(9859):2163–96. doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(12)</u> <u>61729-2</u> PMID: <u>23245607</u>
- Burns JK, Tomita A, Kapadia AS. Income inequality and schizophrenia: increased schizophrenia incidence in countries with high levels of income inequality. The International journal of social psychiatry. 2014; 60(2):185–96. doi: 10.1177/0020764013481426 PMID: 23594564
- Benabid AL, Chabardes S, Mitrofanis J, Pollak P. Deep brain stimulation of the sub thalamic nucleus for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. The Lancet Neurology. 2009; 8(1):67–81. doi: <u>10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70291-6</u> PMID: <u>19081516</u>
- Beijani BP, Damier P, Arnulf I, Thivard L, Bonnet AM, Dormont D, et al. Transient acute depression induced by high-frequency deep-brain stimulation. The New England journal of medicine. 1999;340 (19):1476–80. doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM199905133401905</u> PMID: <u>10320386</u>
- Williams NR, Hopkins TR, Short EB, Sahlem GL, Snipes J, Revuelta GJ, et al. Reward circuit DBS improves Parkinson's gait along with severe depression and OCD. Neurocase. 2016; 22(2):201–4. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2015.1112019 PMID: 26644268
- Berlim MT, McGirr A, Van den Eynde F, Fleck MP, Giacobbe P. Effectiveness and acceptability of deep brain stimulation (DBS) of the subgenual cingulate cortex for treatment-resistant depression: a systematic review and exploratory meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2014; 159:31–8. doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2014.02</u>. 016 PMID: 24679386
- Strutt AM, Simpson R, Jankovic J, York MK. Changes in cognitive-emotional and physiological symptoms of depression following STN-DBS for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. European journal of neurology. 2012; 19(1):121–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03447.x PMID: 21668586
- Batra V, Tran TL, Caputo J, Guerin GF, Goeders NE, Wilden J. Intermittent bilateral deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens shell reduces intrave nous methamphetamine intake and seeking in Wistar rats. Journal of neurosurgery. 2016:1–12.
- Muller W, Sturm V, Voges J, Heinze HJ, Galazky I, Buntjen L, et al. Nucleus Accumbens Deep Brain Stimulation for Alcohol Addiction—Safety and Clinical Long-term Results of a Pilot Trial. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2016; 49(4):170–3. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-104507. PMID: 27145161.
- Muller UJ, Voges J, Steiner J, Galazky I, Heinze HJ, Moler M, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens for the treatment of addiction. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2013; 1282:119–28. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06834.x</u> PMID: <u>23227826</u>
- Creed M, Pascoli VJ, Luscher C. Addiction therapy. Refining deep brain stimulation to emulate optogenetic treatment of synaptic pathology. Science. 2015; 347(6222):659–64. doi: <u>10.1126/science.</u> <u>1260776</u> PMID: <u>25657248</u>

- Bikovsky L, Hadar R, Soto-Montenegro ML, Klein J, Weiner I, Desco M, et al. Deep brain stimulation improves behavior and modulates neural circuits in a rodent model of schizophrenia. Exp Neurol. 2016; 283(Pt A):142–50. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.06.012 PMID: 27302677
- Dougherty DD, Rezai AR, Carpenter LL, Howland RH, BhatiMT, O'Reardon JP, et al. A Randomized Sham-Controlled Trial of Deep Brain Stimulation of the Ventral Capsule/Ventral Striatum for Chronic Treatment-Resistant Depression. Biol Psychia try. 2015; 78(4):240–8. doi: <u>10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.11.</u> 023 PMID: <u>25726497</u>
- Morishita T, Fayad SM, Higuchi MA, Nestor KA, Foote KD. Deep brain stimulation for treatment-resistant depression: systematic review of clinical outcomes. Neurotherapeutics. 2014; 11(3):475–84. doi: 10.1007/s13311-014-0282-1 PMID: 24867326
- Widge AS, Ellard KK, Pau k AC, Basu I, Yousefi A, Zorowitz S, et al. Treating refractory mental illness with closed-loop brain stimulation: Progress towards a patient-specific transdiagnostic approach. Exp Neurol. 2016.
- Kuhn J, Bodatsch M, Sturm V, Lenartz D, Klosterkotter J, Uhlhaas PJ, et al. [Deep brain stimulation in schizophrenia]. Fortschritte der Neurologie-Psychiatrie. 2011; 79(11):632–41. doi: <u>10.1055/s-0031-1281733</u> PMID: <u>22048856</u>
- Kuhn J, Grundler TO, Lenartz D, Sturm V, Klosterkotter J, Huff W. Deep brain stimulation for psychiatric disorders. Deutsches Arzteblatt international. 2010; 107(7):105–13. doi: <u>10.3238/arztebl.2010.0105</u> PMID: <u>20221269</u>
- Klein J, Soto-Montenegro ML, Pascau J, Gunther L, Kupsch A, Desco M, et al. A novel approach to investigate neuronal network activity patterns affected by deep brain stimulation in rats. J Psychiatr Res. 2011; 45 (7):927–30. Epub 2011/01/14. doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychires.2010.12.008</u> PMID: <u>21227451</u>
- Soto-Montenegro ML, Pascau J, Desco M. Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in the Lateral Hypothalamic Area in a Rat Model of Obesity: In Vivo Assessment of Brain Glucose Metabolism. Mol Imaging Biol. 2014. Epub 2014/06/07.
- Van Den Berge N, Keereman V, Vanhove C, Van Nieuwenhuyse B, van Mierlo P, Raedt R, et al. Hippocampal deep brain stimulation reduces glucose utilization in the healthy ratbrain. Mol Imaging Biol. 2015; 17(3):373–83. doi: <u>10.1007/s11307-014-0801-9</u> PMID: <u>25361593</u>
- Klein J, Hadar R, Gotz T, Manner A, Eberhardt C, Baldassarri J, et al. Mapping brain regions in which deep brain stimulation affects schizophrenia-like behavior in two rat models of schizophrenia. Brain Stimul. 2013; 6(4):490–9. Epub 2012/10/23. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2012.09.004 PMID: 23085443
- Mikell CB, McKhann GM, Segal S, McGovern RA, Wallenstein MB, Moore H. The hippocampus and nucleus accumbens as potential therapeutic targets for neurosurgical intervention in schizophrenia. Stereotactic and functional neurosurgery. 2009;87(4):256–65. doi: <u>10.1159/000225979</u> PMID: <u>19556835</u>
- Peled A. Optogenetic neuronal control in schizophrenia. Medical hypotheses. 2011;76(6):914–21. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2011.03.009 PMID: 21482453
- Hamani C, Nobrega JN. Deep brain stimulation in clinical trials and animal models of depression. Eur J Neurosci. 2010; 32(7):1109–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07414.x PMID: 21039950
- Mitchell AS, Chakraborty S. What does the mediodorsal thalamus do? Frontiers in systems neuroscience. 2013; 7:37. doi: <u>10.3389/fnsys.2013.00037</u> PMID: <u>23950738</u>
- Hamani C, Nobrega JN, Lozano AM. Deep brain stimulation in clinical practice and in animal models. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2010; 88(4):559–62. doi: <u>10.1038/dpt.2010.133</u> PMID: <u>20720537</u>
- Hamani C, Temel Y. Deep brain stimulation for psychiatric disease: contributions and validity of animal models. Sci Transl Med. 2012; 4(142):142rv8. Epub 2012/07/13. doi: <u>10.1126/scitranslmed.3003722</u> PMID: <u>22786683</u>
- Lyons MK. Deep brain stimulation: current and future clinical applications. Mayo Clinic proceedings. 2011; 86(7):662–72. doi: <u>10.4065/mcp.2011.0045</u> PMID: <u>21646303</u>
- Salgado-Lopez L, Pomarol-Clotet E, Roldan A, Rodriguez R, Molet J, Sarro S, et al. Letter to the Editor: Deep brain stimulation for schizophrenia. Journal of neurosurgery. 2016; 125(1):229–30. doi: <u>10.3171/</u> 2015.12.JNS152874 PMID: <u>27104842</u>
- Williams NR, Taylor JJ, Lamb K, Hanlon CA, Short EB, George MS. Role of functional imaging in the development and refinement of invasive neuromodulation for psychiatric disorders. World journal of radiology. 2014; 6(10):756–78. doi: <u>10.4329/wjr.v6.i10.756</u> PMID: <u>25349661</u>
- Akdemir UO, Tokcaer AB, Karakus A, Kapucu LO. Brain 18F-FDG PET imaging in the differential diagnosis of parkinsonism. Clinical nuclear medicine. 2014; 39(3):e220–6. doi: <u>10.1097/RLU.</u> 000000000000315PMID: <u>24321825</u>

DBS in Rats: A PET Study

- Gallivanone F, Della Rosa PA, Castiglioni I. Statistical Voxel-Based Methods and [18F]FDG PET Brain Imaging: Frontiers for the Diagnosis of AD. Current Alzheimer research. 2016; 13(6):682–94. PMID: 26567733
- Kato T, Inui Y, Nakamura A, Ito K. Brain fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET in dementia. Ageing research reviews. 2016.
- Soto-Montenegro ML, Pascau J, Desco M. Response to deep brain stimulation in the lateral hypothalamic area in a rat model of obesity: in vivo assessment of brain glucose metabolism. Mol Imaging Biol. 2014; 16(6):830–7. Epub 2014/06/07. doi: 10.1007/s11307-014-0753-0 PMID: 24903031
- Van Weehaeghe D, Ceccarini J, Delva A, Robberecht W, Van Damme P, Van Laere K. Prospective Validation of 18F-FDG Brain PET Discriminant Analysis Methods in the Diagnosis of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. J Nucl Med. 2016.
- Song IU, Choi EK, Oh JK, Chung YA, Chung SW. Alteration patterns of brain glucose metabolism: comparisons of healthy controls, subjective memory impairment and mild cognitive impairment. Acta radiologica. 2016; 57(1):90–7. doi: <u>10.1177/0284185114566088</u> PMID: <u>25538106</u>
- Qiu X, Zhang Y, Feng H, Jiang D. Positron Emission Tomography Reveals Abnormal Topological Organization in Functional Brain Network in Diabetic Patients. Frontiers in neuroscience. 2016; 10:235. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00235 PMID: 27303259
- Moghbel M, Newberg A, Alavi A. Positron emission tomography: ligand imaging. Handbook of clinical neurology. 2016; 135:229–40. doi: <u>10.1016/B978-0-444-53485-9.00012-X</u> PMID: <u>27432668</u>
- Trotta N, Archambaud F, Goldman S, Baete K, Van Laere K, Wens V, et al. Functional integration changes in regional brain glucose metabolism from childhood to adulthood. Human brain mapping. 2016; 37(8):30 17–30. doi: <u>10.1002/hbm.23223</u> PMID: <u>27133021</u>
- Segobin S, La Joie R, Ritz L, Beaunieux H, Desgranges B, Chetelat G, et al. FDG-PET Contributions to the Pathophysiology of Memory Impairment. Neuropsychology review. 2015; 25(3):326–55. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1007/s11065-015-9297-6</u> PMID: <u>26319237</u>
- Marenco S, Stein JL, Savostyanova AA, Sambataro F, Tan HY, Goldman AL, et al. Investigation of anatomical thalamo-cortical connectivity and FMRI activation in schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2012; 37(2):499–507. doi: <u>10.1038/npp.2011.215</u> PMID: <u>21956440</u>
- Drevets WC, Raichle ME. Neuroanatomical circuits in depression: implications for treatment mechanisms. Psychopharmacology bulletin. 1992; 28(3):261–74. PMID: <u>1480730</u>
- Lui S, Wu Q, Qiu L, Yang X, Kuang W, Chan RC, et al. Resting-state functional connectivity in treatment-resistant depression. Am J Psychiatry. 2011; 168(6):642–8. doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.</u> <u>10101419</u> PMID: <u>21362744</u>
- Lapidus KA, Stern ER, Berlin HA, Goodman WK. Neuromodulation for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Neurotherapeutics: the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics. 2014; 11 (3):485–95.
- Paxinos G, Watson C. The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. 4th ed. San Diego: Academic Press 2008.
- Pascau J, Gispert JD, Michaelides M, Thanos PK, Volkow ND, Vaquero JJ, et al. Automated method for small-animal PET image registration with intrinsic validation. Mol Imaging BioL 2009; 11(2):107–13. Epub 2008/08/02. doi: <u>10.1007/s11307-008-0166-z</u> PMID: <u>18670824</u>
- Shinohara RT, Sweeney EM, Goldsmith J, Shiee N, Mateen FJ, Calabresi PA, et al. Statistical normalization techniques for magnetic resonance imaging. Neuroimage Clin. 2014; 6:9–19. Epub 2014/11/08. doi: <u>10.1016/j.nicl.2014.08.008</u> PMID: <u>25379412</u>
- McIntyre CC, Savasta M, Kerkerian-Le Goff L, Vitek JL. Uncovering the mechanism(s) of action of deep brain stimulation: activation, inhibition, or both. Clin Neurophysiol. 2004; 115(6):1239–48. Epub 2004/ 05/12. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2003.12.024 PMID: 15134690
- Boix-Trelis N, Vale-Martinez A, Guillazo-Blanch G, Marti-Nicolovius M. Induction of c-Fos expression by electrical stimulation of the nucleus basalis magnocellularis. Neurosci Lett. 2009; 449(2):137–41. Epub 2008/11/18. doi: <u>10.1016/j.neulet.2008.10.105</u> PMID: <u>19013218</u>
- Loscher W, Ebert U, Lehmann H. Kindling induces a lasting, regionally selective increase of kynurenic acid in the nucleus accumbens. Brain Res. 1996; 725(2):252–6. PMID: <u>8836532</u>
- Sekar S, Verhoye M, Van Audekerke J, Vanhoutte G, Lowe AS, Blamire AM, et al. Neuroadaptive responses to citalopram in rats using pharmacological magnetic resonance imaging. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2011;213(2–3):521–31.
- Millet B, Jaafari N, Polosan M, Baup N, Giordana B, Haegelen C, et al. Limbic versus cognitive target for deep brain stimulation in treatment-resistant depression: accumbens more promising than caudate. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2014; 24(8):1229–39. doi: <u>10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.05.006</u> PMID: 24950819

- Hamani C, Amorim BO, Wheeler AL, Diwan M, Driesslein K, Covolan L, et al. Deep brain stimulation in rats: different targets induce similar antidepressant-like effects but influence different circuits. Neurobiology of disease. 2014; 71:205–14. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.08.007 PMID: 25131446
- Arnsten AF, Rubia K. Neurobiological circuits regulating attention, cognitive control, motivation, and emotion: disruptions in neurodevelopmental psychiatric disorders. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 2012; 51(4):356–67. doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaac.2012.01.008</u> PMID: <u>22449642</u>
- Levesque J, Eugene F, Joanette Y, Paquette V, Mensour B, Beaudoin G, et al. Neural circuitry underlying voluntary suppression of sadness. Biol Psychia try. 2003; 53(6):502–10. PMID: <u>12644355</u>
- Panov F, Kopell BH. Use of cortical stimulation in neuropathic pain, tinnitus, depression, and movement disorders. Neurotherapeutics: the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics. 2014; 11(3):564–71.
- Hamani C, Diwan M, Macedo CE, Brandao ML, Shumake J, Gonzalez-Lima F, et al. Antidepressantlike effects of medial prefrontal cortex deep brain stimulation in rats. Biol Psychiatry. 2010; 67(2):117– 24. Epub 2009/10/13. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.08.025 PMID: 19819426
- Hamani C, Nobrega JN. Preclinical studies modeling deep brain stimulation for depression. Biol P sychiatry. 2012; 72(11):916–23. Epub 2012/07/04. doi: <u>10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.05.024</u> PMID: <u>22748616</u>
- Klein JC, Rushworth MF, Behrens TE, Mackay CE, de Crespigny AJ, D'Arceuil H, et al. Topography of connections between human prefrontal cortex and mediodorsal thalamus studied with diffusion tractography. Neuroimage. 2010; 51(2):555–64. doi: <u>10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.02.062</u> PMID: <u>20206702</u>
- Mittleman G, Goldowitz D, Heck DH, Blaha CD. Cerebellar modulation of frontal cortex dopamine efflux in mice: relevance to autism and schizophrenia. Synapse. 2008; 62 (7):544–50. doi: <u>10.1002/syn.20525</u> PMID: <u>18435424</u>
- Konarski JZ, McIntyre RS, Grupp LA, Kennedy SH. Is the cerebellum relevant in the circuitry of neuropsychiatric disorders? J Psychia try Neurosci. 2005; 30(3):178–86. PMID: <u>15944742</u>
- Rogers TD, McKimm E, Dickson PE, Goldowitz D, Blaha CD, Mittleman G. Is autism a disease of the cerebellum? An integration of clinical and pre-clinical research. Frontiers in systems neuroscience. 2013; 7:15. doi: <u>10.3389/fnsys.2013.00015</u> PMID: <u>23717269</u>
- Watson TC, Becker N, Apps R, Jones MW. Back to front: cerebellar connections and interactions with the prefrontal contex. Frontiers in systems neuroscience. 2014; 8:4. doi: <u>10.3389/fnsys.2014.00004</u> PMID: 24550789
- Suzuki L, Coulon P, Sabel-Goedknegt EH, Ruigrok TJ. Organization of cerebral projections to identified cerebellar zones in the posterior cerebellum of the rat. J Neurosci. 2012; 32(32):10854–69. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1523/JNEUROSCI.0857-12.2012</u> PMID: <u>22875920</u>
- Bostan AC, Dum RP, Strick PL. Cerebellar networks with the cerebral cortex and basal gang la. Trends in cognitive sciences. 2013; 17(5):241–54. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.03.003 PMID: 23579055
- Kelly RM, Strick PL. Cerebellar loops with motor cortex and prefrontal cortex of a nonhuman primate. J Neurosci. 2003; 23(23):8432–44. PMID: <u>12968006</u>
- Grace AA. Gating of information flow with in the limbic system and the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Brain research Brain research reviews. 2000; 31(2–3):330–41. PMID: <u>10719160</u>
- Ma J, Leung LS. Deep brain stimulation of the medial septum or nucleus accumbens alleviates psychosis-relevant behavior in ketamine-treated rats. Behav Brain Res. 2014; 266: 174–82. Epub 2014/03/19. doi: <u>10.1016/j.bbr.2014.03.010</u> PMID: <u>24632470</u>
- Halpern CH, Torres N, Hurtig HI, Wolf JA, Stephen J, Oh MY, et al. Expanding applications of deep brain stimulation: a potential therapeutic role in obesity and addiction management. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2011; 153(12):2293–306. Epub 2011/10/07.
- Hadar R, Vengeliene V, Barroeta Hlusicke E, Canals S, Noori HR, Wieske F, et al. Paradoxical augmented relapse in alcohol-dependent rats during deep-brain stimulation in the nucleus accumbens. Transl Psychiatry. 2016; 6(6):e840. doi: <u>10.1038/tp.2016.100</u> PMID: <u>27327255</u>
- Small SA, Schobel SA, Buxton RB, Witter MP, Barnes CA. A pathophysiological framework of hippocampal dysfunction in ageing and disease. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2011; 12(10):585–601. doi: 10.1038/nrn3085 PMID: 21897434
- Tamminga CA, Stan AD, Wagner AD. The hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2010; 167(10):1178–93. Epub 2010/09/03. doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09081187</u> PMID: <u>20810471</u>
- Mueller K, Sacher J, Arelin K, Holiga S, Kratzsch J, Villringer A, et al. Overweight and obesity are associated with neuronal injury in the human cerebellum and hippocampus in young adults: a combined MRI, serum marker and gene expression study. Transl Psychiatry. 2012; 2:e200. Epub 2012/12/06. doi: 10.1038/tp.2012.121 PMID: 23212584

DBS in Rats: A PET Study

- Spalletta G, Piras F, Alex Rubino I, Caltagirone C, Fagioli S. Fronto-thalamic volumetry markers of somatic delusions and hallucinations in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 2013;212(1):54–64. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1016/j.pscychresns.2012.04.015</u> PMID: <u>23158777</u>
- Mathew RJ, Duncan GC, Weinman ML, Barr DL. Regional cerebral blood flow in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1982; 39(10):1121–4. PMID: <u>7125842</u>
- Ewing SG, Porr B, Pratt JA. Deep brain stimulation of the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus yields increases in the expression of zif-268 but not c-los in the frontal cortex. Journal of chemical neuroanatomy. 2013; 52:20–4. doi: 10.1016/i.jchemneu.2013.04.002 PMID: 23660497
- Covolan L, de Almeida AC, Amorim B, Cavarsan C, Miranda MF, Aarao MC, et al. Effects of anterior thalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation in chronic epileptic rats. PLoS One. 2014; 9(6):e97618. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1371/journal.pone.0097618</u> PMID: <u>24892420</u>
- Wang S, Wu DC, Fan XN, Zhu MZ, Hu QY, Zhou D, et al. Mediodorsal thalamic stimulation is not protective against seizures induced by amygdaloid kindling in rats. Neurosci Lett. 2010; 481(2):97–101. Epub 2010/07/06. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.06.060 PMID: 20600600
- Zhong XL, Yu JT, Zhang Q, Wang ND, Tan L. Deep brain stimulation for epilepsy in clinical practice and in animal models. Brain research bulletin. 2011; 85(3–4):81–8. doi: <u>10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.03.020</u> PMID: <u>21457763</u>
- Groenewegen HJ, Galis-de Graaf Y, Smeets WJ. Integration and segregation of limbic cortico-striatal loops at the thalamic level: an experimental tracing study in rats. Journal of chemical neuroanatomy. 1999; 16(3):167–85. PMID: <u>10422737</u>
- Elena Erro M, Lanciego JL, Gimenez-Ama ya JM. Re-examination of the thalamostriatal projections in the rat with retrograde tracers. Neuroscience research. 2002; 42(1):45–55. PMID: <u>11814608</u>
- Kessler RM, Woodward ND, Riccardi P, Li R, Ansari MS, Anderson S, et al. Dopamine D2 receptor levels in striatum, thalamus, substantia nigra, limbic regions, and cortex in schizophrenic subjects. Biol Psychiatry. 2009; 65(12):1024–31. Epub 2009/03/03. doi: <u>10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.12.029</u> PMID: <u>19251247</u>
- Lehrer DS, Christian BT, Mantil J, Murray AC, Buchsbaum BR, Oakes TR, et al. Thalamic and prefrontal FDG uptake in never medicated patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2005; 162(5):931–8. Epub 2005/05/03. doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.162.5.931</u> PMID: <u>15863795</u>
- Goozee R, Handley R, Kempton MJ, Dazzan P. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of antipsychotic medications on regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) in schizophrenia: association with response to treatment. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2014; 43:118–36. doi: <u>10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.03.</u> <u>014</u> PMID: <u>24690578</u>
- Ishii K. PET approaches for diagnosis of dementia. AJNR American journal of neuroradiology. 2014; 35 (11):2030–8. doi: <u>10.3174/ajnr.A3695</u> PMID: <u>23945233</u>
- Aggleton JP, Pralus A, Nelson AJ, Hornberger M. Thalamic pathology and memory loss in early Alzheimer's disease: moving the focus from the medial temporal lobe to Papez circuit. Brain: a journal of neurology. 2016; 139(Pt 7):1877–90.

# 5. Stimulating the nucleus accumbens in obesity: A positron emission tomography study after deep brain stimulation in a rodent model.

This chapter has been published as an original article:

Casquero-Veiga M, García-García D, Pascau J, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML (2018b) Stimulating the nucleus accumbens in obesity: A positron emission tomography study after deep brain stimulation in a rodent model. PLOS ONE 13:e0204740



### OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Casquero-Veiga M, Garcia-Garcia D, Pascau J, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML (2018) Stimulating the nucleus accumbens in obesity: A positron emission tomography study after deep brain stimulation in a rodent model. PLoS ONE 13 (9): e0204740. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0204740.

Editor: Mathias Toft, Oslo Universitetssykehus, NORWAY

Received: March 14, 2018

Accepted: September 13, 2018

Published: September 27, 2018

Copyright © 2018 Casquero-Veiga et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the paper.

Funding: This research was supported by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness ISCIII grants (PI14/00860, CPII1 4/00005), Ministry of Economy, Industry and Competitiveness (PI17/ 01766), cofunded by ERDF (FEDER) Funds from the European Commission 'Away of making Europe', Fundación Maptre, Fundación Alicia Koplowitz (FAK2016/01), 'Delegación de Gobierno

#### RESEARCH ARTICLE

### Stimulating the nucleus accumbens in obesity: A positron emission tomography study after deep brain stimulation in a rodent model

Marta Casquero-Veiga <sup>1</sup>, David García-García<sup>2</sup>, Javier Pascau<sup>1,3,4</sup>, Manuel Desco<sup>1,3,4,5</sup>, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro<sup>1,3</sup>

 Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón (IISGM), Madrid, Spain, 2 Facultad de Ciencia y Tecnología, Universidad Isabel I, Burgos, Spain, 3 CIBER de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Madrid, Spain, 4 Departamento de Bioingeniería e Ingeniería Aeroespacial, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Leganés, Spain, 5 Centro Nacional de Investigaciones Cardiovasculares (CNIC), Madrid, Spain

\* desco@hggm.es

#### Abstract

#### Purpose

The nucleus accumbens (NAcc) has been suggested as a possible target for deep brain stimulation (DBS) in the treatment of obesity. Our hypothesis was that NAcc-DBS would modulate brain regions related to reward and food intake regulation, consequently reducing the food intake and, finally, the weight gain. Therefore, we examined changes in brain glucose metabolism, weight gain and food intake after NAcc-DBS in a rat model of obesity.

#### Procedures

Electrodes were bilaterally implanted in 2 groups of obese Zucker rats targeting the NAcc. One group received stimulation one hour daily during 15 days, while the other remained as control. Weight and daily consumption of food and water were everyday registered the days of stimulation, and twice per week during the following month. Positron emission tomography (PET) studies with 2-deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose (FDG) were performed 1 day after the end of DBS. PET data was assessed by statistical parametric mapping (SPM12) software and region of interest (ROI) analyses.

#### Results

NAcc-DBS lead to increased metabolism in the cingulate-retrosplenial-parietal association cortices, and decreased metabolism in the NAcc, thalamic and pretectal nuclei. Furthermore, ROIs analyses confirmed these results by showing a significant striatal and thalamic hypometabolism, and a cortical hypermetabolic region. However, NAcc-DBS did not induce a decrease in either weight gain or food intake.



Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

para el Plan Nacional sobre Drogas' (PNSD 2017/ 085), Comunidad de Madrid (BRADE-CM S2013/ IOE-2958) and Fundación Tatiana Pérez de Guzmán el Bueno. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

#### Conclusions

NAcc-DBS led to changes in the metabolism of regions associated with cognitive and reward systems, whose impairment has been described in obesity.

#### Introduction

Obesity is defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation which may impair health [1]. The prevalence of obesity has reached epidemic levels, and its comorbid conditions cause at least 2.8 million deaths per year worldwide [2]. In addition, obesity is a risk factor for many other highly prevalent diseases [3].

Initial anti-obesity treatments focus on diet and exercise routines [4]. However, in refractory patients, specialists turn to pharmacological and surgical procedures, which can cause serious adverse effects and fail to control the disease in the long term [5,6]. Therefore, new therapeutic approaches must be found to reduce the prevalence of obesity. Among them, deep brain stimulation (DBS) seems promising for treatment-resistant obesity. This therapy involves sending electric stimuli from a pulse generator to brain nuclei via electrodes in order to modify impaired function. However, the mechanism of action of this approach remains unknown. In this sense, the traditional concept of an ablative effect of high-frequency (HF) DBS (100-160 Hz) [7.8] is now being replaced. In fact, there is growing interest in alternative proposals, such as the idea that HF-DBS could cause an 'informational lesion' [9] or disruption of the neural informational flow [10] in the target structure, which would produce therapeutic benefits. Therefore, inadequate signals from a specific nucleus could be isolated by stimulating a downstream target and hence correcting the malfunction of the neural circuit. In any case, DBS offers important benefits over ablative neurosurgery, such as reduced invasiveness, possible reversibility, and the possibility of in vivo adjustment of the stimulus applied [11]. Furthermore, several authors have shown stereotaxic surgery to be safe in clinical procedures [12-15], thus reinforcing its potential application to a broader range of diseases. In this sense, DBS has been validated as a palliative treatment in motor diseases [16] and obsessive-compulsive disorder [12], and its potential role has been investigated in other neuropsychiatric disorders [18].

The nucleus accumbens (NAcc) has received much attention as a key target structure of the reward system in the treatment of obesity [19–21]. Therefore, NAcc-DBS could modulate the reward processes related to food intake and lead to weight reduction [7,20,22]. Two case reports assessing bilateral NAcc-DBS in obese patients show significant weight loss [23,24]. Interestingly, the second report described a patient with pathological obesity due to cranio-pharyngioma surgery [24], thus highlighting the interaction between the homeostatic and reward mechanisms involved in feeding. The communication between these neural systems would be mediated by an interplay between the lateral hypothalamus (LH), ventral tegmental area (VTA), and NAcc, in which leptin would play a central role [20].

Neuroimaging offers a variety of powerful tools to study the regions involved in the pathophysiology of obesity, as well as those modulated by DBS. In particular, positron emission tomography (PET) with 2-deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose (FDG) is a suitable technique for characterizing functional neuronal networks in small animals, and has proven useful for elucidating the mechanism of action of DBS [25,26]. In fact, we previously showed that LH-DBS induced metabolic changes in brain regions related to the control of food intake and reduced weight gain in a leptin signal-deficient model of obesity (obese Zucker rat) [27].

Given this background, and considering the hypothesis that DBS can block the impaired signaling sent by VTA and LH in the absence of the influence of leptin, we assessed the metabolic changes induced by NAcc-DBS in our previous animal model by applying an identical DBS protocol [20] (see Fig 1). As a result, the stimulation could reduce food intake and, hence, weight gain.

#### Material and methods

#### Animals

The obese Zucker rat was selected as an animal model of treatment resistant obesity, which is representative of the potential beneficiaries of this therapy. It is homozygous for a truncated form of the leptin receptor and hence has genetic resistance to this hormone. Leptin is released by adipose tissue in proportion to its extension and the amount of lipids ingested during meals. It targets the lateral LH, ventromedial hypothalamus and VTA [20,29], and acts as a signal to stop eating. Consequently, Zucker rats experience hyperphagia, hyperinsulinemia, and hyperlipidemia; which lead to spontaneous obesity [30].

In this work, fifteen adult male obese Zucker rats (fa/fa<sup>-</sup>, Charles Rivers Laboratories, Spain) (10-week old) were housed individually in a temperature- and humidity-controlled room on a 12 h dark/light cycle with food (standard laboratory chow) and water available *ad libitum*. Weight, food and water consumption were monitored daily during the 15 days of stimulation, and twice per week during the following month. Measurements were always collected at the same time of the day. Prior to the PET study, animals were deprived of food but allowed free access to water for 6–8 hours. The study design is shown in Fig 2.

All experimental animal procedures were conducted according to European Communities Council Directive 2010/63/EU and approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation of Hospital Gregorio Marafión.

#### Surgery

Stereotaxic procedures were performed at 10 weeks-age under a mixture of ketamine/xylazine (100/10 mg/kg). Concentric bipolar platinum-iridium electrodes (MS303/8-AIU/Spc, Bilaney Consultants GmbH, Germany) were bilaterally implanted to target the NAcc core (+1.2 mm posterior and +1.5 mm lateral from bregma, -8.2 mm ventral from the dura) [31]. Electrodes were fixed to the skull bone with acrylic dental cement (Technovit, Heraeus-Kulzer, Germany) reinforced with four small stainless steel screws attached to the skull. Ceftriaxone (100 mg/kg IM) and buprenorphine (0.1 mg/kg IP) were administered during 5 days as postoperative care. The correct electrode location verification is shown in Fig 3.

Remarkably, although the electrodes were implanted in the NAcc core, the selected stimulation protocol is expected to directly affect a wider area, including also the NAcc shell [32]. Therefore, we will refer to the NAcc as the target of stimulation, without distinguishing between subregions.

#### DBS protocol

DBS started 7 days after surgery to allow the animals sufficient recovery time. Animals were divided into 2 groups: NAcc-sham (N = 9) (surgery with electrodes implantation but no stimulation) and NAcc-DBS (N = 6) (surgery plus stimulation). As animals could freely move when receiving the stimulation into their cages, the stimulator wire was susceptible of snagging due to animals movements. Therefore, NAcc-sham animals were not plugged to the stimulator in "off position" in order to avoid losing any surgical implant.

DBS was performed with an isolated stimulator device (CS 120 8i, CIBERTEC S.A., Spain) set at a constant current of 150 µA (130 Hz) and a pulse width of 100 µs (biphasic stimulation



Fig 1. Study hypothesis. Schematic explanation of the hypothalamic-mesolimbicbrain circuit state in the following: A) healthy brain; B) obese Zucker brain; and C) obese Zucker brain with NAcc-DBS, showing the disruptive mechanism of action theory [9,10]. Partially adapted from [20,28] [Arc: arcuate, LH: lateral hypothalamus, VTA: ventral tegmental area, NAcc: nucleus accumbens].

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204740.g001

mode). Stimulation was applied for 1 hour/day over 15 days. These settings were chosen based on previous preclinical and dinical studies [25,33,34].

#### Imaging studies

PET studies were acquired one day after the DBS protocol finished with a small-animal PET/ CT scanner (ARGUS PET/CT, SEDECAL, Spain), under anesthesia with isoflurane (3% induction, 1.5% maintenance in 100% O<sub>2</sub>). 2-deoxy-2-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-D-glucose (FDG) (~37 MBq) was injected through the tail vein, and animals were scanned for 45 min. Images were reconstructed using a 2D-OSEM algorithm, Full Width at Half Maximum (FWHM) of 1.45 mm, with a voxel size of 0.3875 x 0.3875 x 0.775 mm<sup>3</sup> and an energy window of 400–700 keV. Decay and dead-time corrections were applied.

We obtained two CT scans for each animal: at the end of the surgery to check the correct placement of the electrodes, and simultaneously with the PET studies. CT studies were acquired with the same scanner (340 mA, 40 kV, 360 projections, 8 shots, and 200 µm of



Fig 2. Study design. Design of the experimental procedures performed during the study in relation to the age of the animals.

https://doi.org/10.1371/jpurnal.pone.0204740.g002

Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study



Fig 3. Electrodes placement verification. Representative sagittal (left) and axial (right) views of a CT scan registered to the MR template of an animal next to the correspondent slice from [31] to verify the correct electrodelocation in the NAcc.

#### https://doi.org/10.1371/jpurnal.pone.0204740.g003

resolution) and reconstructed using an FDK algorithm (isotropic voxel size of 0.121 mm) [35]. Only animals with a correct placement of the dectrodes were included in the study.

An MRI scan of a single non-operated animal was acquired with a 7-Tesla Biospec 70/20 scanner (Bruker, Germany) for use as anatomical template in the statistical analyses. A T2 spin-echo sequence was acquired, with TE = 33 ms and TR = 3732 ms. The scan parameters were as follows: 34 slices measuring 0.8 mm in thickness; matrix size 256x256 pixels; and FOV of 3.5x3.5 cm<sup>2</sup>. The artifact caused by the surface coil was corrected.

#### Data processing and statistical analysis

Intake and body weight. Daily food and water intake during the DBS period, as well as average food ingested every 5 days, were used to evaluate the real consumption, as daily consumption is a very noisy variable. Body weight results are expressed as the difference in weight (%) with respect to baseline. Changes in weight and intakes were evaluated with GraphPad Prism version 5.00 (GraphPad Software, USA), using a 2-way ANOVA to compare both groups. Moreover, we used linear regression to evaluate the progression of weight changes from baseline, comparing the obtained slope for each group by an ANCOVA analysis.

**PET data**. PET data followed a preprocessing registration protocol previously described [27]. Briefly, PET scans were co-registered to a random reference CT scan by an automatic method based on mutual information [36]. The MRI scan was also registered to the same spatial frame with the same method. Images were studied by voxel-by-voxel and region of interest (ROI) analyses. For the former methodology, PET registered images were normalized to global mean brain intensity in accordance to Shinohara *et al.* criteria [37], and smoothed using a Gaussian kernel of 0.96875 x 0.96875 x 1.9375 mm<sup>3</sup> of FWHM. A whole brain (WB) mask was segmented from the registered MRI study and applied to all PET images in order to eliminate voxels outside the brain. Then, we performed a voxel-by-voxel analysis of data using SPM12 (http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/). Groups were compared using a two sample T-test, setting a significance threshold of p<0.005 uncorrected (voxel-level significance), but cluster-based corrected in order to avoid type II errors [38]. Moreover, only significant regions larger than 50 activated connected voxels were accepted aiming at reducing type I error.

ROI analysis was performed to discard global differences in brain metabolism in order to confirm the validity of WB as normalization region. Moreover, we studied other brain areas with the aim of ratifying the previously observed group differences in the voxel-by-voxel

procedure. Thus, masks from WB, NAcc, caudate-putamen (CPu), thalamus (Th) and cortex (Cx) were segmented from the registered MRI. WB data was evaluated by means of standardized uptake values (SUV); while the remaining ROIs data were normalized to the mean intensity of the WB mask. Analyses were performed by a two sample T-test (p<0.05) in GraphPad Prism version 5.00.

#### Results

#### In vivo study of the DBS effect

DBS in the NAcc produced significant metabolic differences in several brain regions. In fact, voxel-by-voxel analysis revealed a decreased FDG uptake in NAcc, pretectal nucleus and thalamus (T = 5.66,  $p_{FDR}$ <0.001). Moreover, an increased uptake of the radiotracer is located in a cortical cluster that comprises different portions of the cingulate, retrosplenial and parietal association cortices (T = 5.05,  $p_{FDR}$ <0.001) (Fig.4, Table 1). Finally, there is also a slight hypermetabolic region in the ectorhinal–lateral entorhinal cortex (T = 4.73,  $p_{unc}$ <0.001,  $p_{FDR}$  = 0.150), although it does not overcome the duster-based correction thresholds.

ROI analysis did not reveal statistically significant global differences in brain metabolism between sham and stimulated animals ( $p_{SUV}>0.05$ ), which supports the validity of WB mean intensity as a normalization method in this study. Furthermore, we found significant changes in NAcc (p<0.01), CPu (p<0.05), Th (p<0.01) and Cx (p<0.01) (<u>Table 2</u>).



Fig 4. NAcc-DBS effects on brain met abolism. Axial (left), coronal (upper right) and sagittal (lower right) views of the brain. Colored PET overlays on the MR reference indicate increased FDG uptake (hot colors) or decreased FDG uptake (cold colors) 1 day after the end of the stimulation in NAcc. Left (L), right (R), dorsal (D), ventral (V). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204740.g004

#### Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

Table 1.	Changes in	brain metabolic	activity	following	15 e	lays of	NAcc-DBS.
----------	------------	-----------------	----------	-----------	------	---------	-----------

ROI	Hemisphere	k	т	1/4	Punc.	Prws	Рюк
NAcc-PT-Th	L & R	654	5.66	Ļ	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Cg-RS-Pta	L & R	923	5.05	Î	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Ect-LEnt	L	101	4.73	1	< 0.001	0.253	0.150

ROI: Region of interest (Cg: cingulate cortex, Ect: ectorhinal cortex, LEnt: lateral entorhinal cortex, NA c: nucleus accumbens, PT: pretectal nucleus, PTa: parietal association cortex, RS: retrosplenial cortex, Th: thalamus). Hemisphere: left (L) and right (R). k: cluster size, T: T Student. Glucose metabolism: increase (<sup>†</sup>) and decrease (<sup>⊥</sup>). p: p value (unc: uncorrected, FWE: family wise error, FDR: false discovery rate).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204740.t001

#### Weight

Neither significant differences in initial body weight were observed for the sham (382.20  $\pm$ 19.78 g) or DBS (358.99 $\pm$ 36.00 g) groups, nor in the weight gain between groups (<u>Fig 5</u>). Moreover, no statistically significant difference between slopes was found neither during the DBS treatment nor during the posterior month.

#### Food and water intake

No significant differences were found in food and water intake (daily or accumulated) between groups. (Fig 6). However, both food and water intake revealed a significant effect of the time (food: F = 57.76, p<0.001; water: F = 44.02, p<0.001) and the interaction between factors (food: F = 14.54, p<0.001; water: F = 7.748, p<0.001). Moreover, post-hoc test revealed differences between groups in food intake at the beginning of the DBS treatment (daily, day 3: T = 3.01, p<0.05; accumulated, days 0 to 5: T = 3.02, p<0.05), showing reduced accumulated food intake in the sham group compared to DBS animals.

#### Discussion

DBS has recently emerged as a potential therapy for treatment-resistant obesity. Thus, electrically modulating the impaired activity of brain nuclei involved in the pathophysiology of obesity, such as the NAcc, has proven to be effective in clinical studies. However, controversy regarding effectiveness can be found in the literature, and even the modulatory results for NAcc-DBS in the obese brain remain unclear. Therefore, identifying the functional consequences of NAcc-DBS could help to better understand the physiological effects of this approach and to decipher its mechanism of action.

Ours is the first study to apply small-animal FDG-PET to study brain networks undergoing 15 consecutive days of intermittent NAcc-DBS in an animal model of obesity. Thus, we showed that NAcc-DBS modulated glucose metabolism in neuronal networks related to

#### Table 2. ROIs analysis results.

ROI	WB <sub>SUV</sub>	NAcc	CPu	Th	Сх
Sham	58.15 ± 8.28	$1.30 \pm 0.06$	$1.32 \pm 0.05$	$1.20 \pm 0.04$	0.90 ±0.11
DBS	51.38 ± 8.97	$1.20 \pm 0.02$	$1.24 \pm 0.05$	$1.12 \pm 0.01$	1.08 ±0.07
т	1.50	3.57**	2.91*	3.96**	3.78**

"p<0.01

\*p<0.05

Data: mean ± SD, ROI: region of interest (WB: whole brain, NAcc: nucleus accumbens, CPu: caudate putamen, Th: thalamus, Cx: cortex), SUV: standardized uptake value, T: T Student

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204740.t002



Fig 5. NAcc-DBS does not reduced weight gain. Weight difference (in percentage) with respect to weight recorded before DBS (baseline) in sham and DBS groups. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM. The gray-striped area indicates the DBS application period.

https://doi.org/10.1371/jpurnal.pone.0204740.g005

reward and memory systems. However, we did not observe a significantly lower weight gain in animals that underwent NAcc-DBS.

#### Brain metabolism

Our PET data reveal a reduction in NAcc metabolism after 15 days of intermittent stimulation (1 hour per day). This finding could be consistent with reported neural informative disruption theories [9,10]. In this sense, the action potentials produced by NAcc would be governed by the stimulation pulses, with the result that DBS would 'capture' NAcc activity [9].

Moreover, one day after the DBS protocol had finished, NAcc-DBS produced a modulation pattern in brain metabolism that is similar to that observed with LH-DBS [27]. In fact, NAcc-DBS decreased glucose metabolism in the caudate-putamen, an effect which has also been





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204740.g006

Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

shown in previous reports on major depression [39,40]. These nuclei are in close communication with the cortex and mediate motor and cognitive functions [41,42]. Indeed, patients with a tendency towards obesity exhibited hyperactivation of the cortico-striato-thalamic pathway in response to a food-dependent reward feeling [43]. Similarly, food images increased glucose metabolism in the striatum of obese patients, while lowering baseline  $D_2$  receptor density [44]. This finding may reflect compensatory downregulation owing to the frequent transient increases in dopamine levels associated with recurrent overstimulation of the reward circuit by eating [45]. Consequently, this overstimulation might be counteracted by NAcc-DBS, as it reduced glucose metabolism in the striatum and thalamus.

NAcc-DBS also increased metabolism in the retrosplenial cortex, which plays a direct role in the consolidation of long-term memory owing to its association with the hippocampus, the parahippocampal region, and the thalamic nuclei [46–48]. Therefore, retrosplenial dysfunction could be caused by hippocampal damage and consequently contribute to the impact of hippocampal damage [49], thus supporting the idea that the thalamic nuclei depend on each other in memory and learning tasks [47,49]. Obesity has been related to defective hippocampal activity [48], which leads to cognitive deficiency in obese patients [50] and obese Zucker rats [51]. Given the strong connectivity between both structures [46], it seems reasonable that the increased metabolism observed in the cortical region might have an effect on defective hippocampal processes, thus improving the damaged memory function described in this animal model. However, behavioral experiments must be performed to corroborate these findings.

Of note, previous studies of the consequences of bilateral NAcc-DBS assessed by *in vivo* functional imaging were mainly focused on the acute effect of the NAcc-DBS (e.g. [52–55]) or applied a continuous stimulation protocol during prolonged periods [56,57], thus preventing them from being compared with the results we report here. To this end, further research should be carried out to uncover the benefits and modulatory consequences resulting from different stimulation protocols.

#### Body weight and food and water intake

Given the essential role of leptin in the mesolimbic circuit, the NAcc was selected as the DBS target for the obese Zucker rat [58,59]. Consequently, leptin regulates the mesolimbic reward centers, which include the NAcc, thus promoting dopamine (DA) synthesis [59] or release [60] and inducing a food-associated reward. However, the NAcc lacks leptin receptors, and its influence is mediated by VTA and LH [20]. Therefore, obese leptin-resistant animals present impaired feelings of satiety and reward, which lead them to increase their caloric intake [61,62].

Importantly, leptin receptor is present in dopaminergic neurons of the VTA, which directly project to the NAcc and receive afferent inputs from LH neurons expressing leptin receptor [58]. In fact, the increase in DA produced by food intake in the NAcc is inhibited by leptin signals in the VTA, which also induce cessation of food intake [59]. Neto *et al.* reported lower baseline DA and serotonin levels in Zucker rats than in Wistar rats and unchanged NAcc-DA flow when leptin is intranasally administered to Zucker rats, as opposed to a clear increase in Wistar rats [63]. Furthermore, these alterations seem to be exclusive to the obese Zucker rat strain, which exhibited lower striatal DA transporter levels than their lean littermates (+/fa) [64]. These findings reinforced the idea of DAergic modulation induced by leptin in the reward system, which is directly hampered in the Zucker rat.

Given the neural disruption theories applying to the mechanism of action of DBS [9,10], stimulating the NAcc would do the following: 1) isolate this structure from the VTA and LH signals, since they promote food intake owing to the absence of leptin influence; and 2) recover

Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

normal functioning of the NAcc by directly taking charge of its activity. However, in contrast with our previous results with LH-DBS [2Z], NAcc-DBS did not reduce weight gain, possibly owing to the firm anorexigenic modulation of the LH and ventromedial hypothalamus by leptin [7]. In this sense, although NAcc-DBS was expected to modulate the impaired function of the reward system [65,66], it would not be able to resolve the imbalance caused by the lack of leptin signal in the hypothalamus.

In addition, van der Plasse *et al.* also reported absence of variation in average food intake when DBS was applied to the NAcc core of Wistar rats, whereas stimulation of the NAcc medial shell increased food intake [67]. Then, the fact that the stimulation could have affected both the core and the shell could explain the lack of anti-obesity effect in NAcc-DBS animals.

Importantly, the present study was based on a genetic model of obesity; in other words, a diet-induced model of obesity could show different effects. Zhang *et al.* reported that long-term DBS applied to the NAcc shell attenuated weight gain in rats with diet-induced obesity [68]. Similar results were also obtained in a mouse model of binge eating after NAcc shell DBS, although no related differences were observed after stimulating the NAcc core [22]. These results highlight the need to clarify the role of NAcc substructures before this nucleus can be considered a clinical target for DBS in obesity.

#### Limitations of the study

Our study is subject to limitations. On the one hand, we cannot extrapolate the effects observed in obese Zucker rats to lean Zucker rats or other animal models of obesity. Nevertheless, our animal model is representative of a particularly resistant kind of obesity, which could potentially benefit from NAcc-DBS depending on the genetic background. We selected the DBS parameters for three main reasons: the success obtained in previous approaches using bilateral DBS [23,24] and similar stimulation protocols [22,27,34,69]; the tolerance associated with continuous DBS treatments [70,71]; and the technical difficulties in obtaining portable rat stimulators in our facilities. Nevertheless, DBS protocols which were doser to the current clinical scenario may reveal larger differences in weight gain [22,68].

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, we describe an experimental approach to evaluate the neuromodulatory consequences of NAcc as a target of DBS in the treatment of obesity. Although no substantial effects in weight or intake parameters were observed, we proved that brain regions that were functionally impaired in obesity were modulated by an intermittent NAcc-DBS protocol.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Alexandra de Francisco, Yolanda Sierra, Iván Balsa and Diego Romero for their support in stereotaxic surgery, animal handling, and acquisition of imaging studies.

#### Author Contributions

Conceptualization: María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Data curation: Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Formal analysis: Marta Casquero-Veiga.

Funding acquisition: Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Investigation: Marta Casquero-Veiga, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Methodology: Marta Casquero-Veiga, David García-García, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Project administration: María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Resources: Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Software: David García-García.

Supervision: Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Validation: Marta Casquero-Veiga, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Writing - original draft: Marta Casquero-Veiga, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Writing – review & editing: Marta Casquero-Veiga, Javier Pascau, Manuel Desco, María Luis a Soto-Montenegro.

#### References

- W.H.O. Obesity and Overweight [Internet]. 2018 [cited 9 Mar 2018]. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/</u> mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/.
- Bastien M, Poirier P, Lemieux I, Després J-P. Overview of epidemiology and contribution of obesity to cardiovascular disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. Elsevier Inc.; 2014; 56: 369–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pcad.2013.10.016</u> PMID: 24438728
- Jebb S. Obesity: causes and consequences. Women's Heal Med. 2004; 1: 38–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1383/wohm.1.1.38.55418</u>
- Kushner RF. Weight loss strategies for treatment of obesity. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. Elsevier Inc.; 2014; 56: 465–472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2013.09.005</u> PMID: <u>24438739</u>
- Taylor J, Dietrich E, Powell J. New and emerging pharmacologic therapies for type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, and obesity. Clin Ther. 2013; 35: A3–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2012.12.012</u> PMID: 23328274
- Stefater Ma, Kohli R, Inge TH. Advances in the surgical treatment of morbid obesity. Mol Aspects Med. Elsevier Ltd; 2013; 34: 84–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2012.10.006</u> PMID: 23089054
- Halpern CH, Wolf Ja, Bale TL, Stunkard AJ, Danish SF, Grossman M, et al. Deep brain stimulation in the treatment of obesity. J Neurosurg. 2008; 109: 625–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.3171/JNS/2008/109/10/</u> 0625 PMID: <u>18826348</u>
- Chiken S, Nambu A. Disrupting neuronal transmission: mechanism of DBS? Front Syst Neurosci. 2014; 8: 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00001</u>
- McIntyre CC, Anderson RW. Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms: The Control of Network Activity via Neurochemistry Modulation. J Neurochem. 2016; 139: 338–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13649</u> PMID: <u>27273305</u>
- Chiken S, Nambu A. Mechanism of Deep Brain Stimulation: Inhibition, Excitation, or Disruption? Neuroscientist. 2015; 22: 313–322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858415581986</u> PMID: <u>25888630</u>
- Kuhn J, Gaebel W, Klosterkoetter J, Woopen C. Deep brain stimulation as a new therapeutic approach in therapy-resistant mental disorders: ethical aspects of investigational treatment. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2009;259 Suppl: S135–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-009-0055-8</u> PMID: <u>19876671</u>
- Hamani C, McAndrews MP, Cohn M, Oh M, Zumsteg D, Shapiro CM, et al. Memory enhancement induced by hypothalamic/fornix deep brain stimulation. Ann Neurol. 2008; 63: 119–23. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ana.21295</u> PMID: 18232017
- Voges J, Waerzeggers Y, Maarouf M, Lehrke R, Koulousakis A, Lenartz D, et al. Deep-brain stimulation: Long-term analysis of complications caused by hardware and surgery-experiences from a single centre. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006; 77: 868–872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2005.081232</u> PMID: <u>16574733</u>
- McGovern RA, Sheehy JP, Zacharia BE, Chan AK, Ford B, McKhann GM. Unchanged safety outcomes in deep brain stimulation surgery for Parkinson disease despite a decentralization of care. J Neurosurg. 2013; 119: 1546–1555. <u>https://doi.org/10.3171/2013.8.JNS13475</u>PMID: <u>24074498</u>
- Zrinzo L, Foltynie T, Limousin P, Hariz MI. Reducing hemorrhagic complications in functional neurosurgery: a large case series and systematic literature review. J Neurosurg. 2012; 116:84–94. <u>https://doi. org/10.3171/2011.8.JNS101407</u> PMID: <u>21905798</u>

Methodology: Marta Casquero-Veiga, David García-García, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Project administration: María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Resources: Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Software: David García-García.

Supervision: Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Validation: Marta Casquero-Veiga, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Writing - original draft: Marta Casquero-Veiga, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

Writing – review & editing: Marta Casquero-Veiga, Javier Pascau, Manuel Desco, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro.

#### References

- W.H.O. Obesity and Overweight [Internet]. 2018 [cited 9 Mar 2018]. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/</u> mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/.
- Bastien M, Poirier P, Lemieux I, Després J-P. Overview of epidemiology and contribution of obesity to cardiovascular disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. Elsevier Inc.; 2014; 56: 369–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pcad.2013.10.016</u> PMID: 24438728
- Jebb S. Obesity: causes and consequences. Women's Heal Med. 2004; 1: 38–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1383/wohm.1.1.38.55418</u>
- Kushner RF. Weight loss strategies for treatment of obesity. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. Elsevier Inc.; 2014; 56: 465–472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2013.09.005</u> PMID: <u>24438739</u>
- Taylor J, Dietrich E, Powell J. New and emerging pharmacologic therapies for type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, and obesity. Clin Ther. 2013; 35: A3–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2012.12.012</u> PMID: 23328274
- Stefater Ma, Kohli R, Inge TH. Advances in the surgical treatment of morbid obesity. Mol Aspects Med. Elsevier Ltd; 2013; 34: 84–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2012.10.006</u> PMID: 23089054
- Halpern CH, Wolf Ja, Bale TL, Stunkard AJ, Danish SF, Grossman M, et al. Deep brain stimulation in the treatment of obesity. J Neurosurg. 2008; 109: 625–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.3171/JNS/2008/109/10/</u> 0625 PMID: <u>18826348</u>
- Chiken S, Nambu A. Disrupting neuronal transmission: mechanism of DBS? Front Syst Neurosci. 2014; 8: 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00001</u>
- McIntyre CC, Anderson RW. Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms: The Control of Network Activity via Neurochemistry Modulation. J Neurochem. 2016; 139: 338–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13649</u> PMID: <u>27273305</u>
- Chiken S, Nambu A. Mechanism of Deep Brain Stimulation: Inhibition, Excitation, or Disruption? Neuroscientist. 2015; 22: 313–322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858415581986</u> PMID: <u>25888630</u>
- Kuhn J, Gaebel W, Klosterkoetter J, Woopen C. Deep brain stimulation as a new therapeutic approach in therapy-resistant mental disorders: ethical aspects of investigational treatment. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2009;259 Suppl: S135–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-009-0055-8</u> PMID: <u>19876671</u>
- Hamani C, McAndrews MP, Cohn M, Oh M, Zumsteg D, Shapiro CM, et al. Memory enhancement induced by hypothalamic/fornix deep brain stimulation. Ann Neurol. 2008; 63: 119–23. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ana.21295</u> PMID: 18232017
- Voges J, Waerzeggers Y, Maarouf M, Lehrke R, Koulousakis A, Lenartz D, et al. Deep-brain stimulation: Long-term analysis of complications caused by hardware and surgery-experiences from a single centre. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006; 77: 868–872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2005.081232</u> PMID: <u>16574733</u>
- McGovern RA, Sheehy JP, Zacharia BE, Chan AK, Ford B, McKhann GM. Unchanged safety outcomes in deep brain stimulation surgery for Parkinson disease despite a decentralization of care. J Neurosurg. 2013; 119: 1546–1555. <u>https://doi.org/10.3171/2013.8JNS13475</u>PMID: <u>24074498</u>
- Zrinzo L, Foltynie T, Limousin P, Hariz MI. Reducing hemorrhagic complications in functional neurosurgery: a large case series and systematic literature review. J Neurosurg. 2012; 116:84–94. <u>https://doi. org/10.3171/2011.8.JNS101407</u> PMID: <u>21905798</u>

Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

- Shah RS, Chang S-Y, Min H-K, Cho Z-H, Blaha CD, Lee KH. Deep Brain Stimulation: Technology at the Cutting Edge. J Clin Neurol. Korean Neurological Association; 2010; 6: 167–182. <u>https://doi.org/10. 3988/jcn.2010.6.4.167</u> PMID: 21264197
- Dougherty DD. Deep Brain Stimulation: Clinical Applications. Psychiatr Clin North Am. Elsevier Inc; 2018; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2018.04.004 PMID: 30098652
- Sankar T, Tierney TS, Hamani C. Novel applications of deep brain stimulation. Surg Neurol Int. 2012; 3: S26–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2152-7806.91607</u> PMID: <u>22826807</u>
- Bétry C, Thobois S, Laville M, Disse E. Deep brain stimulation as a therapeutic option for obesity: A critical review. Obes Res Clin Pract. Asia Oceania Assoc. for the Study of Obesity; 2018; 2–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orcp.2018.02.004</u> PMID: 29475604
- Taghva A, Corrigan JD, Rezai AR. Obesity and brain addiction circuitry: Implications for deep brain stimulation. Neurosurgery. 2012; 71: 224–238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.0b013e31825972ab</u> PMID: 22513843
- Dupre D a, Tomycz N, Oh MY, Whiting D. Deep brain stimulation for obesity: past, present, and future targets. Neurosurg Focus. 2015; 38: 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.3.FOCUS1542.Disclosure</u>
- Halpern CH, Tekriwal A, Santolb J, Keating JG, Wolf JA, Daniels D, et al. Amelioration of binge eating by nucleus accumbens shell deep brain stimulation in mice involves D2 receptor modulation. 2013; 33: 7122–7129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3237-12.2013.Amelioration</u>
- Mantione M, van de Brink W, Schuurman PR, Denys D. Smoking cessation and weight loss after chronic deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens: therapeutic and research implications: case report. Neurosurgery. 2010; 66: E218; discussion E218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000360570.</u> 40339.64 PMID: 20023526
- Harat M, Rudaś M, Zleliński P, Birska J, Sokal P. Nucleus accumbens stimulation in pathological obesity. Neurol Neurochir Pol. 2016; 50: 207–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pjnns.2016.01.014</u> PMID: 27154450
- Klein J, Soto-Montenegro ML, Pascau J, Günther L, Kupsch A, Desco M, et al. A novel approach to investigate neuronal network activity patterns affected by deep brain stimulation in rats. J Psychiatr Res. Elsevier Ltd; 2011; 45:927–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.12.008</u> PMID: <u>21227451</u>
- Hadar R, Soto-Montenegro ML, Götz T, Wieske F, Sohr R, Desco M, et al. Using a maternal immune stimulation model of schizophrenia to study behavioral and neurobiological alterations over the developmental course. Schizophr Res. 2015; 166: 238–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2015.05.010</u> PMID: 26055633
- Soto-Montenegro ML, Pascau J, Desco M. Response to deep brain stimulation in the lateral hypothalamic area in a rat model of obesity: in vivo assessment of brain glucose metabolism. Mol Imaging Biol. 2014; 16:830–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-014-0753-0 PMID: 24903031
- Van Zessen R, Van Der Plasse G, Adan RAH. Contribution of the mesolimbic dopamine system in mediating the effects of leptin and ghrelin on feeding. Proc Nutr Soc. 2012; 71: 435–445. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0029665112000614</u> PMID: <u>22800867</u>
- Arora S, Anubhuti. Role of neuropeptides in appetite regulation and obesity—a review. Neuropeptides. 2006; 40: 375–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2006.07.001</u> PMID: <u>16935329</u>
- Fulton S, Woodside B, Shizgal P. Modulation of brain reward circuitry by leptin. Science. 2000; 287: 125–8. Available: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10615045</u> PMID: <u>10615045</u>
- Paxinos G, Watson C. The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. 4th ed. Academic Press, editor. 1998.
- Hamani C, Amorim BO, Wheeler AL, Diwan M, Driesslein K, Covolan L, et al. Deep brain stimulation in rats: Different targets induce similar antidepressant-like effects but influence different circuits. Neurobiol Dis. 2014; 71: 205–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2014.08.007</u> PMID: <u>25131446</u>
- Laxton A. W., Lipsman N., & Lozano AM. Deep brain stimulation for cognitive disorders. Handb Clin Neurol. 2013; 116: 307–311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53497-2.00025-5</u> PMID: <u>24112904</u>
- Rummel J, Voget M, Hadar R, Ewing S, Sohr R, Klein J, et al. Testing different paradigms to optimize antidepressant deep brain stimulation in different rat models of depression. J Psychiatr Res. Elsevier Ltd; 2016; 81:36–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.06.016</u> PMID: <u>27367210</u>
- Abella M, Vaquero JJ, Sisniega A, Pascau J, Udias A, García V, et al. Software architecture for multibed FDK-based reconstruction in X-ray CT scanners. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2012; 107: 218–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2011.06.008</u> PMID: <u>21908068</u>
- Pascau J, Gispert JD, Michaelides M, Panayotis K, Volkow ND, Vaquero JJ, et al. Automated method for small-animal PET image registration with intrinsic validation. Mol imaging Biol. 2009; 11: 107–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-008-0166-z PMID: 18670824

Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

- Shinohara RT, Sweeney EM, Goldsmith J, Shiee N, Mateen FJ, Calabresi P a., et al. Statistical normalization techniques for magnetic resonance imaging. NeuroImage Clin. Elsevier B.V.; 2014; 6: 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2014.08.008 PMID: 25379412
- Verger A, Stegmayr C, Galldiks N, Van Der Gucht A, Lohmann P, Stoffels G, et al. Evaluation of factors influencing 18 F-FET uptake in the brain. NeuroImage Clin. 2017; 17:491–497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nid.2017.11.005</u> PMID: 29159062
- Bewernick BH, Hurlemann R, Matusch A, Kayser S, Grubert C, Hadrysiewicz B, et al. Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation decreases ratings of depression and anxiety in treatment-resistant depression. Biol Psychiatry. Elsevier Inc.; 2010; 67: 110–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.013</u> PMID: <u>19914605</u>
- Schlaepfer TE, Cohen MX, Frick C, Kosel M, Brodesser D, Axmacher N, et al. Deep brain stimulation to reward circuitry alleviates anhedonia in refractory major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2008; 33: 368–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301408 PMID: 17429407
- Mtui E, Gruener G, FitzGerald MJ. 33. Basal ganglia. In: Sciences EH, editor. Clinical neuroanatomy and neuroscience. 6th ed. Saunders (Elsevier); 2011. pp. 343–344.
- McNab F, Klingberk T. Prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia control access to working memory. Nat Neurosci. 2008; 11: 103–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn2024</u> PMID: <u>18066057</u>
- Stice E, Yokum S, Burger KS, Epstein LH and S D. Youth at Risk for Obesity Show Greater Activation of Striatal and Somatosensory Regions to Food. 2011; 31:4360–4366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEURO SCI.6604-10.2011.Youth</u>
- Stoeckel LE, Weller RE, Cook EW, Twieg DB, Knowlton RC, Cox JE. Widespread reward-system activation in obese women in response to pictures of high-calorie foods. Neuroimage. 2008; 41: 636–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.02.031 PMID: 18413289
- Wang G, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, Zhu W, et al. Brain dopamine and obesity. 2001; 357: 354–357.
- Miller AMP, Vedder LC, Law LM, Smith DM. Cues, context, and long-term memory: the role of the retrosplenial cortex in spatial cognition. Front Hum Neurosci. 2014;8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.</u> 00008
- Vann SD, Aggleton JP, Maguire EA. What does the retrosplenial cortex do? Nat Rev Neurosci. Nature Publishing Group; 2009; 10: 792–802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2733</u> PMID: <u>19812579</u>
- Grillo C a, Piroli GG, Junor L, Wilson SP, Mott DD, Wilson M a, et al. Obesity/hyperleptinemic phenotype impairs structural and functional plasticity in the rat hippocampus. Physiol Behav. Elsevier Inc.; 2011; 105: 138–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.02.028</u> PMID: <u>21354191</u>
- Albasser MM, Poirier GL, Warburton EC, Aggleton JP. Hippocampallesions halve immediate-early gene protein counts in retrosplenial cortex: distal dysfunctions in a spatial memory system. Eur J Neurosci. 2007; 26: 1254–1266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05753.x</u> PMID: <u>17767503</u>
- Mueller K, Sacher J, Arelin K, Holiga S, Kratzsch J, Villringer a, et al. Overweight and obesity are associated with neuronal injury in the human cerebellum and hippocampus in young adults: a combined MRI, serum marker and gene expression study. Transl Psychiatry. Nature Publishing Group; 2012; 2: e200. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2012.121 PMID: 23212584
- Winocur G, Greenwood CE, Piroli GG, Grillo CA, Reznikov LR, Reagan LP, et al. Memory impairment in obese Zucker rats: an investigation of cognitive function in an animal model of insulin resistance and obesity. BehavNeurosci. 2005; 119: 1389–1395.
- Albaugh DL, Salzwedel A, Van Den Berge N, Gao W, Stuber GD, Shih YYI. Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Electrical and Optogenetic Deep Brain Stimulation at the Rat Nucleus Accumbens. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2016; 6: 31613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31613</u> PMID: <u>27601003</u>
- Knight EJ, Min HK, Hwang SC, Marsh MP, Paek S, Kim I, et al. Nucleus Accumbens Deep Brain Stimulation Results in Insula and Prefrontal Activation: A Large Animal fMRI Study. PLoS One. 2013; 8: e56640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/jpurnal.pone.0056640</u> PMID: <u>23441210</u>
- Casquero-Veiga M, Hadar R, Pascau J, Winter C, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML. Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in Three Brain Targets with Implications in Mental Disorders: A PET Study in Rats. PLoS One. 2016; 11: e0168689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0168689</u> PMID: <u>28033356</u>
- Heldmann M, Berding G, Voges J, Bogerts B, Galazky I, Müller U, et al. Deep brain stimulation of nucleus accumbens region in alcoholism affects reward processing. PLoS One. 2012; 7: e36572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036572</u> PMID: <u>22629317</u>
- Schlaepfer TE, Cohen MX, Frick C, Kosel M, Brodesser D, Axmacher N, et al. Deep brain stimulation to reward circuitry alleviates anhedonia in refractory major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2008; 33: 368–377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301408</u> PMID: <u>17429407</u>

Deep brain stimulation in obesity: A preclinical PET study

- Zhang H-W, LiD-Y, Zhao J, Guan Y-H, Sun B-M, Zuo C-T. Metabolic Imaging of Deep Brain Stimulation in Anorexia Nervosa. Clin Nucl Med. 2013; 38: 943–948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/RLU. 000000000000261</u> PMID: <u>24212440</u>
- Leinninger GM, Jo Y, Leshan RL, Louis GW, Yang H, Barrera JG, et al. Leptin acts via leptin receptorexpressing lateral hypothalamic neurons to modulate the mesolimbic dopamine system and suppress feeding. Cell Metab. 2009; 10: 89–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.06.011</u> PMID: <u>19656487</u>
- Perry ML, Leinninger GM, Chen R, Luderman KD, Yang H, Gnegy ME, et al. Leptin promotes dopamine transporter and tyrosine hydroxylase activity in the nucleus accumbens of Sprague-Dawley rats. J Neurochem. 2010; 114: 666–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06757.x PMID: 20412389
- Dang LC, Samanez-Larkin GR, Castrellon JJ, Perkins SF, Cowan RL, Zald DH. Associations between dopamine D2 receptor availability and BMI depend on age. Neuroimage. Elsevier B.V.; 2016; 138: 176– 183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.05.044 PMID: 27208860
- Rada P, Bocarsly ME, Barson JR, Hoebel BG, Leibowitz SF. Reduced accumbens dopamine in Sprague-Dawley rats prone to overeating a fat-rich diet. Physiol Behav. Elsevier Inc.; 2010; 101:394–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.07.005 PMID: 20643155
- Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, Zhu W, et al. Brain dopamine and obesity. Lancet. 2001; 357:354–7. Available: <u>http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3098897&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract</u> PMID: <u>11210998</u>
- Neto S, Varatharajan R, Joseph K, Moser A. Nasal administration of leptin dose-dependently increases dopamine and serotonin outflow in the rat nucleus accumbens. J Neural Transm. Springer Vienna; 2016; 123: 1247–1254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-016-1591-9</u> PMID: <u>27412669</u>
- Cumming P, Maschauer S, Riss PJ, Grill E, Pischetsrieder M, Kuwert T, et al. Perturbed Development of Striatal Dopamine Transporters in Fatty Versus Lean Zucker Rats: a Follow-up Small Animal PET Study. Mol Imaging Biol. 2015; 17: 521–528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-014-0811-7</u> PMID: 25537092
- Green E, Jacobson A, Haase L, Murphy C. Reduced nucleus accumbens and caudate nucleus activation to a pleasant taste is associated with obesity in older adults. Brain Res. Elsevier B.V.; 2011; 1386: 109–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.02.071</u> PMID: 21362414
- Geiger BM, Haburcak M, Avena NM, Moyer MC, Hoebel BG, Pothos EN. Deficits of mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission in rat dietary obesity. Neuroscie nce. IBRO; 2009; 159: 1193–9. <u>https://doi.org/</u> <u>10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.02.007</u> PMID: <u>19409204</u>
- van der Plasse G, Schrama R, van Seters SP, Vanderschuren LJMJ, Westenberg HGM. Deep brain stimulation reveals a dissociation of consummatory and motivated behaviour in the medial and lateral nucleus accumbens shell of the rat. PLoS One. 2012; 7: e33455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.</u> 0033455 PMID: 22428054
- Zhang C, Wei N-L, Wang Y, Wang X, Zhang J-G, Zhang K. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens shell induces anti-obesity effects in obese rats with alteration of dopamine neurotransmission. Neurosci Lett. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2015;589C: 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2015.01.019</u> PMID: 25578952
- Doucette WT, Khokhar JY, Green AI. Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation in a rat model of binge eating. Transl Psychiatry. Nature Publishing Group; 2015; 5: e695–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2015.</u> <u>197</u> PMID: <u>26670280</u>
- Favilla CG, Ullman D, Wagle Shukla A, Foote KD, Jacobson CE, Okun MS. Worsening essential tremor following deep brain stimulation: Disease progression versus tolerance. Brain. 2012; 135: 1455–1462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws026</u> PMID: <u>22344584</u>
- Rodriguez Cruz PM, Vargas A, Fernández-Carballal C, Garbizu J, De La Casa-Fages B, Grandas F. Long-term Thalamic Deep Brain Stimulation for Essential Tremor: Clinical Outcome and Stimulation Parameters. Mov Disord Clin Pract. 2016; 3: 567–572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mdc3.12337</u>

6. The footprint of deep brain stimulation after treatment: A PET and neuroplasticity study in an animal model of obesity.
# The footprint of deep brain stimulation after treatment: A PET and neuroplasticity study in an animal model of obesity

Authors: Marta Casquero-Veiga<sup>1, 2,\*</sup>, Clara Bueno-Fernandez<sup>5</sup>, Diego Romero-Miguel<sup>1</sup>, Nicolás Lamanna-Rama<sup>1</sup>, Juan Nacher<sup>2, 5, 6</sup>, Manuel Desco<sup>3,</sup> <sup>1, 2, 4,\*</sup>, María Luisa Soto-Montenegro<sup>1, 2,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón, Madrid, Spain.

<sup>2</sup>CIBER de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Madrid, Spain.

<sup>3</sup>Departamento de Bioingeniería e Ingeniería Aeroespacial, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain.

<sup>4</sup>Centro Nacional de Investigaciones Cardiovasculares, Madrid, Spain.

<sup>5</sup>Neurobiology Unit, Cell Biology Dpt., Interdisciplinary Research Structure for Biotechnology and Biomedicine (BIOTECMED), Universitat de València, Spain.

<sup>6</sup>Fundación Investigación Hospital Clínico de Valencia, INCLIVA, Spain.

\*Corresponding authors

Running title: The footprint of DBS: a PET and neuroplasticity study

#### \*Corresponding authors:

Manuel Desco, M<sup>a</sup> Luisa Soto-Montenegro and Marta Casquero-Veiga Laboratorio de Imagen. Medicina Experimental. Hospital General Universitario Gregorio Marañón Dr. Esquerdo, 46. E-28007 Madrid. SPAIN. Fax #: +34 91 426 5108 Phone #: +34 91 586 6678 e-mail: desco@hggm.es; marisa@hggm.es; mcasquero@hggm.es

## 6.1. Abstract

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) effects on brain dynamics continue to rise particular interest. Specifically, DBS reversibility is a major point of debate. In this sense, we previously showed that lateral hypothalamus (LH) and nucleus accumbens (NAcc) stimulation in an obesity rat model elicited metabolic changes in brain structures impaired in this pathology. Here, we examine which metabolic brain changes remained one month after 15 days of stimulation in these targets, together with the presence of neuroplastic modulations.

Positron emission tomography ([<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET) studies were performed one day and one month after the end of DBS. Immunohistochemical analyses of PSA-NCAM, VGLUT1 and VGAT were performed in hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. As a result, NAcc-sham and NAcc-DBS animals showed a common pattern of brain metabolic modulation, probably derived from the electrodes presence. However, LH-DBS animals showed a relative invariability between both time points, and a reduction of neuroplasticity molecules in LH-DBS animals. Thus, the neural steadiness achieved after LH-DBS persisted one month after stimulation withdrawal.

In conclusion, despite applying the same DBS parameters, the long-term effects of stimulation depend on the brain target. Therefore, the functional steadiness reached during DBS would determine the extent of the DBS footprint after removing the stimulation.

**Key words:** Deep Brain Stimulation, Electrode, Nucleus Accumbens, Lateral Hypothalamus, Positron Emission Tomography, Neuroplasticity.

7. Two sides of the same coin: metabolic and synaptic plasticity imaging studies after lateral hypothalamus DBS in genetic and diet induced obesity.

## Two sides of the same coin: metabolic and synaptic plasticity imaging studies after continuous lateral hypothalamus DBS in genetic and diet induced obesity

Marta Casquero-Veiga<sup>1,2</sup>, Meritxell Llorca-Torralba<sup>5,2,6</sup>, Clara Bueno-Fernández<sup>9</sup>, Diego Romero-Miguel<sup>1</sup>, Nicolás Lamanna-Rama<sup>1</sup>, Christine Winter<sup>7,8</sup>, Esther Berrocoso<sup>4,2,6</sup>, Juan Nacher<sup>1,9,10</sup>, Manuel Desco<sup>3,2,1,11,\*</sup>, M<sup>a</sup> Luisa Soto-Montenegro<sup>1,2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Gregorio Marañón, Madrid, Spain.
- <sup>2</sup> CIBER de Salud Mental (CIBERSAM), Madrid, Spain.
- <sup>3</sup> Departamento of Bioingeniería e Ingeniería Aeroespacial, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Leganés, Spain.
- <sup>4</sup> Neuropsychopharmacology & Psychobiology Research Group, Psychobiology Area, Department of Psychology, Universidad de Cádiz, Puerto Real (Cádiz), Spain.
- <sup>5</sup> Neuropsychopharmacology and Psychobiology Research Group, Department of Neuroscience, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain
- <sup>6</sup> Instituto de Investigación e Innovación en Ciencias Biomédicas de Cádiz, INiBICA, Hospital Universitario Puerta del Mar, Cádiz, Spain.
- <sup>7</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Campus Mitte, Berlin, Germany.
- <sup>8</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Faculty Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany.
- <sup>9</sup> Neurobiology Unit, Cell Biology Dpt., BIOTECMED Institute, Universitat de València, Spain.
- <sup>10</sup> Fundación Investigación Hospital Clínico de Valencia, INCLIVA, Spain.
- <sup>11</sup> Centro Nacional de Investigaciones Cardiovasculares, Madrid, Spain.

Running title: DBS in obesity: PET and synaptic plasticity studies in two animal models

\***Corresponding author:** Manuel Desco. Laboratorio de Imagen. Medicina Experimental. Hospital General Universitario Gregorio Marañón. Dr. Esquerdo, 46. E-28007 Madrid. SPAIN. Fax #: +34 91 426 5108. Phone #: +34 91 586 6678. e-mail: <u>desco@hggm.es</u>

**Statistical summary:** Abstract: 241/250; Body of manuscript: 4926/5000; References: 75; Figures: 5 (+1 suppl); Tables: 1 (+1 suppl)

## Significance Statement

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) has been suggested for the treatment of resistant obesity, although its molecular consequences remain unclear. As different responses to LH-DBS would be expected from different pathological etiologies, our aim is to assess the brain modulation derived from continuous LH-DBS in the genetic and high-fat-diet models of obesity. To our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the short and long-term consequences of continuous LH-DBS using *in vivo* functional imaging and behavioral approaches. Changes in hippocampal synaptic plasticity were also analyzed. Thus, while LH-DBS did not decrease the weight gain in any model, differences were found with respect to the obesity trigger: 1) the mere presence of the electrodes reduced weight gain on a high-fat-diet model, and 2) LH-DBS promoted the hippocampal functioning in the genetic model. Thus, our study highlights the need for adjusting the DBS protocols to the patients' pathology.

## 7.1. Abstract

**Background:** Deep brain stimulation (DBS) in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) has been proposed as a potential therapy for treatment-resistant obesity, given the LH involvement in energy homeostasis and appetite regulation. However, the role of the physiopathological background in LH-DBS therapeutic response is yet unclear.

**Methods:** Continuous bilateral LH-DBS was applied during 15 days in two animal models of obesity: a genetic model (obese Zucker rat) and an environmental model (high-fat diet-fed Sprague Dawley rat, HF-diet model). *In vivo* positron emission tomography ([<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET) images were acquired one day and one month after the stimulation ending. Besides, animals performed the novel object recognition (NOR) test the day after each PET study. Finally, *ex vivo* immunohistochemical analyses of synaptophysin, VGLUT1 and VGAT were performed in the hippocampus.

**Results:** Continuous LH-DBS did not reduce weight gain. However, the mere insertion of the electrodes slowed down the weight gain in non-stimulated HF-diet animals. Also, LH-DBS modulated brain metabolism in memory, learning and reward-related regions, but to a different extent in each model. Notably, the hypermetabolism produced in the hippocampus of stimulated Zucker rats, together with the enhanced synaptic plasticity processes in this region, did not translate in cognitive improvements in NOR paradigms. However, long-term memory and attentional benefits were obtained in Zucker operated groups.

**Conclusions:** The physiopathological mechanisms underlying obesity determine the therapeutic response to LH-DBS. Thus, our results suggest that personalized protocols adapted to the pathological status of the subject would produce more successful results.

**Key words:** Zucker rat, high-fat diet, FDG-PET, synaptic plasticity, deep brain stimulation, lateral hypothalamus

# 8. General discussion and Conclusions

## 8.1. General discussion

This final chapter aims to summarize and contextualize the most relevant findings of the preclinical research works included in this thesis, so as to illustrate a general overview of the main contributions provided to the research field of deep brain stimulation (DBS). Therefore, this chapter offers a general discussion of the main results achieved along this thesis within the context of DBS neurophysiological research, rather than an exhaustive discussion of all the specific findings, which is included at the end of each chapter.

In this sense, the outline followed during the course of this manuscript denotes a progressive incorporation of elements to the complex DBS system under study. Besides, the proposed non-invasive *in vivo* approach, namely functional metabolic imaging using [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET, has proven to be a very powerful and adequate tool to assess the neurophysiological consequences of different aspects of high-frequency DBS therapy. In fact, the methodological strategies followed allowed us to evaluate the stimulation consequence from acute, chronic and longitudinal perspectives.

Thus, this thesis begins with the description of the most elementary aspect of the DBS neurosurgical technique, such as the electrode insertional effect in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), on a healthy brain (chapter 3), thus minimizing the influence of confounding factors in the conclusions reached. Furthermore, the metabolic consequences of acute mPFC-DBS are also covered in this chapter. Then, the focus was on studying the acute DBS effects on three different brain targets with relevance in neuropsychiatric disorders, such as the mPFC, nucleus accumbens (NAcc) and dorsomedial thalamus DM, also in a healthy state (chapter 4). Subsequently, given the restricted application guidelines reserved for DBS, it became necessary to address its physiological consequences in a pathology that is potentially suggested to benefit from this therapy. Therefore, the short-term effects of a chronic (fifteen days) and intermittent (one daily hour) stimulation protocol applied in the NAcc on treatment-resistant obesity were evaluated (chapter 5). Furthermore, the long-term persistence of brain metabolic changes after DBS withdrawal have been barely explore in the literature. Then, a longitudinal study on the effects of the same intermittent DBS protocol addressed in chapter 5, applied to NAcc- and lateral hypothalamus- (LH), were explored one month after the stimulation withdrawal in the same genetic animal model of obesity (chapter 6) Finally, this thesis concludes with the evaluation of a more translational stimulation strategy, consisting of a paradigm of chronic (fifteen days) and continuous (twenty four hours per day) stimulation, in two animal models of different obesogenic backgrounds (chapter 7), i.e. a genetic model (Zucker rat) and a high-fat diet-fed Sprague Dawley rat, (HF-diet model).

For the purpose of this discussion, this chapter is divided in two main sections which address, on the one hand, the results accounted by the mere effect of electrode microlesion and, on the other hand, the effects related to the differential stimulation protocols.

#### 8.1.1. Electrode insertional effect

Our results reveal a substantial modulatory effect derived from the mere presence of the electrodes at different levels. In fact, the electrode-induced microlesion effect has been shown to greatly influence the physiological and symptomatic DBS outcomes. In this sense, coinciding with previous reports (van den Berge et al., 2015), we described an impact of the electrode-induced microlesion on a neuronal network in which the target region (mPFC) plays a key role (chapter 3). Besides, both the insertional effect and the stimulation itself modulated the same brain circuitry. In fact, van den Berge et al. have also provided evidence of the permanence of the electrode-derived consequences on brain metabolism in healthy rats beyond one week after surgery (van den Berge et al., 2015). However, in contrast to our findings, they showed a common directionality of the stimulation and insertion effects, the latter being less intense. In our case, the extension of the metabolic pattern obtained when considering the electrode insertion alone resulted considerably less than the brain modulation produced by the mPFC stimulation, although in the same cortico-limbic circuit. Evidence of this common modulatory pathway was the observation of opposite metabolic effects induced in the somatosensory cortex due to the electrode insertion (reduction) and the stimulation (increase) applied to the mPFC, when they were studied in parallel. Thus, the opposite metabolism caused in the somatosensory cortex by the electrode placement and the stimulation alone could respond to neural informative disruption theories of the mechanism of action of DBS (Mcintyre et al., 2004; McIntyre and Hahn, 2010; Chiken and Nambu, 2014, 2015; McIntyre and Anderson, 2016). In fact, these contrary functional patterns would not have been revealed without a dedicated study design, consisting of a longitudinal protocol comprised by three imaging acquisitions: before surgery, after surgery and during stimulation. Moreover, the functional comparison between pre-surgery and post-DBS stages masked the real effect of the stimulation, providing a lower cortical metabolism due to compensation of the possibly temporary hypometabolism induced by the

electrode. Thus, the third chapter of this thesis highlights the potential benefits of understanding the regions affected, together with the magnitude of the modulation induced, by each DBS component in order to personalize the DBS protocols according to the patient needs.

Despite the transitory feature related to the electrode insertional effect (Jech et al., 2012), its persistence on clinical symptoms is highly variable, since it varies from days to months (exceptionally years), or it may even be absent (Hamani et al., 2006). The great variability showed in relation to the clinical and physiological consequences of electrode insertion could largely depend on several factors (e.g. the health status of the subjects, the selected DBS target, the number of microelectrode recording trajectories performed during the surgery, (Pourfar et al., 2009), the time elapsed between the surgery and the test, etc.). Furthermore, the modulatory potential of the microlesion effect led to several clinical benefits in different pathologies, such as in epilepsy (Krishna et al., 2016), neuropathic pain (Hamani et al., 2006) and depression (Perez-Caballero et al., 2014). Of note, the inflammation derived from microlesion has been proposed as the underlying mechanism of these therapeutic outcomes (Perez-Caballero et al., 2014). In this sense, we demonstrated a sustained slowdown of the weight gain in response to the insertion of electrodes in the LH, during almost two months, in a HF-diet model of obesity (chapter 7). Outstandingly, this is the first time that such effects on weight gain are reported. However, no similar benefits were obtained neither with LH-DBS in the same model, nor in genetically-predisposed to obesity subjects (i.e. Zucker rats). In fact, DBS seems to counteract the effect of the electrode implantation in LH, reversing the slow progression in weight gain observed in the HF-diet sham group.

In the case of the Zucker rats, despite not having observed any influence on weight gain, we did observe a progressive cognitive improvement in the novel object recognition (NOR) task, unrelated to the stimulation (Huguet et al., 2009). Thus, Zucker rats suffer from insensitivity to leptin signaling due to the expression of a truncated form leptin receptor in homozygosis. Leptin is a hormone released by adipose tissue in proportion to its size and the amount of lipids ingested during meals. It targets the LH, ventromedial hypothalamus and ventral tegmental area (Arora and Anubhuti, 2006; Taghva et al., 2012), and acts as a signal to stop eating. In consequence, Zucker rats experience hyperphagia, hyperinsulinemia, and hyperlipidemia, leading to spontaneous obesity (Fulton et al., 2000). Furthermore, this lack of leptin signaling has been linked to deficits in hippocampal plasticity and spatial memory, together with an upregulation of molecular

biomarkers of Alzheimer's Disease (Doherty et al., 2013). Therefore, these animals showed a higher risk of suffering from cognitive and memory problems related to hippocampal neurodegeneration (Doherty et al., 2013). In this respect, the metabolic increase shown in the retrosplenial cortex and hippocampus in the longitudinal analysis of these Zucker-sham animals may be related to ongoing plasticity processes of the hippocampal-dependent memory network (Albasser et al., 2007; Vann et al., 2009; Grillo et al., 2011). Thus, these results are indicative of long-term modulatory changes induced by the presence of the electrodes in this circuit, which may induce a recovery from the consequences of neurodegeneration (Doherty et al., 2013). Indeed, both the sham and DBS Zucker groups showed poor performance in the NOR test performed one day after stimulation treatment, which significantly improved one month after stimulation withdrawal. Altogether, these changes might reflect a greater activation of this neuronal circuit which would lead to a recovery of cognitive abilities in the long-term (Huguet et al., 2009).

In accordance to these findings, we showed that the metabolic modulation induced by the presence of the electrodes evolves over time. In fact, metabolic effects on remote regions but connected to the target structure were evident even two months after electrode implantation in the NAcc and the LH of Zucker rats (chapter 6). In fact, a reduced metabolism in the striatum and somatosensory cortex, along with an increase in the brainstem and hypothalamus are evident at these long-term time points due to the presence of the electrodes and the resulting lesions (Pugh, 2019). Not surprisingly, all these structures are strongly interconnected through hypothalamic projections and belong to the limbic system (Pessoa and Hof, 2015), suggesting that the lesion of a brain structure in a given network evokes distant effects in functionally and physically connected regions. This ongoing modulation may be a reflection of underlying neuroplastic processes in the targeted circuitry (such as those observed in PSA-NCAM levels in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex). Therefore, these effects might explain the sometimes the long-lasting therapeutic benefits associated with the electrode insertion. Furthermore, although the microlesion impact on brain metabolism related to the DBS implants has been previously demonstrated (Pourfar et al., 2009; van den Berge et al., 2015; Perez-Caballero et al., 2018; Baldermann et al., 2019), the chapter 6 includes the first work in which continuous physiological changes derived from the electrode presence alone (i.e. without any influence of stimulation) are reported up to two months after implantation.

#### 8.1.2. Deep brain stimulation effects

#### 8.1.2.1. Acute DBS protocol

As anticipated, a recurrent conclusion stating that "the lesion and stimulation of a brain structure in a certain network evokes distant effects in functionally and physically connected regions" is repeatedly reached in functional neuroimaging works addressing the DBS physiological effects on the brain (Kuhn et al., 2010; Knight et al., 2013; Albaugh et al., 2016), as well as in those included in this thesis. Nevertheless, the acute stimulation of specific targets that share interconnections with the same neural circuitry, as mPFC, NAcc and MD (Mitchell and Chakraborty, 2013), evoked differential brain metabolic patterns according to the stimulated structure (chapter 4). This is of interest given that different brain structures have been proposed as potential DBS targets for the same neuropsychiatric disorder, as well as the same DBS target has been proposed for several pathological conditions (Kuhn et al., 2010). In fact, the hypofrontality reversion obtained during acute mPFC-DBS supports its potential role in major depressive disorder (Hamani et al., 2010; Hamani and Nobrega, 2012). Furthermore, NAcc-DBS has traditionally been related to reward and pleasure, which are affective levels impaired in mostly all psychiatric conditions (Kuhn et al., 2009, 2010; Halpern et al., 2011). Additionally, acute NAcc-DBS promoted the activity in the subiculum-hippocampal area, whose disfunction was related to memory and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease, schizophrenia or obesity, among others (Small et al., 2011). Similarly, the metabolic promotion in the striato-thalamic network, evoked as a consequence of acute DM-DBS, supports its potential application for the treatment of cognitive and attentional deficits in schizophrenia (Lehrer et al., 2005), Alzheimer's disease (Aggleton et al., 2016) and dementias (Ishii, 2014). However, all the DBS approaches within the psychiatry scenario remain at a research level, implying that there is still no consensus on which area provides more benefits for each disorder (Lipsman and Lozano, 2015).

Despite the differential metabolic patterns obtained with acute DBS in mPFC, NAcc and DM, their stimulation also led to a common metabolic influence in specific brain regions. In fact, DBS to all three brain targets induced an increase in the metabolic activity of the piriform cortex. The piriform cortex is the largest area of the mammalian olfactory cortex, and contains the most susceptible neural circuits of all forebrain regions for electrical (or chemical) stimulation (Ebert and Lehmann, 1996; Boix-Trelis et al., 2009). Thus, immunohistochemical studies have shown that, during electrical stimulation of limbic brain regions, the piriform cortex exhibits the most consistent increase in glucose

utilization (Boix-Trelis et al., 2009), similar to our findings. Furthermore, in addition to this olfactory region, we found that the stimulation of both mPFC and NAcc decreased the glucose metabolism in the brainstem. This effect could respond to the reciprocal connection of the mPFC with the dorsal raphe nucleus and ventral tegmental area, both placed in the brainstem and origin of important serotonergic and dopaminergic connections, respectively. Therefore, both a synaptic depression (Wang and Kaczmarek, 1998; Zucker and Regehr, 2002) on distant efferences due to mPFC, and an orthodromic neural jamming (Hammond et al., 2008; Carron et al., 2013), may explain the observed metabolic effects on the brainstem. In the case of the NAcc, this nucleus receives strong dopaminergic afferences from the ventral tegmental area. In consequence, the stimulation of NAcc at high frequencies could lead to an inhibition of dopaminergic activity at the ventral tegmental area level by means of an antidromic neural jamming (Hammond et al., 2008; Carron et al., 2013), resulting in a decreased glucose metabolism in the brainstem. Consistent with these results, antidepressant medications, such as citalopram, have been shown to decreased the activity signal in the brainstem (Sekar et al., 2011). Thus, both mPFC and NAcc brain regions have been proposed as DBS targets for the treatment of resistant major depressive disorder due to their related antidepressant, anxiolytic and precognitive properties (Hamani et al., 2014; Millet et al., 2014).

#### 8.1.2.2. Intermittent DBS in genetic obesity

When considering a chronic (fifteen days) and intermittent (one hour per day) **protocol of NAcc-DBS in the Zucker rat, we found a modulatory effect of the stimulation in regions related to reward** (hypometabolism in the striato-thalamic pathway) **and memory** (hypermetabolism in the retrosplenial cortex), which are indeed impaired in obesity patients (Wang et al., 2001; Winocur et al., 2005; Rada et al., 2010; Mueller et al., 2012) (chapter 5). In fact, patients with a tendency towards obesity exhibited an hyperactivation of the cortico-striato-thalamic circuitry in response to a food-dependent reward feeling (Stice et al., 2009, 2011). In this respect, NAcc-DBS could counteract the exacerbated functioning of this brain network. Regarding the hypermetabolism induced in the retrosplenial cortex, it is outstanding that initial metabolic increases in this network, at the level of the subiculum-hippocampal area, were already seen with the acute DBS protocol (**chapter 4**). In fact, the retrosplenial cortex plays a direct role in the consolidation of long-term memory due to its association with the hippocampus, the parahippocampal region and the thalamic nuclei (Vann et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2014).

Therefore, given the strong connectivity between hippocampus and retrosplenial cortex, it seems reasonable that the increased metabolism induced by NAcc-DBS, both during acute or chronic protocols, might have an effect on defective hippocampal processes, thus improving the damaged memory function described in obesity (Small et al., 2011).

Besides, we found similar results with intermittent (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014) and continuous LH-DBS protocols, suggesting that both NAcc-DBS and LH-DBS would modulate the same limbic network. Furthermore, beyond the remote metabolic effects induced by NAcc-DBS, we did observe a focal decreased brain metabolism in the targeted region due to NAcc-DBS. This metabolic reduction may either respond to a reflection of the antidromic effect of DBS on ventral tegmental area (Hammond et al., 2008; Carron et al., 2013), or a focal inhibition in the targeted region due to the highfrequency stimulation applied (Beurrier et al., 2001). Altogether, these results are in line with the neural informative disruption theories proposed as a mechanism of action of DBS (Chiken and Nambu, 2014, 2015). Therefore, NAcc-DBS would theoretically recover NAcc function by isolating this nucleus from the food-intake promoting signals sent by the ventral tegmental area and LH due to the absence of leptin influence in this animal model. Thus, NAcc-DBS would supposedly improve activity patterns in the cognitive and reward systems. However, the lack of effect of NAcc-DBS on weight gain would indicate that this stimulation approach could not completely overcome the pathological brain functioning in this animal model.

In this sense, these results contrast with a previous article from our group, in which the application of the same intermittent DBS protocol in the LH of the Zucker rat was associated with a weight gain reduction in the long-term (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). Of importance, NAcc was selected as the DBS target for the obese Zucker rat given the essential role of leptin in the mesolimbic circuit, as it was previously introduced (Leinninger et al., 2009; Perry et al., 2010). Consequently, leptin regulates the mesolimbic reward centers, which include the NAcc, thus promoting the dopamine synthesis (Perry et al., 2010) or the release of this neurotransmitter (Dang et al., 2016). As a consequence, it induces a food-associated reward. However, NAcc lacks leptin receptors, and its influence is mediated by the ventral tegmental area and the LH. Therefore, leptin-resistant obese animals present impaired feelings of satiety and reward, which lead them to increase their caloric intake (Wang et al., 2001; Rada et al., 2010). In this sense, considering the neural disruption theories applied to the mechanism of action of DBS (Chiken and Nambu, 2015; McIntyre and Anderson, 2016), it was expected that NAcc-

DBS would modulate the impaired function of the reward system (Geiger et al., 2009; Green et al., 2011). Therefore, the absence of weight reduction may derive from the strong anorexigenic modulation of the LH and ventromedial hypothalamus by leptin (Halpern et al., 2008), thus being unable to resolve the hypothalamic imbalance caused.

Another plausible explanation for the lack of therapeutic improvement after NAcc-DBS would rely on the fact that the stimulation could have affected both the core and the shell of the NAcc. Thus, van der Plasse *et al.* reported an absence of variation in average food intake when DBS was applied to the NAcc core in Wistar rats, whereas the stimulation of the NAcc medial shell increased food intake (van der Plasse *et al.* 2012). Therefore, despite being the NAcc core the aimed target for DBS in this work, we could not ensure that the focal modulatory effects could have extended to adjacent regions. Furthermore, different results can be obtained in other animal models of obesity treated with NAcc-DBS protocols. In fact, Zhang *et al.* reported that long-term DBS applied to the NAcc shell attenuated weight gain in diet-induced obese rats (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Similar results were also observed in a mouse model of binge eating after stimulation of the NAcc core (Halpern et al., 2013). These results highlight the need to clarify the role of NAcc substructures before this nucleus can be considered a clinical target for DBS in obesity.

Furthermore, when evaluating the long-term effects of DBS withdrawal in both NAcc and LH in this animal model, we found that, one month after the end of stimulation, the magnitude of the long-term persistence of the DBS metabolic modulation depended on the targeted brain region (chapter 6). In fact, at this time point, we found a common metabolic pattern in LH-sham, NAcc-sham and NAcc-DBS animals in limbic regions interconnected through hypothalamic projections (Pessoa and Hof, 2015) (as previously discussed). These results support the reversibility feature usually related to DBS stimulation consequences, but only in the case of NAcc-DBS. In fact, the similar modulation observed between NAcc-sham and NAcc-DBS groups one month after finishing the treatment, together with the lack of therapeutic effect on weight gain, revealed a predominance of the electrode insertional effect on brain metabolism over the stimulation consequences in the long-term. Together, both factors (i.e. absence of therapeutic effect and similarity with NAcc-sham metabolic modulation) would reflect a weak and transient impact on the brain network modulated in the long-term, unable to produce an evident clinical benefit. As a result, longer NAcc-DBS periods would be necessary to influence the subject symptoms (Ashkan et al., 2017). Furthermore, the hypometabolism of the ectorhinal cortex observed in NAcc-DBS animals suggest a certain reversibility and rebound effect of the stimulation-derived metabolic modulation, in agreement with previous reports (Kuhn et al., 2009; Ewing and Grace, 2013; Ooms et al., 2014). In fact, the absence of metabolic changes in NAcc-sham animals in this region, together with the opposite effects induced by the stimulation alone one day after stimulation withdrawal, support this theory. Accordingly, Ewing and Grace reinforced this idea with their finding of a reduction in local field potentials towards baseline levels just forty eight hours after completion of high-frequency stimulation in the NAcc (Ewing and Grace, 2013). From the clinical side, a one week inactivation of the stimulation in obsessive compulsive disorder patients led to a relapse of the positive symptoms and a rebound of the negative ones (Ooms et al., 2014). Therefore, the same stimulation parameters would have exerted a differential degree of affectation regarding the specific structure, organization and connectivity of each brain region with the targeted nucleus.

In contrast, LH-DBS rats did exhibit greater permanence of the DBS effects induced immediately after the end of the stimulation treatment. Furthermore, this brain physiological invariance is supported by the reduced levels of PSA-NCAM observed in the hippocampus and the entorhinal cortex in LH-DBS animals, one month after stimulation withdrawal. This could explain the low levels of VGAT obtained in LH-DBS group, as PSA-NCAM is a potent regulator of inhibitory cortical networks (Castillo-Gómez et al., 2011). Additionally, the most rostral region of the entorhinal cortex, as the piriform cortex layer II, harbors immature PSA-NCAM expressing neurons that progressively mature into excitatory neurons during adult life (Bonfanti and Nacher, 2012). In this respect, the decrease in the expression of PSA-NCAM may boost their differentiation. Furthermore, LH-DBS proved to produce a clinical benefit in these animals in the longterm, namely a weight gain reduction (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014), suggesting that the preservation of the DBS consequences on brain metabolism may lead to a symptomatic improvement in the treated subject. In agreement with this, a maintenance of clinical symptoms has been already observed after DBS withdrawal in patients with dystonia (Ruge et al., 2011). In this work, Ruge et al. described a great neurophysiological instability after DBS withdrawal under the apparent clinical calm. This finding led them to hypothesize that the stimulated system would be seeking a balance which would make the pathological symptoms evident when it was reached (Ruge et al., 2011). Therefore, the long-term DBS effects in the brain could be consequence of a functional stability achieved during stimulation, which would underlie a prolonged positive outcome for the subject, as in LH-DBS Zucker rats (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). At this respect, DBS

modulation should overcome a certain affectation threshold in order to elicit long-term and persistent clinical benefits.

In addition to the regional differences in brain metabolism, DBS induced changes in neuronal plasticity patterns. The effects of DBS on the expression of PSA-NCAM support the previously introduced idea that the targeted circuitry is subjected to continuos long-term neuroplastic changes. Particularly interesting are the changes observed in the hippocampus after NAcc stimulation, since both limbic regions are intensely interconnected (LeGates et al., 2018; Perez and Lodge, 2018). Closely related to our results, Schmuckermaier et al. found that intermittent NAcc-DBS (one daily hour, as in our study) during only seven consecutive days promoted the neural activity and neurogenesis in the hippocampus (Schmuckermair et al., 2013). In addition, they also described antidepressant effects, obtained by improvements in the performance of the forced swimming and tail suspension tests, in a murine model of enhanced anxiety and depression (Schmuckermair et al., 2013). Thus, these findings support the potential role of NAcc-DBS in major depressive disorder (Hamani et al., 2014; Millet et al., 2014). In our study, the increase in PSA-NCAM expression in the hippocampus could be related both to changes in excitatory or inhibitory neurons, since in this limbic region, and especially in the CA1 strata where the neuroplastic changes were evaluated, PSA-NCAM is expressed by both cell types (Gómez-Climent et al., 2011). In fact, there is a tendency towards an increase in the levels of VGLUT1 and VGAT in the hippocampus of NAcc-DBS groups.

Taken together, our results support the evidence that the physiological and clinical outcomes after DBS, not only in the short- but in the long-terms, are strongly dependent on the brain target selected for stimulation, even under identical stimulation protocols and pathological conditions. Therefore, under fixed stimulation conditions, DBS elicits the simultaneous activation of several molecular mechanisms, both at local and distant levels, which might interact but could not be gathered under a simple theoretical explanation (Blaha, 2016). In this sense, the duration of the modulation induced by the impact of the electrical stimulation on a certain brain target would determine the persistence of the derived clinical benefits.

#### 8.1.2.3. Continuous LH-DBS in genetic and diet-derived obesity

The pathological background (environmental vs. genetic) and degree have proven to be decisive in relation to the DBS outcomes. In fact, as previously introduced, we obtained a significant weight-gain slowdown in the HF-diet model of obesity due to electrodes

implantation itself in the LH (chapter 7). However, no similar impacts on weight progression were induced after 15 days of continuous LH-DBS, neither in the same animal model, nor in the Zucker rat. In the case of the HF-diet animals, our results strongly contrast with Sani et al. findings, who reported a sustained absence of weight gain in HFdiet rats treated with continuous LH-DBS (Sani et al., 2007). In that case, the higher stimulation frequencies used (185 Hz) may have greater impact on hypothalamic activity, thus resulting in an effective weight gain reduction (Sani et al., 2007). Nonetheless, previously reported reductions in weight gain are normally unrelated to changes in food intake after effective hypothalamic DBS in various animal models (Sani et al., 2007; Lehmkuhle et al., 2010; Melega et al., 2012; Torres et al., 2012; Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). Therefore, other physiological mechanisms should underlie the observed weight reductions, such as the increase in metabolic rate (Whiting et al., 2019). Moreover, as presented above, Zucker-DBS and Zucker-sham groups showed an overlapping weightgain progression during the whole study. In fact, a similar lack of effectivity was obtained after long-term LH-DBS in patients with Prader Willy syndrome (Franco et al., 2018). Prader Willi syndrome is a rare genetic condition in which the affected patients suffer from obesity due to a hypothalamic dysfunction that causes hyperphagia (Franco et al., 2018), similar to our genetic rat model. Curiously, our results contrast with previous findings, where intermittent LH-DBS was effective in reducing body weight gain in the Zucker rat (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). In this regard, our continuous stimulation approach would not be enough to trigger the necessary physiological mechanisms, underlying an effective weight reduction, in any of the studied models in this thesis. Therefore, at least in the genetic model, an intermittent LH-DBS protocol seems to be more effective in reducing the weight-gain in the long-term (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). This is not an isolated case, since intermittent stimulation protocols have proved to be beneficial in other neuropsychiatric disorders, such as in schizophrenia (Shiozawa et al., 2016).

As presented in the previous section of this discussion, imaging studies in obese individuals have also reported functional abnormalities in the striatum (Rothemund et al., 2007). In this sense, one day after the end of stimulation, LH-DBS diminished the glucose metabolism in the dorsal striatum in the HF-diet model, coinciding with previous modulatory evidences in the same DBS target (Soto-Montenegro et al., 2014). Thus, this modulation may revert the striatal overactivation observed in obese individuals, which has been considered a main mechanism to explain the enhanced sensitivity to food cues and overeating (Nummenmaa et al., 2012; Val-Laillet et al., 2015). This is remarkable

given that the increased activity in the striatum has been related to a greater reward response and food addiction (Farr et al., 2016). Therefore, these network abnormalities describe a potential physiological mechanism which could underlie the improvements in the urge to eat obtained in previous clinical studies (Whiting et al., 2013, 2019). Nonetheless, LH-DBS did not affect these areas in the genetic model. However, in the Zucker strain, the insatiability that underpins the compulsive eating behavior manifested in these animals derives from an insensitivity to leptin (as it was previously explained) (Wang et al., 2014). Therefore, the beneficial mechanisms motivated by the modulation of the brain reward system would be relegated to a secondary place in this model, being overshadowed by the consequences of the lack of leptin signaling.

Furthermore, we observed contradictory modulation patterns due to LH-DBS in the HFdiet and the Zucker rat at the hippocampal level. In fact, this opposite hippocampal response may derive from the differential leptin status in both animal models. Thus, an increase and a decrease in the hippocampus metabolism were shown by Zucker-DBS and HF-diet-DBS groups, respectively. While the obesogenic trigger in the case of the Zucker rat is precisely the lack of leptin signaling, the high-fat diet protocol responsible for the obesogenic condition in HF-diet animals would not be sufficiently strong to alter the leptin signaling. In this respect, hippocampal-dependent memory and learning deficits have been described in both animal models (Winocur et al., 2005; Cordner and Tamashiro, 2015), as well as in obese patients (Elias et al., 2003). However, these deficits have been related to an impaired leptin signaling in the hippocampus, which is crucial to induce synaptic plasticity processes involved in learning and memory (Doherty et al., 2013; van Doorn et al., 2017). Therefore, the opposite hippocampal response obtained in HF-diet DBS group may derive from a still-healthy leptin signaling in these animals and in their sham group. In fact, this lack of altered leptin functioning in HF-diet animals would prevent to see a favorable therapeutic effect of LH-DBS at the hippocampal-dependent memory network.

Accordingly, these metabolic findings are supported by the results obtained in the hippocampal synaptic plasticity. On the one hand, no significant effect of LH-DBS was observed in synaptophysin levels in the HF-diet model. However, LH-DBS induced a sustained metabolic reduction in this area, which is in line with the reduction of synaptophysin levels observed after fornix-DBS in healthy rats (Aldehri et al., 2019). Therefore, although high-fat diets have been related with synaptic defects (Page et al., 2014; Nam et al., 2017), longer and earlier periods of exposure to these observed diets

may be needed to impact on leptin signaling and hippocampal synaptic state. This reasoning would explain the lack of DBS-related synaptic changes in the HF-diet model. On the other hand, LH-DBS produced a great significant increase in synaptophysin levels in almost all the CA1 hippocampal layers studied in the Zucker groups. In fact, similar synaptogenic increases were obtained after DBS applied in the hippocampal-memory network (Gondard et al., 2015, 2019). However, the metabolic and synaptic modulation obtained did not translate into DBS-derived cognitive improvements, as evaluated using the NOR paradigm. In fact, as discussed above, both sham and DBS Zucker groups significantly improve their performance in the NOR test one month after stimulation withdrawal. Therefore, the cognitive benefit observed in Zucker animals was apparently unrelated to the LH-DBS applied.

In this regard, the initial and transient metabolic increase induced by LH-DBS in the hippocampus of Zucker animals may indicate an incipient growth in synaptic plasticity, also supported by the higher levels of synaptophysin obtained in the Zucker-DBS group. However, the lack of DBS-derived cognitive improvement, together with the absence in neurotransmitters levels, suggested that the synaptogenic effect induced by DBS in the hippocampus would not be enough to elicit a better memory-learning performance. Therefore, the effective maturation of the newly generated synapses, reflected in an increase of neurotransmitters activity, and a consequently neuronal reorganization, would be necessary in order to produce the expected behavioral benefits (Mayford et al., 2012; Ashkan et al., 2017).

Of note, we have found that fifteen days of continuous stimulation in the LH produce an important impact on neuronal plasticity in a remote but connected area, such as the hippocampus. This process could be explained through the activation of the hypothalamic-hippocampal circuit (U'ylings et al., 2000; Bouret et al., 2004), being these hypothalamic afferents responsible for the stimulation of the granular neurons of the dentate gyrus, and in turn transfer an excitatory signal to CA3 (Leranth and Nitsch, 1994) and CA1 (Freund and Buzsaki, 1988) (our region of study in the hippocampus).

Finally, the longitudinal analyses of the metabolic brain imaging studies also reinforce the evident physiological differences manifested by both animal models. Thus, while very few changes appeared over time in HF-diet animals, both Zucker groups (sham and DBS groups) presented a common metabolic pattern one month after stimulation ending, in comparison to the [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET studies acquired one day after the end of DBS treatment. This pattern involved increases in thalamus and superior

colliculi/hippocampus, together with reductions in several prefrontal cortex subregions, such as the cingulate and the insular cortices. Of interest, these results coincide with the brain metabolic consequences of exposing obese Zucker rats to food cues (Thanos et al., 2008). Also, these regions are interconnected between them and the hypothalamus in order to control the energy balance (Farr et al., 2016). Therefore, the functioning of these neuronal circuitry is affected in obese subjects given the hormonal disequilibrium derived from the impairment of the orexigenic and anorexigenic signals, and their influence on brain dynamics (Winocur et al., 2005; Leinninger et al., 2009; Fernández-Galaz et al., 2010; Wallner-Liebmann et al., 2010; van Zessen et al., 2012; van Swieten et al., 2014; van Doorn et al., 2017). Thus, the longitudinal changes observed in both Zucker groups prove the occurrence of ongoing alterations on the hypothalamic circuit, which were not halted neither with LH-DBS nor with electrode implantation. However, the absence of similar long-term changes in the HF-diet groups suggests a lower influence of their respective obesogenic trigger, namely the high-fat diet ingested, over the critical brain deficits related to obesity.

### 8.1.3. Limitations and possible future lines of research

The studies included in this thesis are subjected to certain limitations which, altogether, provide the basis for possible future lines of research.

First, the small sample size included in some of the experimental procedures, which responds to the aim of complying with the international 3-R's principle in animal research. In this sense, we prioritized the dissemination of preliminary, although relevant, results that would serve as a basis for the development of future, more extensive projects. Therefore, we applied strict statistical thresholds in order to show more accurate results, which lead us to discard potentially important effects that do not reach statistical significance. Furthermore, the number of animals in each group proved to be large enough to detect statistically significant changes in glucose metabolism and neuroplasticity markers derived from the DBS consequences.

Second, each DBS approach was only tested in healthy or pathological models, which prevent us to extend the observed changes to other animal models of different diseases or healthy animals of the same strain, respectively. Furthermore, only males were considered in the different experiments carried out. Therefore, extending the experimental strategies developed in this thesis to the study of the DBS effects in females and in other animal models (pathological or naïve), provides a great opportunity to increase the current knowledge on DBS-derived neuromodulation, and bring the experimental strategies, followed in this thesis, closer to the clinic.

Third, the voxel-based [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG-PET imaging analyses along the different chapters of this thesis were not corrected for multiple comparisons at voxel level due to the impossibility of assuming independence between adjacent voxels (Stephan, 2017). Instead, only significant regions larger than 50 activated connected voxels were accepted with the aim of reducing type I error. Also, a cluster-based correction was applied in order to minimize type II error.

Furthermore, specific DBS parameters and protocols were evaluated in this thesis. Therefore, it would be interesting to carry out a "dose-response" study for each brain target and condition examined. Thus, testing different combinations of DBS parameters (e.g. modifying the current intensity, the frequency levels or the duration of the stimulation treatment) according to the pathophysiology and brain target under study, would allow to obtain a more suitable and personalized protocol, with greater clinical impact, in relation to the treatment response.

Also, although [18F]FDG-PET is a really useful technique to study the brain dynamics in vivo, its application in the clinical field is being more and more substituted by other nonionizing techniques, such as functional magnetic imaging (fMRI). Therefore, the evaluation of the DBS modulatory effects on brain activity using fMRI in animal models would suppose a promising future line of research, with great translational perspective.

Finally, DBS stimulates the target region in an unspecific way, namely involving all the cell types and fibers surrounding the tip of the electrode, and without necessarily involving common molecular mechanisms through the neural network. Furthermore, the lack of a complete understanding of the physiopathology of several neuropsychiatric disorders, highlights the challenge of applying DBS to these patients. In this context, optogenetics and chemogenetics appear as revolutionary techniques, which allow to selectively manipulate the functioning of a specific cell subpopulation, and study the molecular and behavioral consequences (Vlasov et al., 2018). Despite being still far from reaching a clinical application, these new experimental methods offer very powerful tools to study specific pathological and therapeutic mechanisms in the neural circuits and systems involved. Therefore, the selective manipulation of DBS, represents an innovative and elegant possibility for future research.

#### 8.1.4. Concluding remarks

In summary, all the presented original papers highlight the need to fully understand the physiological and symptomatic consequences of DBS in order to minimize the current "trial and error" procedures to adjust DBS parameters to the patients' needs. Furthermore, [18F]FDG-PET serves as a methodological link throughout this thesis, allowing the evaluation of the most elementary effects of DBS, such as the electrodes presence, to more complex DBS paradigms in different animal models. As a result, we provided evidence that I) both the electrode itself and the applied stimulation on a brain area modulate the same neuronal network, but to a significantly different extension or degree; II) the acute stimulation of different brain targets involved in the same neuronal circuitry induce distinct metabolic patterns, highlighting their potential role in different psychiatric pathologies; III) intermittent and chronic NAcc-DBS in an animal model of genetic obesity modulates the brain metabolism in regions functionally impaired in this condition (i.e. reward and memory systems), without affecting weight gain; IV) LH-DBS, but not NAcc-DBS, induces sustained and persistent metabolic and neuroplastic effects in the same genetic model of obesity, which may explain the differential long-term benefits on pathological symptomatology; V) the underlying pathophysiological environment of a specific condition strongly determines the symptomatology, brain metabolism, behavioral and synaptic effects induced by LH-DBS. Therefore, there is a need to recognize the influence of each patient's physiopathological background in the final therapeutic results obtained with DBS treatment, which can be fully addressed with specific study designs.

In this sense, the studies included in the present thesis are original contributions to the DBS and neuropsychiatric research fields from a preclinical perspective. Thus, we have described several *in vivo* experimental approaches to evaluate the neuromodulatory consequences of different DBS protocols, applied to distinct pathological conditions, by means of translational and feasible techniques routinely applied in the clinical scenario. Therefore, the present thesis aims to provide new and original strategies to evaluate the *in vivo* DBS consequences and serve as baseline for future clinical and preclinical studies in the field.

References

- Aggleton JP, Pralus A, Nelson AJD, Hornberger M (2016) Thalamic pathology and memory loss in early Alzheimer's disease: Moving the focus from the medial temporal lobe to Papez circuit. Brain 139:1877–1890.
- Albasser MM, Poirier GL, Warburton EC, Aggleton JP (2007) Hippocampal lesions halve immediate-early gene protein counts in retrosplenial cortex: distal dysfunctions in a spatial memory system. European Journal of Neuroscience 26:1254–1266.
- Albaugh DL, Salzwedel A, van den Berge N, Gao W, Stuber GD, Shih YYI (2016) Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Electrical and Optogenetic Deep Brain Stimulation at the Rat Nucleus Accumbens. Scientific Reports 6:31613 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep31613.
- Aldehri M, Temel Y, Jahanshahi A, Hescham S (2019) Fornix deep brain stimulation induces reduction of hippocampal synaptophysin levels. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy 96:34–40.
- Arora S, Anubhuti (2006) Role of neuropeptides in appetite regulation and obesity--a review. Neuropeptides 40:375–401.
- Ashkan K, Rogers P, Bergman H, Ughratdar I (2017) Insights into the mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. Nature Reviews Neurology 13:548–554 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2017.105.
- Baldermann JC, Bohn KP, Hammes J, Schüller CB, Visser-Vandewalle V, Drzezga A, Kuhn J (2019) Local and global changes in brain metabolism during deep brain stimulation for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Brain Sciences 9.
- Beurrier C, Bioulac B, Audin J, Hammond C (2001) High-Frequency Stimulation Produces a Transient Blockade of Voltage-Gated Currents in Subthalamic Neurons. Available at: www.jn.physiology.org.
- Blaha CD (2016) Theories of Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms. In: Deep Brain Stimulation: Indictions and Applications (Lee KH, Duffy PS, Bieber AJ, eds), pp 314–338. Pan Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd.
- Boix-Trelis N, Vale-Martínez A, Guillazo-Blanch G, Martí-Nicolovius M (2009) Induction of c-Fos expression by electrical stimulation of the nucleus basalis magnocellularis. Neuroscience Letters 449:137–141.
- Bonfanti L, Nacher J (2012) New scenarios for neuronal structural plasticity in non-neurogenic brain parenchyma: the case of cortical layer II immature neurons. Progress in neurobiology 98:1–15.
- Bouret SG, Draper SJ, Simerly RB (2004) Formation of Projection Pathways from the Arcuate Nucleus of the Hypothalamus to Hypothalamic Regions Implicated in the Neural Control of Feeding Behavior in Mice. Journal of Neuroscience 24:2797–2805.
- Carron R, Chaillet A, Filipchuk A, Pasillas-Lépine W, Hammond C (2013) Closing the loop of deep brain stimulation. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience 7.

- Castillo-Gómez E, Varea E, Blasco-Ibáñez JM, Crespo C, Nacher J (2011) Polysialic acid is required for dopamine D2 receptor-mediated plasticity involving inhibitory circuits of the rat medial prefrontal cortex. PloS one 6:e29516.
- Chiken S, Nambu A (2014) Disrupting neuronal transmission: mechanism of DBS? Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience 8:1–9 Available at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00033/abstract.
- Chiken S, Nambu A (2015) Mechanism of Deep Brain Stimulation: Inhibition, Excitation, or Disruption? Neuroscientist 22:313–322.
- Cordner ZA, Tamashiro KLK (2015) Effects of high-fat diet exposure on learning & memory. Physiology and Behavior 152:363–371.
- Dang LC, Samanez-Larkin GR, Castrellon JJ, Perkins SF, Cowan RL, Zald DH (2016) Associations between dopamine D2 receptor availability and BMI depend on age. NeuroImage 138:176–183 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.05.044.
- Doherty GH, Beccano-Kelly D, Yan S du, Gunn-Moore FJ, Harvey J (2013) Leptin prevents hippocampal synaptic disruption and neuronal cell death induced by amyloid  $\beta$ . Neurobiology of Aging 34:226–237.
- Ebert U, Lehmann H (1996) Kindling induces a lasting, regionally selective increase of kynurenic acid in the nucleus accumbens.
- Elias MF, Elias PK, Sullivan LM, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB (2003) Lower cognitive function in the presence of obesity and hypertension: The Framingham heart study. International Journal of Obesity 27:260–268.
- Ewing SG, Grace A a (2013) Long-term high frequency deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens drives time-dependent changes in functional connectivity in the rodent limbic system. Brain stimulation 6:274–285.
- Farr OM, Li CSR, Mantzoros CS (2016) Central nervous system regulation of eating: Insights from human brain imaging. Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental 65:699–713.
- Fernández-Galaz MC, Fernández-Agulló T, Carrascosa JM, Ros M, Garcia-Segura LM (2010) Leptin accumulation in hypothalamic and dorsal raphe neurons is inversely correlated with brain serotonin content. Brain Research 1329:194–202 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.02.085.
- Franco RR, Fonoff ET, Alvarenga PG, Alho EJL, Lopes AC, Hoexter MQ, Batistuzzo MC, Paiva RR, Taub A, Shavitt RG, Miguel EC, Teixeira MJ, Damiani D, Hamani C (2018) Assessment of Safety and Outcome of Lateral Hypothalamic Deep Brain Stimulation for Obesity in a Small Series of Patients With Prader-Willi Syndrome. JAMA network open 1:e185275.
- Freund TF, Buzsaki G (1988) Alterations in excitatory and GABAergic inhibitory connections in hippocampal transplants.
- Fulton S, Woodside B, Shizgal P (2000) Modulation of Brain Reward Circuitry by Leptin. 287:125–128.

- Geiger BM, Haburcak M, Avena NM, Moyer MC, Hoebel BG, Pothos EN (2009) Deficits of mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission in rat dietary obesity. Neuroscience 159:1193– 1199 Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2677693&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract [Accessed February 6, 2014].
- Gómez-Climent MÁ, Guirado R, Castillo-Gómez E, Varea E, Gutierrez-Mecinas M, Gilabert-Juan J, García-Mompó C, Vidueira S, Sanchez-Mataredona D, Hernández S, Blasco-Ibáñez JM, Crespo C, Rutishauser U, Schachner M, Nacher J (2011) The polysialylated form of the neural cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM) is expressed in a subpopulation of mature cortical interneurons characterized by reduced structural features and connectivity. Cerebral Cortex 21:1028–1041.
- Gondard E, Chau HN, Mann A, Tierney TS, Hamani C, Kalia SK, Lozano AM (2015) Rapid Modulation of Protein Expression in the Rat Hippocampus Following Deep Brain Stimulation of the Fornix. Brain stimulation 8:1058–1064.
- Gondard E, Teves L, Wang L, McKinnon C, Hamani C, Kalia SK, Carlen PL, Tymianski M, Lozano AM (2019) Deep brain stimulation rescues memory and synaptic activity in a rat model of global ischemia. Journal of Neuroscience 39:2430–2440.
- Green E, Jacobson A, Haase L, Murphy C (2011) Reduced nucleus accumbens and caudate nucleus activation to a pleasant taste is associated with obesity in older adults. Brain Research 1386:109–117 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.02.071.
- Grillo C a, Piroli GG, Junor L, Wilson SP, Mott DD, Wilson M a, Reagan LP (2011) Obesity/hyperleptinemic phenotype impairs structural and functional plasticity in the rat hippocampus. Physiology & behavior 105:138–144.
- Halpern CH, Tekriwal A, Santollo J, Keating JG, Wolf JA, Daniels D, Bale TL (2013) Amelioration of Binge Eating by Nucleus Accumbens Shell Deep Brain Stimulation in Mice Involves D2 Receptor Modulation. Journal of Neuroscience 33:7122–7129.
- Halpern CH, Torres N, Hurtig HI, Wolf JA, Stephen J, Oh MY, Williams NN, Dichter MA, Jaggi JL, Caplan AL, Kampman KM, Wadden TA, Whiting DM, Baltuch GH (2011) Expanding applications of deep brain stimulation: A potential therapeutic role in obesity and addiction management. Acta Neurochirurgica 153:2293–2306.
- Halpern CH, Wolf J a, Bale TL, Stunkard AJ, Danish SF, Grossman M, Jaggi JL, Grady MS, Baltuch GH (2008) Deep brain stimulation in the treatment of obesity. Journal of neurosurgery 109:625–634 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18826348 [Accessed May 28, 2014].
- Hamani C, Amorim BO, Wheeler AL, Diwan M, Driesslein K, Covolan L, Butson CR, Nobrega JN (2014) Deep brain stimulation in rats: Different targets induce similar antidepressantlike effects but influence different circuits. Neurobiol Dis 71C:205–214.
- Hamani C, Diwan M, Macedo CE, Brandão ML, Shumake J, Gonzalez-Lima F, Raymond R, Lozano AM, Fletcher PJ, Nobrega JN (2010) Antidepressant-Like Effects of Medial Prefrontal Cortex Deep Brain Stimulation in Rats. Biological Psychiatry 67:117–124.
- Hamani C, Nobrega JN (2012) Preclinical studies modeling deep brain stimulation for depression. Biological Psychiatry 72:916–923.

- Hamani C, Schwalb JM, Rezai AR, Dostrovsky JO, Davis KD, Lozano AM (2006) Deep brain stimulation for chronic neuropathic pain: Long-term outcome and the incidence of insertional effect. Pain2 125:188–196.
- Hammond C, Ammari R, Bioulac B, Garcia L (2008) Latest view on the mechanism of action of deep brain stimulation. Movement Disorders 23:2111–2121.
- Huguet G, Aldavert-Vera L, Kádár E, Peña de Ortiz S, Morgado-Bernal I, Segura-Torres P (2009) Intracranial self-stimulation to the lateral hypothalamus, a memory improving treatment, results in hippocampal changes in gene expression. Neuroscience 162:359–374.
- Ishii K (2014) Pet approaches for diagnosis of dementia. American Journal of Neuroradiology 35:2030–2038.
- Jech R, Mueller K, Urgošík D, Sieger T, Holiga Š, Růžička F, Dušek P, Havránková P, Vymazal J, Růžička E (2012) The Subthalamic Microlesion Story in Parkinson's Disease: Electrode Insertion-Related Motor Improvement with Relative Cortico-Subcortical Hypoactivation in fMRI. PLoS ONE 7.
- Knight EJ, Min HK, Hwang SC, Marsh MP, Paek S, Kim I, Felmlee JP, Abulseoud OA, Bennet KE, Frye MA, Lee KH (2013) Nucleus Accumbens Deep Brain Stimulation Results in Insula and Prefrontal Activation: A Large Animal fMRI Study. PLoS ONE 8:e56640.
- Krishna V, King NKK, Sammartino F, Strauss I, Andrade DM, Wennberg RA, Lozano AM (2016) Anterior Nucleus Deep Brain Stimulation for Refractory Epilepsy. Neurosurgery 78:802– 811 Available at: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00006123 -201606000-00015 [Accessed July 14, 2016].
- Kuhn J, Gaebel W, Klosterkoetter J, Woopen C (2009) Deep brain stimulation as a new therapeutic approach in therapy-resistant mental disorders: ethical aspects of investigational treatment. European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience 259 Suppl:S135-41 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19876671 [Accessed June 17, 2014].
- Kuhn J, Gründler TOJ, Lenartz D, Sturm V, Klosterkötter J, Huff W (2010) Deep brain stimulation for psychiatric disorders. Deutsches Ärzteblatt international 107:105–113 Available http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2835924&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract [Accessed March 5, 2014].
- LeGates TA, Kvarta MD, Tooley JR, Francis TC, Lobo MK, Creed MC, Thompson SM (2018) Reward behaviour is regulated by the strength of hippocampus–nucleus accumbens synapses. Nature 564:258–262.
- Lehmkuhle MJ, Mayes SM, Kipke DR (2010) Unilateral neuromodulation of the ventromedial hypothalamus of the rat through deep brain stimulation. Journal of Neural Engineering 7.
- Lehrer DS, Christian BT, Mantil J, Murray AC, Bradley Buchsbaum BR, Oakes TR, Byne W, Kemether EM, Buchsbaum MS (2005) Thalamic and Prefrontal FDG Uptake in Never Medicated Patients With Schizophrenia. Available at: http://ajp.psychiatryonline.org.

- Leinninger GM, Jo Y, Leshan RL, Louis GW, Yang H, Barrera JG, Wilson H, Opland DM, Faouzi MA, Gong Y, Jones JC, Rhodes CJ, Jr SC, Horvath TL, Seeley RJ, Becker JB, Münzberg H, Myers Jr MG (2009) Leptin acts via leptin receptor-expressing lateral hypothalamic neurons to modulate the mesolimbic dopamine system and suppress feeding. Cell Metabolism 10:89–98.
- Leranth C, Nitsch R (1994) Morphological Evidence That Hypothalamic Substance P Afferents Are Capable of Filtering the Signal Flow in the Hippocampal Formation I-containing Monkey. The Journal of Neuroscience 14:4079–4094.
- Lipsman N, Lozano AM (2015) Deep Brain Stimulation for Psychiatric Disorders. In: Deep Brain Stimulation for Neurological Disorders Theoretical Background and Clinical Application, 1st ed. (Itakura T, ed), pp 169–181. Springer, Cham.
- Mayford M, Siegelbaum SA, Kandel ER (2012) Synapses and memory storage. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 4:1–18.
- McIntyre CC, Anderson RW (2016) Deep Brain Stimulation Mechanisms: The Control of Network Activity via Neurochemistry Modulation. Journal of neurochemistry 139:338–345 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5358920/.
- McIntyre CC, Hahn PJ (2010) Network perspectives on the mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. Neurobiology of disease 38:329–337 Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2862840&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract [Accessed May 26, 2014].
- Mcintyre CC, Savasta M, Walter BL, Vitek JL (2004) How Does Deep Brain Stimulation Work? Present Understanding and Future Questions.
- Melega WP, Lacan G, Gorgulho AA, Behnke EJ, de Salles AAF (2012) Hypothalamic deep brain stimulation reduces weight gain in an obesity-animal model. PLoS ONE 7.
- Miller AMP, Vedder LC, Law LM, Smith DM (2014) Cues , context , and long-term memory : the role of the retrosplenial cortex in spatial cognition. Frontiers in human neuroscience 8.
- Millet B et al. (2014) Limbic versus cognitive target for deep brain stimulation in treatmentresistant depression: Accumbens more promising than caudate. European Neuropsychopharmacology 24:1229–1239.
- Mitchell AS, Chakraborty S (2013) What does the mediodorsal thalamus do? Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience.
- Mueller K, Sacher J, Arelin K, Holiga Š, Kratzsch J, Villringer A, Schroeter ML (2012) Overweight and obesity are associated with neuronal injury in the human cerebellum and hippocampus in young adults: A combined MRI, serum marker and gene expression study. Translational Psychiatry 2:1–7.
- Nam SM, Kim JW, Kwon HJ, Yoo DY, Jung HY, Kim DW, Hwang IK, Seong JK, Yoon YS (2017) Differential Effects of Low- and High-dose Zinc Supplementation on Synaptic Plasticity and Neurogenesis in the Hippocampus of Control and High-fat Diet-fed Mice. Neurochemical Research 42:3149–3159.

- Nummenmaa L, Hirvonen J, Hannukainen JC, Immonen H, Lindroos MM, Salminen P, Nuutila P (2012) Dorsal striatum and its limbic connectivity mediate abnormal anticipatory reward processing in obesity. PLoS ONE 7.
- Ooms P, Blankers M, Figee M, Mantione M, van den Munckhof P, Schuurman PR, Denys D (2014) Rebound of affective symptoms following acute cessation of deep brain stimulation in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Brain Stimulation 7:727–731.
- Page KC, Jones EK, Anday EK (2014) Maternal and postweaning high-fat diets disturb hippocampal gene expression, learning, and memory function. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 306:527–537 Available at: http://www.ajpregu.org.
- Perez SM, Lodge DJ (2018) Convergent inputs from the hippocampus and thalamus to the nucleus accumbens regulate dopamine neuron activity. Journal of Neuroscience 38:10607–10618.
- Perez-Caballero L, Pérez-Egea R, Romero-Grimaldi C, Puigdemont D, Molet J, Caso J-R, Mico J-A, Pérez V, Leza J-C, Berrocoso E (2014) Early responses to deep brain stimulation in depression are modulated by anti-inflammatory drugs. Molecular Psychiatry 19:607–614.
- Perez-Caballero L, Soto-Montenegro ML, Hidalgo-Figueroa M, Mico JA, Desco M, Berrocoso E (2018) Deep brain stimulation electrode insertion and depression: Patterns of activity and modulation by analgesics. Brain Stimulation 11:1348–1355.
- Perry ML, Leinninger GM, Chen R, Luderman KD, Yang H, Gnegy ME, Myers MG, Kennedy RT (2010) Leptin promotes dopamine transporter and tyrosine hydroxylase activity in the nucleus accumbens of Sprague-Dawley rats. Journal of Neurochemistry 114:666–674.
- Pessoa L, Hof PR (2015) From Paul Broca's great limbic lobe to the limbic system. Journal of Comparative Neurology 523:2495–2500.
- Pourfar M, Tang C, Lin T, Dhawan V, Kaplitt MG, Eidelberg D (2009) Assessing the microlesion effect of subthalamic deep brain stimulation surgery with FDG PET. Journal of Neurosurgery 110:1278–1282 Available at: http://thejns.org/doi/10.3171/2008.12.JNS08991.
- Pugh J (2019) No going back? Reversibility and why it matters for deep brain stimulation. Journal of Medical Ethics 45:225–230.
- Rada P, Bocarsly ME, Barson JR, Hoebel BG, Leibowitz SF (2010) Reduced accumbens dopamine in Sprague-Dawley rats prone to overeating a fat-rich diet. Physiology & behavior 101:394–400.
- Rothemund Y, Preuschhof C, Bohner G, Bauknecht HC, Klingebiel R, Flor H, Klapp BF (2007) Differential activation of the dorsal striatum by high-calorie visual food stimuli in obese individuals. NeuroImage 37:410–421.
- Ruge D, Cif L, Limousin P, Gonzalez V, Vasques X, Hariz MI, Coubes P, Rothwell JC (2011) Shaping reversibility? Long-term deep brain stimulation in dystonia: the relationship between effects on electrophysiology and clinical symptoms. Brain 134:2106–2115.
- Sani S, Jobe K, Smith A, Kordower JH, Bakay R a E (2007) Deep brain stimulation for treatment of obesity in rats. Journal of neurosurgery 107:809–813 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17937228.

- Schmuckermair C, Gaburro S, Sah A, Landgraf R, Sartori SB, Singewald N (2013) Behavioral and Neurobiological Effects of Deep Brain Stimulation in a Mouse Model of High Anxietyand Depression-Like Behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:1234–1244 Available at: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/npp.2013.21.
- Sekar S, Verhoye M, van Audekerke J, Vanhoutte G, Lowe AS, Blamire AM, Steckler T, van der Linden A, Shoaib M (2011) Neuroadaptive responses to citalopram in rats using pharmacological magnetic resonance imaging. Psychopharmacology 213:521–531.
- Shiozawa P, Gomes JS, Ducos DV, Akiba HT, Dias ÁM, Trevizol AP, Uchida RR, Orlov N, Cordeiro Q (2016) Efeito da estimulação transcraniana por corrente contínua (ETCC) sobre o córtex pré-frontal combinada a treinamento cognitivo para o tratamento da esquizofrenia: Ensaio clínico randomizado simulação controlado. Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy 38:175–177.
- Small SA, Schobel SA, Buxton RB, Witter MP, Barnes CA (2011) A pathophysiological framework of hippocampal dysfunction in ageing and disease. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 12:585–601 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/nrn3085.
- Soto-Montenegro ML, Pascau J, Desco M (2014) Response to Deep Brain Stimulation in the Lateral Hypothalamic Area in a Rat Model of Obesity: In Vivo Assessment of Brain Glucose Metabolism. Molecular Imaging and Biology:830–837.
- Stephan KE (2017) Multiple comparison correction Methods & models for fMRI data analysis. Available at: https://www.tnu.ethz.ch/fileadmin/user\_upload/teaching/Methods\_Models2017/05b\_MultipleComparisonCorrection\_4Web.pdf [Accessed September 11, 2020].
- Stice E, Spoor S, Ng J, Zald DH (2009) Relation of obesity to consummatory and anticipatory food reward. Physiology and Behavior 97:551–560.
- Stice E, Yokum S, Burger KS, Epstein LH, Small DM (2011) Youth at Risk for Obesity Show Greater Activation of Striatal and Somatosensory Regions to Food. 31:4360–4366.
- Taghva A, Corrigan JD, Rezai AR (2012) Obesity and brain addiction circuitry: Implications for deep brain stimulation. Neurosurgery 71:224–238.
- Thanos PK, Michaelides M, Gispert J-D, Pascau J, Soto-Montenegro ML, Desco M, Wang R, Wang G-J, Volkow ND (2008) Differences in response to food stimuli in a rat model of obesity: in-vivo assessment of brain glucose metabolism. International journal of obesity (2005) 32:1171–1179 Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2667112&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract [Accessed June 20, 2014].
- Torres N, Chabardes S, Piallat B, Devergnas A, Benabid AL (2012) Body fat and body weight reduction following hypothalamic deep brain stimulation in monkeys: An intraventricular approach. International Journal of Obesity 36:1537–1544.
- U'ylings HBM, van Eden CG, de Bruin JPC, Feenstra MGP, Pennartz CMA, Saper CB (2000) Hypothalamic connections with the cerebral cortex.
- Val-Laillet D, Aarts E, Weber B, Ferrari M, Quaresima V, Stoeckel LE, Alonso-Alonso M, Audette M, Malbert CH, Stice E (2015) Neuroimaging and neuromodulation approaches

to study eating behavior and prevent and treat eating disorders and obesity. NeuroImage: Clinical 8:1–31 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2015.03.016.

- van den Berge N, Keereman V, Vanhove C, van Nieuwenhuyse B, van Mierlo P, Raedt R, Vonck K, Boon P, van Holen R (2015) Hippocampal Deep Brain Stimulation Reduces Glucose Utilization in the Healthy Rat Brain. Molecular Imaging and Biology 17:373–383.
- van der Plasse G, Schrama R, van Seters SP, Vanderschuren LJMJ, Westenberg HGM (2012) Deep brain stimulation reveals a dissociation of consummatory and motivated behaviour in the medial and lateral nucleus accumbens shell of the rat. PLoS ONE 7.
- van Doorn C, Macht VA, Grillo CA, Reagan LP (2017) Leptin resistance and hippocampal behavioral deficits. Physiology and Behavior 176:207–213.
- van Swieten MMH, Pandit R, Adan RAH, van der Plasse G (2014) The neuroanatomical function of leptin in the hypothalamus. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy 61:207–220 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2014.05.004.
- van Zessen R, van der Plasse G, Adan RAH (2012) Contribution of the mesolimbic dopamine system in mediating the effects of leptin and ghrelin on feeding. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 71:435–445.
- Vann SD, Aggleton JP, Maguire EA (2009) What does the retrosplenial cortex do? Nature Reviews Neuroscience 10:792–802.
- Vlasov K, van Dort CJ, Solt K (2018) Optogenetics and Chemogenetics. In: Methods in Enzymology, pp 181–196. Academic Press Inc.
- Wallner-Liebmann S, Koschutnig K, Reishofer G, Sorantin E, Blaschitz B, Kruschitz R, Unterrainer HF, Gasser R, Freytag F, Bauer-Denk C, Mangge H (2010) Insulin and hippocampus activation in response to images of high-calorie food in normal weight and obese adolescents. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md) 18:1552–1557 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/oby.2010.26.
- Wang B, Chandrasekera PC, Pippin JJ (2014) Leptin- and Leptin Receptor-Deficient Rodent Models: Relevance for Human Type 2 Diabetes. Current Diabetes Reviews 10:131–145.
- Wang G, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, Zhu W, Netusil N (2001) Brain dopamine and obesity. 357:354–357.
- Wang L, Kaczmarek L (1998) High-frequency firing helps replenish the readily releasable pool of synaptic vesicles. Nature 394:384–388.
- Whiting AC, Sutton EF, Walker CT, Godzik J, Catapano JS, Oh MY, Tomycz ND, Ravussin E, Whiting DM (2019) Deep Brain Stimulation of the Hypothalamus Leads to Increased Metabolic Rate in Refractory Obesity. World Neurosurgery 121:e867–e874 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2018.10.002.
- Whiting DM, Tomycz ND, Bailes J, de Jonge L, Lecoultre V, Wilent B, Alcindor D, Prostko ER, Cheng BC, Angle C, Cantella D, Whiting BB, Mizes JS, Finnis KW, Ravussin E, Oh MY (2013) Lateral hypothalamic area deep brain stimulation for refractory obesity: a pilot study with preliminary data on safety, body weight, and energy metabolism. Journal of Neurosurgery 119:56–63.

- Winocur G, Greenwood CE, Piroli GG, Grillo CA, Reznikov LR, Reagan LP, McEwen BS (2005) Memory impairment in obese Zucker rats: Aninvestigation of cognitive function in an animalmodel of insulin resistance and obesity. Behavioral Neuroscience 119:1389–1395.
- Zhang C, Wei N-L, Wang Y, Wang X, Zhang J-G, Zhang K (2015) Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens shell induces anti-obesity effects in obese rats with alteration of dopamine neurotransmission. Neuroscience letters 589C:1–6.
- Zucker RS, Regehr WG (2002) Short-term synaptic plasticity. Annual Review of Physiology 64:355–405.

## 8.2. Conclusions

The main contribution of this thesis is to describe the neuromodulation consequences of different DBS approaches on brain metabolism, by means of preclinical PET studies with [<sup>18</sup>F]FDG, in healthy rats and in two animal models of obesity. Furthermore, special emphasis was placed on addressing hypotheses that sequentially incorporate different aspects of the DBS treatment.

The specific conclusions derived from the studies included in this thesis are:

- 1. Regarding the differential metabolic consequences of the electrode insertion and the acute stimulation in the mPFC:
  - 1.1. The mere electrode insertion induced a metabolic reduction in sensory areas connected to the targeted region.
  - 1.2. The mPFC-DBS resulted in a distinct brain metabolic pattern than the electrode insertion, with more brain areas affected, including circuits in which the mPFC plays a key role, such as limbic and reward systems.
  - 1.3. The simultaneous consequences of the electrodes and the stimulation revealed lower cortical activation compared to the stimulation alone, showing a compensation of the cortical hypometabolism derived from the presence of the electrodes.
- 2. Regarding the DBS response in three brain targets (i.e. mPFC, NAcc and DM) with implications in mental disorders:
  - 2.1. The effects of high-frequency DBS on neuronal activity involve modifications of complex networks rather than global or isolated regions.
  - 2.2. DBS induces several mechanisms that lead to net inhibitory and excitatory effects irrespective of the function, suggesting a complex modulation of activity along cortico-basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical and the cerebello-thalamo-cortical circuits.
  - 2.3. DBS in each brain target influenced a different set of structures at a distance from the target despite sharing interconnections with the same circuitry. This might be relevant for addressing specific pathophysiological conditions, suggesting the need for individualizing the target selection according to the specific neural modulatory requirements of the patients.
- 3. Regarding the effects of fifteen days of intermittent NAcc-DBS protocol in a genetic animal model of obesity:
  - 3.1. NAcc-DBS modulates glucose metabolism in neuronal networks related to reward and memory systems, which are indeed functionally impaired in obesity.
  - 3.2. NAcc-DBS does not induce neither a significantly lower weight gain nor decreases in food intake in this animal model, probably due to not being able to counteract the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying this obesity condition.
- Regarding the long-term effects after 15-days of intermittent LH-DBS or NAcc-DBS in a genetic model of obesity:
  - 4.1. The magnitude of the long-term persistence of the DBS brain metabolic modulation depends on the brain target (LH or NAcc), even despite belonging to the same neural circuit and in the same disease.
  - 4.2. The NAcc-DBS results supported the well-known reversibility related to DBS, only obtaining changes in brain metabolism in those structures modulated by the electrode presence, although an increase in hippocampal neural plasticity due to NAcc-DBS was found.
  - 4.3. Scarce changes in brain metabolism were obtained one month after LH-DBS withdrawal, suggesting a preservation of the stimulation effects, also supported by the reduction in neural plasticity molecules in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex.
- Regarding the short and long-term effects after 15 days of continuous LH-DBS in two animal models of obesity (genetic and diet induced models).
  - 5.1. In the high-fat diet model, LH-DBS does not affect food intake, weight gain, learning-memory abilities or hippocampal synaptic plasticity, while it reduces the metabolism in the hippocampus and striatum.
  - 5.2. In the genetic model, LH-DBS does not elicit any changes in food intake or weight gain, while it increases the metabolism and the synaptogenic activity in the hippocampus. However, LH-DBS could not recover the hippocampal-dependent memory deficits of this model.
  - 5.3. The electrodes presence induces a weight gain slowdown in the sham group of the high-fat diet model while, in the genetic model, it produces a long-term improvement in learning-memory abilities.